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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended February 28, 2010

¨ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from              to             

Commission File Number: 000-21574

DYNACQ HEALTHCARE, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Nevada 76-0375477
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

10304 Interstate 10 East, Suite 369

Houston, Texas 77029
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(713) 378-2000

(Registrant�s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or
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for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).    Yes  ¨    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. (Check One):

Large accelerated filer  ¨    Accelerated filer  ¨    Non-accelerated filer  ¨    Smaller reporting company  x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes  ¨    No  x

As of April 6, 2010, the number of shares outstanding of the registrant�s common stock, par value $.001 per share, was 14,207,115.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To: The Stockholders and Board of Directors
Dynacq Healthcare, Inc.

Houston, Texas

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Dynacq Healthcare, Inc., as of February 28, 2010, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for the three-month and six-month periods ended February 28, 2010 and 2009. These
interim financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management.

We conducted our reviews in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of
interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and
accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole.
Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying consolidated interim financial
statements for them to be in conformity with United States of America generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheet of Dynacq Healthcare, Inc., as of August 31, 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders� equity, and cash flows for the year then ended not presented herein, and in our report dated November 23, 2009, we expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet as of August 31, 2009, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been
derived.

/s/ Killman, Murrell & Company, P.C.

Killman, Murrell & Company, P.C.

Houston, Texas

April 14, 2010
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PART I-FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.
Dynacq Healthcare, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

February 28, 2010 August 31, 2009
(Reviewed) (Audited)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,617,182 $ 39,112,965
Accounts receivable, net of contractual allowances of approximately $245,095,000 and $236,996,000
at February 28, 2010 and August 31, 2009, respectively 4,912,583 8,671,389
Inventories 1,495,515 1,518,815
Interest receivable 259,221 270,374
Prepaid expenses 746,629 373,949
Income taxes receivable 2,447,151 �  
Deferred tax assets 592,932 770,400

Total current assets 42,071,213 50,717,892
Investments available-for-sale 21,010,833 18,572,169
Property and equipment, net 14,662,659 14,858,207
Income tax receivable 868,249 868,249
Other assets 247,099 250,664

Total assets $ 78,860,053 $ 85,267,181

See accompanying notes.
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Dynacq Healthcare, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets (continued)

February 28, 2010 August 31, 2009
(Reviewed) (Audited)

Liabilities and stockholders� equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 3,349,111 $ 3,395,053
Accrued liabilities 5,340,081 6,244,978
Notes payable �  251,131
Current portion of capital lease obligations 75,570 80,627
Current taxes payable 83,000 128,420

Total current liabilities 8,847,762 10,100,209
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations 298,289 335,582
Deferred tax liabilities 3,562,889 2,751,619

Total liabilities 12,708,940 13,187,410

Commitments and contingencies
Equity:
Dynacq stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued or outstanding �  �  
Common stock, $.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 15,395,802 and 15,815,120
shares issued at February 28, 2010 and August 31, 2009, respectively 15,396 15,815
Treasury stock, 1,175,138 and 489,672 shares at February 28, 2010 and August 31, 2009,
respectively, at cost (3,801,470) (2,429,465) 
Additional paid-in capital 12,815,029 14,800,062
Accumulated other comprehensive income 7,954,797 6,297,908
Retained earnings 48,980,123 53,151,206

Total Dynacq stockholders� equity 65,963,875 71,835,526

Non-controlling interest 187,238 244,245

Total equity 66,151,113 72,079,771

Total liabilities and equity $ 78,860,053 $ 85,267,181

See accompanying notes.
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Dynacq Healthcare, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Reviewed)

Three months ended February 28, Six months ended February 28,
2010 2009 2010 2009

Net patient service revenue $ 6,189,394 $ 12,787,320 $ 15,174,005 $ 23,666,558

Costs and expenses:
Compensation and benefits 4,027,753 3,902,678 8,109,660 7,584,218
Medical services and supplies 2,312,647 2,971,716 5,032,150 6,261,536
Other operating expenses 4,219,851 5,242,342 8,903,661 9,877,888
Depreciation and amortization 264,616 383,007 530,595 777,231

Total costs and expenses 10,824,867 12,499,743 22,576,066 24,500,873

Operating income (loss) (4,635,473) 287,577 (7,402,061) (834,315) 

Other income (expense):
Rent and other income (expense) (113,452) 34,855 236,166 106,533
Interest income 411,686 314,527 866,581 470,368
Interest expense (9,482) (20,661) (20,875) (31,658) 

Total other income, net 288,752 328,721 1,081,872 545,243

Income (loss) before income taxes (4,346,721) 616,298 (6,320,189) (289,072) 
Benefit (provision) for income taxes 1,437,703 (325,866) 2,059,599 (64,402) 

Net income (loss) (2,909,018) 290,432 (4,260,590) (353,474) 
Less: Net (income) loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest 70,038 (23) 89,507 1,331

Net income (loss) attributable to Dynacq Healthcare, Inc. $ (2,838,980) $ 290,409 $ (4,171,083) $ (352,143) 

Basic income (loss) per common share:
Net income (loss) attributable to Dynacq Healthcare, Inc. stockholders $ (0.19) $ 0.02 $ (0.28) $ (0.02) 

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
Net income (loss) attributable to Dynacq Healthcare, Inc. stockholders $ (0.19) $ 0.02 $ (0.28) $ (0.02) 

Basic average common shares outstanding 14,725,039 15,546,516 14,964,060 15,550,465

Diluted average common shares outstanding 14,725,039 15,546,516 14,964,060 15,550,465

See accompanying notes.
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Dynacq Healthcare, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Reviewed)

Six months ended February 28,
2010 2009

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (4,171,083) $ (352,143) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 530,595 777,231
Deferred income taxes 96,567 29,923
Noncontrolling interest (89,507) (1,331) 
Charge for stock options to employees 225,758 243,511
Foreign currency exchange loss 127,516 �  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 3,811,599 8,627,028
Interest receivable 11,153 �  
Inventories 23,375 (14,251) 
Prepaid expenses (372,679) 117,226
Income taxes receivable (2,438,151) (2,915,249) 
Other assets 5,249 (60,996) 
Accounts payable (46,195) (103,606) 
Accrued liabilities (927,147) (1,900,281) 
Income taxes payable (45,420) (4,193,216) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (3,258,370) 253,846

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of equipment (389,193) (180,678) 
Purchase of management rights �  (2,628,198) 
Investment in available-for-sale securities �  (3,906,000) 

Net cash used in investing activities (389,193) (6,714,876) 

Cash flows from financing activities
Principal payments on notes payable (175,561) (236,541) 
Contributions from, and distributions to, noncontrolling interest, net 32,500 �  
Payments on capital lease (117,791) (5,023) 
Purchase of treasury shares (3,681,903) (69,377) 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 89,688 �  

Net cash used in financing activities (3,853,067) (310,941) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 4,847 (5,199) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (7,495,783) (6,777,170) 
Cash at beginning of period 39,112,965 45,099,800

Cash at end of period $ 31,617,182 $ 38,322,630
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Dynacq Healthcare, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)

Six months ended February 28,
2010 2009

Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest $ 20,875 $ 27,837

Income taxes $ 327,405 $ 7,142,944

Non cash investing and financing activities:
Increase (decrease) in value of investment in bonds $ 2,566,180 $ (1,318,602) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (1,674,009) 1,318,602
Deferred tax liabilities (892,171) �  
Common stock (455) �  
Additional paid-in capital (2,309,443) �  
Treasury stock 2,309,898 �  
Accounts receivable 52,622 �  
Property and equipment (52,622) �  
Equipment from capital lease �  (435,498) 
Capital lease obligation �  435,498

See accompanying notes.
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Dynacq Healthcare, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

February 28, 2010

(Reviewed)

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying reviewed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all
of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete consolidated financial statements. In the
opinion of management, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. All such adjustments are of a normal
and recurring nature. The majority of the Company�s expenses are �cost of revenue� items. Costs that could be classified as general and
administrative by the Company would include the corporate office costs, including advertising and marketing expenses, which were
approximately $2.4 million and $3.0 million for the quarters ended February 28, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and $5.5 million and $5.7 million
for the six months ended February 28, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These reviewed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the
audited financial statements at August 31, 2009. Operating results for the quarter ended February 28, 2010 are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected for the year ending August 31, 2010.

Certain previously reported financial information has been reclassified to conform to the current year period�s presentation. The impact of such
reclassification was not significant to the prior year period�s overall presentation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less on the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

Investments Available-for-Sale

The Company has invested in various bonds. These investments are classified as available-for-sale securities, and are carried at fair value as of
February 28, 2010, based on the quoted market prices as of that date. These investments are subject to default risk. The Company intends to hold
these for a minimum period of an additional 12 months. Unrealized gains in the fair value are reported in accumulated other comprehensive
income, net of related income tax effect. The Company monitors its investment portfolio for any decline in fair value that is other than
temporary and records any such impairment as an impairment loss.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of medical supplies, are stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined by use of the average cost
method.

General

As of February 28, 2010, the Company operated one facility each in the Houston metropolitan area (Pasadena facility) and in the Dallas-Fort
Worth area (Garland facility) and owned 100% of the equity interest in Dynacq Huai Bei Healthcare, Inc. (�Dynacq-Huai Bei�), a corporation
formed under the laws of the People�s Republic of China to provide healthcare management services in that country. On March 1, 2009,
Dynacq-Huai Bei began managing Second People�s Hospital in Rui An, China, and included operating results since November 25, 2008.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The most
significant of the Company�s estimates is the determination of revenue to recognize for the services the Company provides and the determination
of the contractual allowance. See �Revenue Recognition� below for further discussion. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates
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Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events that have occurred through April 14, 2010, which is the date of issuance of these financial
statements, and has accounted for and disclosed material subsequent events in these condensed consolidated financial statements as appropriate.

Net Income (Loss) per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding with the number of shares used in the
computations of net income (loss) per common and common equivalent share:

Three months ended February 28, Six months ended February 28,
2010 2009 2010 2009

Number of weighted average common shares outstanding 14,725,039 15,546,516 14,964,060 15,550,465
Assumed exercise of stock options �  �  �  �  

Average diluted shares outstanding 14,725,039 15,546,516 14,964,060 15,550,465

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common shareholders by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding for the reporting period. Diluted net income (loss) per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if
securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock. For the calculation of diluted net income
(loss) per share, the basic weighted average number of shares is increased by the dilutive effect of stock options determined using the treasury
stock method. However, if it is anti-dilutive, the dilutive effect of the stock options is not included in the calculation of diluted net income (loss)
per share. Stock options with exercise prices exceeding current market prices that were excluded from the computation of net income (loss) per
share amounted to approximately 572,000 shares and 601,000 shares for the quarters ended February 28, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Stock Based Compensation

The Company�s 2000 Incentive Plan (the �Plan�) provides for options and other stock-based awards that may be granted to eligible employees,
officers, consultants and non-employee directors of the Company or its subsidiaries. The Company had reserved 5,000,000 shares of common
stock for future issuance under the Plan. As of February 28, 2010, there remain 1,424,654 shares which can be issued under the Plan, after giving
effect to stock splits and shares issued under the Plan. The Plan permits stock awards, stock appreciation rights, performance units, and other
stock-based awards, all of which may or may not be subject to the achievement of one or more performance objectives.

The purposes of the Plan generally are to retain and attract persons of training, experience and ability to serve as employees of the Company and
its subsidiaries and to serve as non-employee directors of the Company, to encourage the sense of proprietorship of such persons and to
stimulate the active interest of such persons in the development and financial success of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the �Committee�). The Committee has the power to
determine which eligible employees will receive awards, the timing and manner of the grant of such awards, the exercise price of stock options
(which may not be less than market value on the date of grant), the number of shares, and all of the terms of the awards. The Company may at
any time amend or terminate the Plan. However, no amendment that would impair the rights of any participant with respect to outstanding grants
can be made without the participant�s prior consent. Stockholder approval of an amendment to the Plan is necessary only when required by
applicable law or stock exchange rules.

10
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For the quarter ended February 28, 2010, there were no equity-based compensation awards granted. Generally, options granted become
exercisable in annual installments of 25 percent beginning on the first anniversary date, and expire after five to ten years. The following table
summarizes the stock option activities for the six months ended February 28, 2010 (share amounts in thousands):

Shares

Weighted

Average

Option

Exercise

Price Per
Share

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Fair

Value  Per
Share

Aggregate

Intrinsic
Value(1)

Outstanding, August 31, 2009 1,376 $ 3.47 �  $ 713,300
Granted �  �  �  �  
Exercised (36) 2.50 �  57,259
Expired or canceled (18) 2.90 �  �  

Outstanding, February 28, 2010 1,322 $ 3.50 �  $ 335,780

(1) These amounts represent the difference between the exercise price and $2.98, the closing price of Dynacq common stock on February 28,
2010 as reported on the NASDAQ stock market, for all in-the-money options outstanding. For exercised options, intrinsic value represents
the difference between the exercise price and the closing price of Dynacq common stock on the date of exercise.

For the six months ended February 28, 2010 and 2009, the Company received $89,688 and $-0-, respectively, for stock options exercised. Total
tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from stock options exercised was $9,000 and $-0- for the six months ended February 28, 2010 and
2009, respectively.

The following summarizes information related to stock options outstanding at February 28, 2010, and related weighted average price and life
information:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices Shares

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

(Share Amounts In Thousands)
$ 2.50 � 2.75 751 3.3 $ 2.53 338 $ 2.54
$ 4.44 � 5.10 571 3.3 4.78 496 4.73

Total 1,322 3.3 $ 3.50 834 $ 3.84

The above tables for stock option activities and stock options outstanding does not include a performance share award granted on July 25, 2008
by the Compensation Committee to an employee whereby the employee can earn up to 1 million shares of the Company�s common stock if
certain operating performance criteria are met, beginning in fiscal 2010. The number of shares that are issuable each year is to be determined by
quantifying the performance criteria and dividing the quantified amount by $3.74, which was the market price of the Company�s stock on the date
of grant of the award. The performance period extends for ten years or until such time as the 1 million shares of common stock have been
awarded.

Additional information relating to the Plan at February 28, 2010 and August 31, 2009 is as follows (in thousands):
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February 28, 2010 August 31, 2009
Options exercisable 834 881
Options available for grant and reserved common stock shares for stock option plans 1,425 1,407
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For the three and six month periods ended February 28, 2010, stock-based compensation expense associated with the Company�s stock options
was $112,879 and $225,758, respectively. The total unrecognized compensation expense for outstanding stock options as of February 28, 2010
was $670,000, and will be recognized, in general, over 1.6 years. The weighted average number of years to recognize the compensation expense
is 0.9 year.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

On September 1, 2008, the Company adopted ASC Topic 825-10-25, �Financial Instruments� (formerly referred to as SFAS No. 159, The Fair
Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities (�SFAS 159�)), which permits entities to choose to measure certain financial assets and liabilities
at fair value. The adoption of ASC Topic 825-10-25 had no impact on the consolidated financial statements because the Company did not elect
the fair value option for any financial assets or financial liabilities that were not already recorded at fair value.

On September 1, 2008, the Company adopted ASC Topic 820, �Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures� (formerly referred to as SFAS 157) for
our financial assets and liabilities. Management uses the fair value hierarchy of ASC Topic 820, which gives the highest priority to quoted prices
in active markets. The fair value of financial instruments is estimated based on market trading information, where available. Absent published
market values for an instrument or other assets, management uses observable market data to arrive at its estimates of fair value. Management
believes that the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value. ASC Topic
820 defines fair value as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined
based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, ASC Topic
820 establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The three levels of inputs used to measure
fair value are as follows:

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets; quoted price for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other input that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable
inputs.

The following table summarizes our financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of February 28, 2010,
segregated among the appropriate levels within the fair value hierarchy:

Fair Value Measurements at February 28, 2010
Quoted prices in active
markets for identical

Significant other
observable inputs

Significant
unobservable

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets
Investments available-for-sale �  $ 21,010,833 �  
All of the Company�s investments in securities are in perpetual bonds traded on the European markets. The cost of these securities is $9,135,146.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company as a whole is the U.S. Dollar. The Company has designated the Chinese Yuan Renminbi as the
functional currency for its subsidiaries in mainland China, and the U.S. Dollar for Sino Bond Inc. Limited in Hong Kong. Assets and liabilities
are translated into U.S. dollars using current exchange rates as of the balance sheet date. Income and expense are translated at average exchange
rates prevailing during the period. The effects of foreign currency translation adjustments are included as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income within stockholders� equity.
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Revenue Recognition

U.S. Division

Background

The Company�s revenue recognition policy is significant because net patient service revenue is a primary component of its results of operations.
Revenue is recognized as services are delivered. The determination of the amount of revenue to be recognized in connection with the Company�s
services is subject to significant judgments and estimates, which are discussed below.

Revenue Recognition Policy

The Company has established billing rates for its medical services which it bills as gross revenue as services are delivered. Gross billed revenues
are then reduced by the Company�s estimate of the discount (contractual allowance) to arrive at net patient service revenues. Net patient service
revenues may not represent amounts ultimately collected. The Company does adjust current period revenue for actual differences in estimated
revenue recorded in prior periods and actual cash collections.

Contractual Allowance

Starting March 1, 2008, the Company computes its contractual allowance based on the estimated collections on its gross billed charges. The
Company computes its estimate by taking into account collections received, up to 30 days after the end of the period, for the services performed
and also estimating amounts collectible within the next six months. Prior to March 1, 2008, the contractual allowance was calculated based on
the ratio of the Company�s historical cash collections during the trailing twelve months on a case-by-case basis by operating facility. This ratio of
cash collections to billed services was then applied to the gross billed services by operating facility. The following table shows gross revenues
and contractual allowances for the three and six months ended February 28, 2010 and 2009:

Three months ended February 28, Six months ended February 28,
2010 2009 2010 2009

Gross billed charges $ 23,730,510 $ 38,249,185 $ 51,714,896 $ 76,669,648
Contractual allowance 17,972,510 25,461,865 37,571,667 53,003,090

Net revenue $ 5,758,000 $ 12,787,320 $ 14,143,229 $ 23,666,558

Contractual allowance percentage 76% 67% 73% 69% 

Except for emergency room patients, surgeries at our facilities are typically pre-certified or pre-authorized by the insurance carriers. A majority
of the surgeries are either covered by workers� compensation insurance or by commercial insurers on an out-of-network health plan basis. We
currently participate in a small number of managed care contracts.

A significant amount of our net revenue results from Texas workers� compensation claims, which are governed by the rules and regulations of the
Texas Department of Workers� Compensation (�TDWC�) and the workers� compensation healthcare networks. If one of our hospitals chooses to
participate in a network, the amount of revenue that will be generated from workers� compensation claims will be governed by the network
contract.

For claims arising prior to the implementation of workers� compensation networks and out of network claims, inpatient and outpatient surgical
services are either reimbursed pursuant to the Acute Care In-Patient Hospital Fee Guideline or at a �fair and reasonable� rate for services in which
the fee guideline is not applicable. Starting March 1, 2008, the Texas Workers� Compensation 2008 Acute Care Hospital Outpatient and Inpatient
Facility Fee Guidelines (the �Guidelines�) became effective. Under these Guidelines, the reimbursement amounts are determined by applying the
most recently adopted and effective Medicare reimbursement formula and factors; however, if the maximum allowable reimbursement for the
procedure performed cannot be calculated using these Guidelines, then reimbursement is determined on a fair and reasonable basis.
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Based on these Guidelines, the reimbursement due the Company for workers� compensation cases is lower than we previously experienced. The
Company has continued accepting Texas workers� compensation cases, and has not made any substantial changes in its focus towards such cases.
Our net patient service revenue for Texas workers� compensation cases as a percentage of gross billings has decreased primarily as a result of
lower reimbursement rates for workers� compensation procedures still being performed.

Should our facility disagree with the amount of reimbursement provided by a third-party payer, we are required to pursue the medical dispute
resolution (�MDR�) process at the TDWC to request proper reimbursement for services. From January 2007 to November 2008, the Company had
been successful in its pursuit of collections regarding the stop-loss cases pending before the State Office of Administrative Hearings (�SOAH�),
receiving positive rulings in over 90% of its claims presented for administrative determination. The 2007 district court decision upholding our
interpretation of the statute as applied to the stop-loss claims was appealed by certain insurance carriers, and on November 13, 2008 the Third
Court of Appeals determined that in order for a hospital to be reimbursed at 75% of its usual and customary audited charges for an inpatient
admission, the hospital must not only bill at least $40,000, but also show that the admission involved unusually costly and unusually extensive
services. Procedurally, the decision means that each case where a carrier raised an issue regarding whether the services provided were unusually
costly or unusually extensive would be remanded to either SOAH or MDR for a case-by-case determination of whether the services provided
meet these standards, once the definitions of those standards are determined. As a result of the Third Court of Appeals opinion, any stop-loss
cases pending at SOAH have been remanded to the TDWC since these cases have not been reviewed or decided by the two-prong standard
decided by the Third Court of Appeals. The SOAH Administrative Law judges determined that the most appropriate location for these cases is
the TDWC, pending a final, non-appealable decision.

A petition asking the Texas Supreme Court to review the Third Court of Appeals decision is still pending. If the Texas Supreme Court declines a
review of or affirms the Third Court of Appeals opinion, final adjudication in these pending stop-loss cases will depend on the uncertain
outcome of a very lengthy process. We anticipate further, lengthy litigation at the Travis County District Courts and the Texas Courts of Appeals
to establish the legal definition of unusually costly or unusually extensive services. Because of this lengthy process and the uncertainty of
recovery in these cases, collection of a material amount of funds in these pending stop-loss cases is not anticipated during the 2010 fiscal year.

Through February 2010, insurance carriers have voluntarily paid the awards in the decisions and orders issued by SOAH, plus interest, in
approximately 180 cases, involving approximately $11 million. In most of these cases, the carriers have requested refunds of the payments made
in the event that the SOAH decisions and orders are reversed on appeal. We believe the likelihood that the Company will be obligated to refund
the payments is remote. Our request that the TDWC Commissioner enforce the awards which have not been voluntarily paid by the carriers has
been refused in approximately 130 cases.

Claims regarding payment for hospital outpatient services remain pending at the TDWC. It is expected that these claims will be adjudicated at
SOAH and ultimately in the Texas district and appellate courts. The basis for reimbursement for these services made the subject of these
pending cases is the determination of �fair and reasonable� charges. In 2007, we received unfavorable rulings from SOAH in all of our appeals of
unfavorable decisions related to services provided in 2001 and 2002. The 179 cases, which have been appealed to the Travis County district
courts, challenge the constitutionality of the relevant statutory language. The Company received an unfavorable ruling in its lead case in March
2009, which ruling has been appealed to the Third Court of Appeals. If upheld by the Texas Court of Appeal, this ruling will impact cases in
which a fee guideline was not applicable, specifically all pending cases involving ambulatory surgical services provided in 2001 and 2002 as
well as all pending cases involving hospital outpatient services provided prior to March 1, 2008. Probability of collection in these cases is
marginal and depends on the rulings of the Third Court of Appeals.

We are currently pursuing claims against two healthcare agents relating to contracts with certain of our facilities which set out reimbursement
guidelines by several workers� compensation carriers at a minimum of 70% of the facility�s charges. Discovery is continuing on these claims to
determine which carriers are involved, the amount of reimbursement due to us, and the data used to determine �usual and customary� market rates
for medical services in specific geographic regions.
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Due to the uncertainties regarding the accounts receivable in the MDR process, the 2008 Third Court of Appeals� opinion and our legal counsel�s
advice that settlements with insurance carriers have virtually stopped, the Company has fully reserved all accounts receivable related to the
MDR process as of August 31, 2008. Any monies collected for these MDR accounts receivable will be recorded as current period�s net patient
service revenues.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable represent net receivables for services provided by the Company. Due to reasons discussed above for writing down all MDR
accounts receivable, the Company does not have any long term receivables since August 31, 2008, and expects to collect the net receivables
within twelve months from the end of the current period. At each balance sheet date management reviews the accounts receivable for
collectibility.

The contractual allowance stated as a percentage of gross receivables at the balance sheet dates is larger than the contractual allowance
percentage used to reduce gross billed charges due to the application of partial cash collections to the outstanding gross receivable balances,
without any adjustment being made to the contractual allowance. The contractual allowance amounts netted against gross receivables are not
adjusted until such time as the final collections on an individual receivable are recognized.

China Division

Revenue Recognition Policy

In China, the local government Department of Health establishes billing rates for a hospital�s sale of prescription medication and medical
services. A majority of the services provided by Second People�s Hospital is to cash pay patients, who pay for the services in advance. For
services provided under the local government�s social healthcare insurance program, we are generally paid at approximately 95% of billed
charges two to three months after the date of service. For the current year, however, receipt of these payments has been delayed due to our
acquisition of the management of Second People�s Hospital from its prior managers in March 2009. The remaining 5% of billed charges is
evaluated by the local government Department of Health on a semi-annual basis and may be paid to the hospital after that evaluation is
complete. The Company had bad debt expenses of $8,892 and $9,997 for the three and six months ended February 28, 2010, respectively, related
to denials under the social healthcare insurance program, which is less than 1% of the revenues of the China division for the same period. Since
the amount of bad debt expense is minimal, it has been included with other operating expenses in the income statement.

Noncontrolling Interest

The equity of minority investors (minority investors are generally physician groups and other healthcare providers that perform surgeries at the
Company�s facilities) in certain subsidiaries of the Company is reported on the consolidated balance sheets as noncontrolling interest.
Noncontrolling interest reported in the consolidated income statements reflects the respective interests in the income or loss of the limited
partnerships or limited liability companies attributable to the minority investors (equity interest ranged from 1.75% to 2.35% at February 28,
2010).

Comprehensive Income (Loss) and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive income (loss)
represents certain components of revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are included in comprehensive income (loss), but are excluded from
net income (loss). Other comprehensive income (loss) amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to stockholders� equity, net of tax, and for
the three and six months ended February 28, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

Three months ended February 28, Six months ended February 28,
2010 2009 2010 2009

Net income (loss) $ (2,838,980) $ 290,409 $ (4,171,083) $ (352,143) 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of taxes of $(13,936),
$(9,800), $(5,992) and $(1,800), respectively (25,880) (18,375) (11,127) (3,400) 
Change in valuation of investment available-for-sale, net of taxes of
$262,267, $(364,200), $898,163 and $(461,500), respectively 487,067 (676,402) 1,668,017 (857,102) 
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Total other comprehensive loss, net of taxes (2,377,793) (404,368) (2,514,193) (1,212,645) 
Comprehensive loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest �  �  �  �  

Comprehensive loss attributable to Dynacq Healthcare, Inc. $ (2,377,793) $ (404,368) $ (2,514,193) $ (1,212,645) 
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The components of accumulated other comprehensive income were as follows:

February 28, 2010 August 31, 2009
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of taxes of $186,317 and $192,309, respectively $ 336,399 $ 347,527
Change in valuation of investment available-for-sale, net of taxes of $4,102,214 and $3,204,051,
respectively 7,618,398 5,950,381

Total accumulated other comprehensive income, net of taxes of $4,288,531 and $3,396,360,
respectively $ 7,954,797 $ 6,297,908

Contingencies

The Company maintains various insurance policies that cover each of its facilities; including occurrence medical malpractice coverage. In
addition, all physicians granted privileges at the Company�s facilities are required to maintain medical malpractice insurance coverage. The
Company also maintains general liability and property insurance coverage for each facility, including flood coverage. The Company does not
currently maintain workers� compensation coverage in Texas. In regard to the Employee Health Insurance Plan, the Company is self-insured with
specific and aggregate re-insurance with stop-loss levels appropriate for the Company�s group size. Coverage is maintained in amounts
management deems adequate.

The management agreement for the Second People�s Hospital requires that 1% of the drug income, and drug income in excess of 40% of total
sales, of the hospital be paid to the government. This requirement was designed to control the cost of drugs by discouraging the sale by the
hospital of drugs purchased from other than approved drug vendors. However, the local government has not published a list of approved drug
vendors and therefore has not enforced the payment provision since the inception of the original management agreement. The Company has
been advised by a local attorney that enforcement of that provision is remote, so it has not accrued the amount that would be payable to the local
government if this provision were enforced. If the government were to enforce this provision, Dynacq-Huai Bei could potentially owe
approximately $1.2 million to the government for the period of time since inception of the original management contract on the hospital.

The Company is routinely involved in litigation and administrative proceedings that are incidental to its business. Specifically, all judicial
review of unsatisfactory determinations of reimbursement amounts due us for our Texas facilities� fees must be made in the district courts of
Travis County, Texas in what can often be a lengthy procedure. Please refer to Revenue Recognition, as well as Business � Government
Regulation � U.S. Division � Texas Workers� Compensation Systems in our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2009, for a detailed
description of the MDR process and our accounts receivable. The Company cannot predict whether any litigation or administrative proceeding to
which it is currently a party will have a material adverse effect on the Company�s results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.

16

Edgar Filing: DYNACQ HEALTHCARE INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 23



Table of Contents

Industry Segments and Geographic Information

We manage our operations through two operating segments, based on our geographic areas: U.S. and China, and have a general corporate
division.

U.S. Division

The U.S. Division owns two hospitals, which are the Pasadena facility and the Garland facility. Our U.S. Division develops and operates general
acute care hospitals designed to handle specialized surgeries such as bariatric, orthopedic and neuro-spine surgeries. Both of these facilities also
provide pain management services, as well as minor emergency treatment services. The Pasadena facility also provides sleep laboratory services.

China Division

Our China Division is set up to provide healthcare management services in China. It includes results of operations for managing Second People�s
Hospital in Rui An, China, since November 25, 2008.

In 2010 Dynacq-Huai Bei will manage the Third People�s Hospital in Rui An upon completion of construction of that hospital.

The Company has organized Sino Bond Inc. Limited, a Hong Kong corporation (�Sino Bond�), to hold and manage investments in Hong Kong.
Sino Bond has entered into a three-year marketing contract effective October 1, 2008 for marketing of healthcare services to be provided by
Dynacq subsidiaries in China and Southeast Asia.

In August 2009 the Company organized Hu GangJing (Hang Zhou) Technology Co. Ltd. (�Hang Zhou Tech�) under the laws of the People�s
Republic of China for the purpose of forming joint ventures to invest in companies in China engaged in businesses such as energy production,
life sciences and pharmaceuticals.

Corporate Division

The Company has invested in available-for-sale securities which will be held until the Company is able to identify and fund attractive
opportunities to acquire or manage operating companies in China and Southeast Asia. Corporate division includes interest and other income
related to these investments in available-for-sale securities, corporate personnel compensation expenses, and general and administrative
expenses. Such expenses and income are not allocated to our operating divisions, as they relate to our general corporate activities.

We generally evaluate performance based on profit or loss from operations before income taxes and non-recurring charges and other criteria.
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. There are
no transfers between segments.

Summarized financial information concerning the business segments from continuing operations is as follows:

Three months ended February 28, Six months ended February 28,
2010 2009 2010 2009

Revenues from external customers
Net patient service revenues
U.S. Division $ 5,758,000 $ 12,787,320 $ 14,143,229 $ 23,666,558
China Division 431,394 �  1,030,776 �  

Consolidated $ 6,189,394 $ 12,787,320 $ 15,174,005 $ 23,666,558

Income (loss) before taxes
U.S. Division $ (2,764,712) $ 2,227,753 $ (3,424,374) $ 2,691,763
China Division (1,040,575) (489,832) (1,465,648) (989,980) 
Corporate (541,434) (1,121,623) (1,430,167) (1,990,855) 
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February 28,
2010 2009

Total Assets
U.S. Division $ 35,083,260 $ 43,361,095
China Division 22,506,739 28,867,417
Corporate 21,270,054 2,621,231

Consolidated $ 78,860,053 $ 74,849,743

Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by
terminology such as �may,� �will,� �should,� �expects,� �intends,� �plans,� �anticipates,� �believes,� �estimates,� �predicts,� �potential,� or the negative of these terms
or other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions. Actual events or results may differ materially. Such forward-looking
statements relate to future events or future financial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may
cause our Company�s actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of
activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, including the risks and uncertainties described in
�Risk Factors� in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2009. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in
the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. You must
read the following discussion of the results of our business and our operations and financial condition in conjunction with our reviewed
consolidated financial statements, including the notes, included in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q and our audited consolidated financial
statements, including the notes, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2009.

Update on Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

There have been no changes to the critical accounting policies used in our reporting of results of operations and financial position for the quarter
ended February 28, 2010. For a discussion of our critical accounting policies see Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations in our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2009.
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Results of Operations

Three Months Ended February 28, 2010 Three Months Ended February 28, 2009
U.S. Division China Division Corporate Total U.S. Division China Division Corporate Total

Net patient service revenue $ 5,758,000 100% $ 431,394 100% $ �  $ 6,189,394 100% $ 12,787,320 100% $ �  $ �  $ 12,787,320 100% 

Costs and expenses:
Compensation and benefits 3,075,492 53 345,901 80 606,360 4,027,753 65 3,145,915 25 37,500 719,263 3,902,678 31
Medical services and supplies 2,096,721 36 215,926 50 �  2,312,647 37 2,971,716 23 �  �  2,971,716 23
Other operating expenses 3,179,143 55 718,942 167 321,766 4,219,851 68 4,119,118 32 617,031 506,193 5,242,342 41
Depreciation and amortization 233,811 4 30,805 7 �  264,616 4 365,437 3 17,570 �  383,007 3

Total costs and expenses 8,585,167 149 1,311,574 304 928,126 10,824,867 175 10,602,186 83 672,101 1,225,456 12,499,743 98

Operating income (loss) (2,827,167) (49) (880,180) (204) (928,126) (4,635,473) (75) 2,185,134 17 (672,101) (1,225,456) 287,577 2

Other income (expense):
Rent and other income (expense) 60,545 1 (173,997) (40) �  (113,452) (2) 34,855 �  �  �  34,855 �  
Interest income 11,392 �  13,602 3 386,692 411,686 7 28,425 �  182,269 103,833 314,527 2
Interest expense (9,482) �  �  �  �  (9,482) �  (20,661) �  �  �  (20,661) �  

Total other income (expense), net 62,455 1 (160,395) (37) 386,692 288,752 5 42,619 �  182,269 103,833 328,721 3

Income (loss) before income taxes (2,764,712) (48)% (1,040,575) (241)% (541,434) (4,346,721) (70) 2,227,753 17% (489,832) (1,121,623) 616,298 5

Benefit (provision) for income taxes 1,437,703 23 (325,866) (3) 

Net income (loss) (2,909,018) (47) 290,432 2
Less: Net loss (income) attributable to the
noncontrolling interest 70,038 1 (23) �  

Net income (loss) attributable to Dynacq
Healthcare, Inc. $ (2,838,980) (46)% $ 290,409 2% 

Operational statistics (Number of medical
procedures) for U.S. Division:
Inpatient:
Bariatrics 54

Our Failure To Comply With Governmental Payor Regulations Could Result In Our Being Excluded From Participation
In Medicare, Medicaid Or Other Governmental Payor Programs, Which Would Decrease Our Revenues And Adversely
Affect Our Results Of Operations And Financial Condition.

Reimbursement from Medicare and Medicaid accounted for approximately 52% and 38% of our revenues for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The Medicare program imposes extensive and detailed requirements
on diagnostic services providers, including, but not limited to, rules that govern how we structure our relationships with
physicians, how and when we submit reimbursement claims and how we provide our specialized diagnostic services.
Our failure to comply with applicable Medicare, Medicaid and other governmental payor rules could result in our
inability to participate in a governmental payor program, our returning funds already paid to us, civil monetary
penalties, criminal penalties and/or limitations on the operational function of our laboratory. If we were unable to
receive reimbursement under a governmental payor program, a substantial portion of our revenues would be lost, which
would adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
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Our Business Could Be Harmed By Future Interpretations Of Clinical Laboratory Mark-Up Prohibitions.

Our laboratory currently uses the services of outside reference laboratories to provide certain complementary laboratory
services to those services provided directly by our laboratory. Although Medicare policies do not prohibit certain
independent-laboratory-to-independent-laboratory referrals and subsequent mark-up for services, California and other
states have rules and regulations that prohibit or limit the mark-up of these laboratory-to-laboratory services. A
challenge to our charge-setting procedures under these rules and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Failure To Comply With The HIPAA Security And Privacy Regulations May Increase Our Operational Costs.

The HIPAA privacy and security regulations establish comprehensive federal standards with respect to the uses and
disclosures of PHI by health plans and healthcare providers, in addition to setting standards to protect the
confidentiality, integrity and availability of electronic PHI. The regulations establish a complex regulatory framework
on a variety of subjects, including the circumstances under which uses and disclosures of PHI are permitted or required
without a specific authorization by the patient, including but not limited to treatment purposes, activities to obtain
payments for services and healthcare operations activities; a patient's rights to access, amend and receive an accounting
of certain disclosures of PHI;
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the content of notices of privacy practices for PHI; and administrative, technical and physical safeguards required of
entities that use or receive PHI electronically.  We have implemented policies and procedures related to compliance
with the HIPAA privacy and security regulations, as required by law. The privacy regulations establish a uniform
federal "floor" and do not supersede state laws that are more stringent. Therefore, we are required to comply with both
federal privacy regulations and varying state privacy laws. The federal privacy regulations restrict our ability to use or
disclose patient identifiable laboratory data, without patient authorization, for purposes other than payment, treatment or
healthcare operations (as defined by HIPAA), except for disclosures for various public policy purposes and other
permitted purposes outlined in the privacy regulations. The privacy and security regulations provide for significant fines
and other penalties for wrongful use or disclosure of PHI, including potential civil and criminal fines and penalties.
Although the HIPAA statute and regulations do not expressly provide for a private right of damages, we also could
incur damages under state laws to private parties for the wrongful use or disclosure of confidential health information or
other private personal information.

Our Ability To Comply With The Financial Covenants In Our Credit Agreements Depends Primarily On Our Ability To
Generate Substantial Operating Cash Flow.

Our ability to comply with the financial covenants under the agreement with CapitalSource Funding, LLC will depend
primarily on our success in generating substantial operating cash flow. Our credit agreement contains numerous
financial and other restrictive covenants, including restrictions on purchasing and selling assets, paying dividends to our
shareholders, and incurring additional indebtedness. Our failure to meet these covenants could result in a default and
acceleration of repayment of the indebtedness under our credit facility. If the maturity of our indebtedness were
accelerated, we may not have sufficient funds to pay such indebtedness. In such event, our lenders would be entitled to
proceed against the collateral securing the indebtedness, which includes substantially our entire accounts receivable, to
the extent permitted by our credit agreements and applicable law.

We Have Potential Conflicts Of Interest Relating To Our Related Party Transactions Which Could Harm Our Business.

We have potential conflicts of interest relating to existing agreements we have with certain of our directors, officers,
principal shareholders, shareholders and employees.  Potential conflicts of interest can exist if a related party director or
officer has to make a decision that has different implications for us and the related party.  If a dispute arises in
connection with any of these agreements, if not resolved satisfactorily to us, our business could be harmed.   There can
be no assurance that the above or any future conflicts of interest will be resolved in our favor. If not resolved, such
conflicts could harm our business.

We Have Material Weaknesses In Our Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That May Prevent The Company
From Being Able To Accurately Report Its Financial Results Or Prevent Fraud, Which Could Harm Its Business And
Operating Results.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable and accurate financial reports and prevent fraud. In
addition, Section 404 under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires that we assess the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.  If we cannot provide reliable and accurate financial reports
and prevent fraud, our business and operating results could be harmed.  We have discovered, and may in the future
discover, areas of internal controls that need improvement. We have identified four material weaknesses in our internal
controls as of December 31, 2007. These matters and our efforts regarding remediation of these matters, as well as
efforts regarding internal controls generally are discussed in detail in our Annual Report on Form 10-KSB. However, as
our material weaknesses in internal controls demonstrate, we cannot be certain that the remedial measures taken to date
will ensure that we design, implement, and maintain adequate controls over financial processes and reporting in the
future.  Remedying the material weaknesses that have been presently identified, and any additional deficiencies,
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses that we may identify in the future, could require us to incur significant
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costs, hire additional personnel, expend significant time and management resources or make other changes.  Disclosure
of our material weaknesses, any failure to remediate such material weaknesses in a timely fashion or having or
maintaining ineffective internal controls could cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information,
which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our Common Stock and access to capital.

Risks Related To This Offering

Future Sales By Our Stockholders May Adversely Affect Our Stock Price And Our Ability To Raise Funds In New
Stock Offerings

Sales of our Common Stock in the public market following this offering could lower the market price of our Common
Stock. Sales may also make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities or equity-related securities in the future
18
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at a time and price that our management deems acceptable or at all.  Of the 31,365,021 shares of Common Stock
outstanding as of May 30, 2008, 15,270,341 shares are freely tradable without restriction, unless held by our
“affiliates”.  The remaining 16,094,680 shares of our Common Stock which are held by existing stockholders, including
the officers and Directors, are “restricted securities” and may be resold in the public market only if registered or pursuant
to an exemption from registration. Some of these shares may be resold under Rule 144.

The Selling Stockholders Intend To Sell Their Shares Of Common Stock In The Market, Which Sales May Cause Our
Stock Price To Decline

The selling stockholders intend to sell in the public market 7,000,000 shares of our Common Stock being registered in
this offering. That means that up to 7,000,000 shares may be sold pursuant to this Registration Statement. Such sales
may cause our stock price to decline. Our Officers and Directors and those stockholders who are significant
stockholders as defined by the SEC will continue to be subject to the provisions of various insider trading and Rule 144
regulations.

The Price You Pay In This Offering Will Fluctuate And May Be Higher Or Lower Than The Prices Paid By Other
People Participating In This Offering

The price in this offering will fluctuate based on the prevailing market price of our Common Stock on the
OTCBB.  Accordingly, the price you pay in this offering may be higher or lower than the prices paid by other people
participating in this offering.

Our Common Stock Is Deemed To Be “Penny Stock”, Which May Make It More Difficult For Investors To Sell Their
Shares Due To Suitability Requirements

Our Common Stock is deemed to be “penny stock” as that term is defined in Rule 3a51-1 promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).  Penny stocks are stocks:

• With a price of less than $5.00 per share;

• That are not traded on a “recognized” national exchange;

• Whose prices are not quoted on the Nasdaq automated quotation system;

•Nasdaq stocks that trade below $5.00 per share are deemed a “penny stock” for purposes of Section 15(b)(6) of the
Exchange Act;

•In issuers with net tangible assets less than $2.0 million (if the issuer has been in continuous operation for at least
three (3) years) or $5.0 million (if in continuous operation for less than three (3) years), or with average revenues of
less than $6.0 million for the last three (3) years.

•Broker/dealers dealing in penny stocks are required to provide potential investors with a document disclosing the risks
of penny stocks. Moreover, broker/dealers are required to determine whether an investment in a penny stock is a
suitable investment for a prospective investor. These requirements may reduce the potential market for our Common
Stock by reducing the number of potential investors. This may make it more difficult for investors in our Common
Stock to sell shares to third parties or to otherwise dispose of them. This could cause our stock price to decline.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Information included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus may contain forward-looking statements. This
information may involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from the future results, performance or achievements expressed
or implied by any forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements, which involve assumptions and describe
our future plans, strategies and expectations, are generally identifiable by use of the words “may”, “should”, “expect”,
“anticipate”, “estimate”, “believe”, “intend” or “project” or the negative of these words or other variations on these words or
comparable terminology.

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements, including statements regarding, among other things, (a) our
projected sales and profitability, (b) our growth strategies, (c) anticipated trends in our industry, (d) our future financing
plans and (e) our anticipated needs for working capital. These statements may be found under “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis or Plan of Operations” and “Description of Business”, as well as in this prospectus generally. Actual events or
results may differ materially from those discussed in forward-looking statements as a result of various factors,
including, without limitation, the risks outlined under “Risk Factors” and matters described in this prospectus generally. In
light of these risks and uncertainties, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements contained in this
prospectus will in fact occur.
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SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

The following table presents information regarding our selling stockholders who intend to sell up to 7,000,000 shares of
our Common Stock.  A description of each stockholder’s relationship to the Company and how each selling stockholder
acquired or will acquire shares to be sold in this offering is detailed in the information immediately following this table.

Selling Stockholders

Shares
Beneficially
Owned
Before

Offering(1)

Percentage
of

Outstanding
Shares

Beneficially
Owned
Before

Offering(1)

Shares To
Be Sold In

The
Offering

Percentage
of

Outstanding
Shares

Beneficially
Owned
After The
Offering

James R. Rehak & Joann M.
Rehak JTWROS 330,714 1.05% 33,333 *%
Leonard Samuels IRA 148,842 * 110,000 *
A. Scott Logan Revocable
Living Trust 3,500,000 (2) 10.81% 500,000 9.41%
William J. Robison 91,000 * 55,000 *
Mosaic Partners Fund - * 177,500 (10) *
Mosaic Partners Fund (US),
LP - * 72,500 (11) *
Ridgecrest Ltd. 63,600 * 53,000 *
Ridgecrest Partners QP, LP 246,000 * 205,000 *
Ridgecrest, LP 14,400 * 12,000 *
Leviticus Partners, LP 640,000 2.04% 200,000 1.41%
1837 Partners, L.P. 1,948,354 6.17% 886,000 (3) 3.46%
1837 Partners QP, L.P. 719,211 2.29% 228,200 (4) 1.57%
1837 Partners, Ltd. 734,325 2.34% 235,500 (5) 1.60%
Lewis Opportunity Fund, LP 215,523 * 1,077,617 (6) *
LAM Opportunity Fund, Ltd. 44,143 * 220,717 (7) *
Mark G. Egan IRA Rollover 720,000 2.29% 600,000 (8) *
Aspen Select Healthcare, L.P. 9,553,279 27.76% 1,889,245 23.56%
Michael T. Dent, M.D. 2,655,463 8.33% 345,671 7..32%
Noble International
Investments, Inc. 98,417 (9) * 98,417 (9) *
Total: 21,723,271 58.89% 7,000,000 49.26%

* Less than one percent (1%).

(1)Applicable percentage of ownership is based on 31,365,021 shares of our Common Stock outstanding as of May 30,
2008, together with securities exercisable or convertible into shares of Common Stock within sixty (60) days of May
30, 2008, for each stockholder.  Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and
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generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities.  Shares of Common Stock are deemed to be
beneficially owned by the person holding such securities for the purpose of computing the percentage of ownership
of such person, but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other
person.  Note that affiliates are subject to Rule 144 and insider trading regulations - percentage computation is for
form purposes only.

(2)SKL Family Limited Partnership has direct ownership of 2,000,000 shares and currently exercisable warrants to
purchase 1,000,000 shares.  A. Scott Logan Revocable Living Trust has direct ownership of 500,000 shares.  A. Scott
Logan is the general partner SKL Limited Family Partnership and trustee for A. Scott Logan Revocable Living
Trust.  A. Scott Logan has only 1% of the assets of SKL Family Limited Partnership.  An additional 1% of asset is
owned by A. Scott Logan son’s, and 98% of asserts is owned by a grantor retained annuity trust.

(3)Of these shares, 383,100 were acquired by 1837 Partners, L.P. as an Investor from the Company and 502,900 were
acquired as an Investor from Aspen in connection with the Private Placement.

(4)Of these shares, 108,000 were acquired by 1837 Partners QP, L.P. as an Investor from the Company and 120,500
were acquired as an Investor from Aspen in connection with the Private Placement.

(5) Of these shares, 108,900 were acquired by 1837 Partners Ltd. as an Investor from the Company and 126,600
were acquired as an Investor from Aspen in connection with the Private Placement.

(6)Of these shares, 455,117 were acquired by Lewis Opportunity Fund, LP as an Investor from the Company, 207,500
were acquired as an Investor from Aspen in connection with the Private Placement and 415,000 were issued by the
Company upon the conversion of warrants previously purchased from Aspen.  Subsequent to the purchase of these
shares and prior to the effectiveness of this Registration Statement, all of these shares were sold pursuant to Rule
144.

(7)Of these shares, 93,217 were acquired by Lewis Opportunity Fund, Ltd. as an Investor from the Company, 42,500
were acquired as an Investor from Aspen in connection with the Private Placement and 85,000 were issued by the
Company upon the conversion of warrants previously purchased from Aspen.  Subsequent to the purchase of these
shares and prior to the effectiveness of this Registration Statement, all of these shares were sold pursuant to Rule
144.

(8)Of these shares, 100,000 were acquired by Mark G. Egan IRA Rollover as an Investor from the Company and
500,000 were acquired  from Aspen in connection with the Private Placement.

(9)These shares represent shares of our Common Stock issuable to Noble upon conversion of currently exercisable
warrants issued by the Company in connection with the Private Placement for Noble’s service as placement agent.
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(10)Subsequent to the purchase of these shares in the Private Placement and prior to the effectiveness of this
Registration Statement, Mosaic Partners Fund was liquidated and 135,055 shares were sold to 1837 Partners, LP,
40,980 shares were sold to 1837 Partners, QP LP and 1,465 shares were sold to 1837 Partners, Ltd.

(11)Subsequent to the purchase of these shares in the Private Placement and prior to the effectiveness of this
Registration Statement, Mosaic Partners Fund (US), LP was liquidated and 42,500 shares were sold to 1837
Partners, Ltd., 15,000 shares were sold to Ms. Frances E. Tuite, and 15,000 shares were sold to Mr. Blair R.
Haarlow.  Ms. Tuite and Mr. Haarlow are both affiliated with RMB Capital Management, which makes all the
investment decisions for the 1837 Partners LP, 1837 Partners QP, LP and 1837 Partners Ltd.

The following information contains a description of each selling stockholder’s relationship to us and how each selling
stockholder acquired or will acquire shares to be sold in this offering is detailed below. None of the selling stockholders
have held a position or office, or had any other material relationship, with us, except as follows:

Shares Acquired In Connection With Private Placement

During the period from May 31, 2007 through June 6, 2007, the Company sold 2,666,667 shares of Common Stock to
the Investors who are listed herein below pursuant to the Private Placement at a price equal to $1.50 per share.  This
resulted in the Company receiving gross proceeds of $4 million in cash.  After estimated transaction costs, the Parent
Company received net cash proceeds of $3.75 million.  The Investors received registration rights with their shares, and
therefore all of those 2,666,667 shares are being registered hereunder.  Each of the Investors listed below are accredited
investors.

•James R. Rehak & Joann M. Rehak JTWROS (Rehaks).  The Rehaks purchased 33,333 shares of our Common Stock
at a purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $50,000 as part of the Private
Placement.  The Rehaks received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 33,000
shares in this offering.  All investment decisions of the Rehaks are made by James R. Rehak and Joann M. Rehak.

•Leonard Samuels IRA (LSI). LSI purchased 110,000 shares of our Common Stock at a purchase price of $1.50 per
share, and the Company in turn received $165,000 as part of the Private Placement.  LSI received registration rights
with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 110,000 shares in this offering.  All investment decisions of
LSI are made by Charles Schwab & Co. Inc., as Custodian for Leonard Samuels IRA.

•A. Scott Logan Revocable Living Trust (SL Trust). SL Trust purchased 500,000 shares of our Common Stock at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $750,000 as part of the Private Placement.  SL
Trust received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 500,000 shares in this
offering.  All investment decisions of SL Trust are made by A. Scott Logan, Trustee.

• William J. Robison (Mr. Robison).  Mr. Robison, who serves as a member of the Board of Directors of the
Company, purchased 55,000 shares of our Common Stock at a purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the
Company in turn received $82,500 as part of the Private Placement.  Mr. Robison received registration
rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 55,000 shares in this offering.
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•1837 Partners, L.P. (1837P1).  1837P1 purchased 383,100 shares of our Common Stock from the Company at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $574,650 as part of the Private
Placement.  1837P1 received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 383,100 shares
in this offering.  All investment decisions of 1837P1 are made by Frances Tuite.  Subsequent to the Private Placement
by the Company, 1837P1 purchased135,055 shares from Mosaic.

•1837 Partners QP, L.P. (1837P2).  1837P2 purchased 108,000 shares of our Common Stock from the Company at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $162,000 as part of the Private
Placement.  1837P2 received  registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 108,000 shares
in this offering.  All investment decisions of 1837P2 are made by Frances Tuite.  Subsequent to the Private Placement
by the Company, 1837P2 purchased 40,980 shares from Mosaic.
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•1837 Partners, Ltd. (1837P3).  1837P3 purchased 108,900 shares of our Common Stock from the Company at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $163,350 as part of the Private
Placement.  1837P3 received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 383,100 shares
in this offering.  All investment decisions of 1837P3 are made by Frances Tuite.  Subsequent to the offering by the
Company, 1837P3 purchased 1,465 shares from Mosaic and 42,500 shares from MPF.

•Lewis Opportunity Fund, LP (LOF).  LOF purchased 455,117 shares of our Common Stock from the Company at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $682,676 as part of the Private Placement.  LOF
received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 455,117 shares in this offering.  All
investment decisions of LOF are made by Austin Lewis.  Subsequent to the Private Placement, but prior to the
effectiveness of this Registration Statement, LOF sold all of these shares pursuant to Rule 144.

• LAM Opportunity Fund, Ltd. (LAMOF).  LAMOF purchased 93,217 shares of our Common Stock
from the Company at a purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $139,826
as part of the Private Placement.  LAMOF received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we
are registering these 93,217 shares in this offering.  All investment decisions of LAMOF are made by
Austin Lewis.  Subsequent to the Private Placement, but prior to the effectiveness of this Registration
Statement, LAMOF sold all of these shares pursuant to Rule 144.

•Mark G. Egan IRA Rollover (MGE).  MGE purchased 100,000 shares of our Common Stock from the Company at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $150,000 as part of the Private Placement.  MGE
received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 100,000 shares in this offering.  All
investment decisions of MGE are made by Marlin Capital.

•Mosaic Partners Fund (Mosaic).  Mosaic purchased 177,500 shares of our Common Stock from the Company at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $266,250 as part of the Private
Placement.  Mosaic received  registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 177,500 shares
in this offering.  All investment decisions of Mosaic are made by Ajay Sekhand.  Subsequent to the offering Mosaic
was liquidated and 135,055 shares were sold to 1837 Partners, LP, 40,980 shares were sold to 1837 Partners, QP LP
and 1,465 shares were sold to 1837 Partners, Ltd.

•Mosaic Partners Fund (US), LP (MPF).  MPF purchased 72,500 shares of our Common Stock from the Company at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $108,750 as part of the Private Placement.  MPF
received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 72,500 shares in this offering.  All
investment decisions of MPF are made Ajay Sekhand.  Subsequent to the offering Mosaic was liquidated and 42,500
shares were sold to 1837 Partners, Ltd., 15,000 shares were sold to Ms. Frances E. Tuite, and 15,000 shares were sold
to Mr. Blair R. Haarlow.  Ms. Tuite and Mr. Haarlow are both affiliated with RMB Capital Management, which
makes all the investment decisions for the 1837 Partners LP, 1837 Partners QP, LP and 1837 Partners Ltd.

•Ridgecrest Ltd. (Ridgecrest).  Ridgecrest purchased 53,000 shares of our Common Stock from the Company at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $79,500 as part of the Private
Placement.  Ridgecrest received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 53,000
shares in this offering.  All investment decisions of Ridgecrest are made by Todd McElroy.

•Ridgecrest Partners QP, LP  (Ridgecrest II).  Ridgecrest II purchased 205,000 shares of our Common Stock from the
Company at a purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $307,500 as part of the Private
Placement.  Ridgecrest II received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 205,000
shares in this offering.  All investment decisions of Ridgecrest II are made by Todd McElroy.

•
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Ridgecrest, LP (Ridgecrest III).  Ridgecrest III purchased 12,000 shares of our Common Stock from the Company at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $18,000 as part of the Private
Placement.  Ridgecrest III received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 12,000
shares in this offering.  All investment decisions of Ridgecrest III are made by Todd McElroy.
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•Leviticus Partners, LP (Leviticus).  Leviticus purchased 200,000 shares of our Common Stock from the Company at a
purchase price of $1.50 per share, and the Company in turn received $300,000 as part of the Private
Placement.  Leviticus received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 200,000
shares in this offering.  All investment decisions of Leviticus are made by Adam M. Hutt.

During the period from June 1, 2007 through June 5, 2007, the Investors purchased 1,500,000 shares of Common Stock
from Aspen in connection with the Private Placement.  The Investors received  registration rights with their shares, and
therefore all of those 1,500,000 shares are being registered hereunder.  Each of the Investors is an accredited investor.

•1837 Partners, L.P. (1837P1).  1837P1 purchased 502,900 shares of our Common Stock from Aspen on June 1, 2007
and received  registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 502,900 shares in this offering.

•1837 Partners QP, L.P. (1837P2).  1837P2 purchased 120,500 shares of our Common Stock on June 1, 2007 and
received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 108,000 shares in this offering.  

•1837 Partners, Ltd. (1837P3).  1837P3 purchased 126,600 shares of our Common Stock from Aspen on June 1, 2007
and received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 126,600 shares in this offering.

•Lewis Opportunity Fund, LP (LOF).  LOF purchased 207,500 shares of our Common Stock from Aspen on June 5,
2007 and received  registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 207,500 shares in this
offering.  All investment decisions of LOF are made by LAM.  Subsequent to the Private Placement, but prior to the
effectiveness of this Registration Statement, LOF sold all of these shares pursuant to Rule 144.

•LAM Opportunity Fund, Ltd. (LAMOF).  LAMOF purchased 42,500 shares of our Common Stock from Aspen on
June 5, 2007 and received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 42,500 shares in
this offering.  Subsequent to the Private Placement, but prior to the effectiveness of this Registration Statement,
LAMOF sold all of these shares pursuant to Rule 144.

• Lewis Opportunity Fund, LP (LOF).  LOF purchased from Aspen a warrant to purchase 415,000 shares
of our Common Stock on June 6, 2007 and received  registration rights for the shares underlying the
warrant.  On June 6, 2007, 2007, LOF exercised the warrant whereby the Company issued and sold to
LOF 415,000 shares at $0.26 per share.  As a result, the Company received $107,900.  We are
registering these 415,000 shares in this offering.  All investment decisions of LOF are made by Austin
Lewis.  Subsequent to the Private Placement, but prior to the effectiveness of this Registration
Statement, LOF sold all of these shares pursuant to Rule 144.

•LAM Opportunity Fund, Ltd. (LAMOF).  LAMOF purchased from Aspen a warrant to purchase 85,000 shares of our
Common Stock on June 6, 2007 and received registration rights for the shares underlying the warrant.  On June 6,
2007, LAMOF exercised the warrant whereby the Company issued and sold to LAMOF 85,000 shares at $0.26 per
share.  As a result, the Company received $22,100.  We are registering these 85,000 shares in this offering.  All
investment decisions of LAMOF are made by Austin Lewis.  Subsequent to the Private Placement, but prior to the
effectiveness of this Registration Statement, LAMOF sold all of these shares pursuant to Rule 144.

•Mark G. Egan IRA Rollover (MGE).  MGE purchased 500,000 shares of our Common Stock from Aspen on June 5,
2007 and received registration rights with the shares and therefore, we are registering these 500,000 shares in this
offering.
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Other Selling Stockholders

• Noble International Investments, Inc. (Noble).    The Company engaged Noble, an unaffiliated
registered broker-dealer, to advise us as our placement agent in connection with the Private Placement
pursuant to that certain Letter Agreement, dated May 21, 2007, by and between the Parent Company
and Noble.  In consideration for its services, Noble received (a) warrants to purchase 98,417 shares of
our Common Stock, which such warrants have a five (5) year term, a purchase  price equal to $1.50 per
share, cashless exercise provisions, customary anti-dilution provisions and the same other terms,
conditions, rights and preferences as those shares sold to the Investors by the Company in the Private
Placement, and (b) an additional cash fee equal to five percent (5%) of the gross proceeds from each
sale made to the Investors by the Company, or $147,625.50.  Noble received piggy-back registration
rights with its shares, and therefore we are registering 98,417 shares for Noble hereunder.  All
investment decisions for Noble are made by Shaun Titcomb.

•Aspen Select Healthcare, L.P. (Aspen).  In April 2003, we conducted a private placement to Aspen and its affiliates in
which we received net proceeds of $114,271 (after deducting certain transaction expenses) through the issue of
13,927,062 shares of Common Stock.  In the April 2003 transaction, Aspen purchased 9,303,279 shares, of which
1,300,000 were subsequently transferred to other entities.  All investment decisions of Aspen are made by Mr. Steven
C. Jones, a member of our Board of Directors and our Acting Principal Financial Officer.  We are registering
1,889,245 of these shares in this offering.

•Certain Funds of Lewis Asset Management, Inc. (LAM).  Lewis Opportunity Fund and LAM Opportunity Fund
received shares of our Common Stock issued by the Company upon the exercise of warrants on June 6, 2007.  These
warrants had been previously purchased by the funds from Aspen on June 6, 2007.   Subsequent to the exercise of
these warrants, but prior to the effectiveness of this Registration Statement, LAM sold all of these shares pursuant to
Rule 144.

USE OF PROCEEDS

This prospectus relates to shares of our Common Stock that may be offered and sold from time to time by certain selling
stockholders. There will be no proceeds to us from the sale of shares of Common Stock in this offering.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

The selling stockholders have advised us that the sale or distribution of our Common Stock owned by the selling
stockholders may be effected directly to purchasers by the selling stockholders as principals or through one or more
underwriters, brokers, dealers or agents from time to time in one or more transactions (which may involve crosses or
block transactions) (i) on the over-the-counter market or in any other market on which the price of our shares of
Common Stock are quoted or (ii) in transactions otherwise than on the over-the-counter market or in any other market
on which the price of our shares of Common Stock are quoted. Any of such transactions may be effected at market
prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices, at varying prices determined at
the time of sale or at negotiated or fixed prices, in each case as determined by the selling stockholders or by agreement
between the selling stockholders and underwriters, brokers, dealers or agents, or purchasers. If the selling stockholders
effect such transactions by selling their shares of our Common Stock to or through underwriters, brokers, dealers or
agents, such underwriters, brokers, dealers or agents may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or
commissions from the selling stockholders or commissions from purchasers of Common Stock for whom they may act
as agent (which discounts, concessions or commissions as to particular underwriters, brokers, dealers or agents may be
in excess of those customary in the types of transactions involved).

Under the securities laws of certain states, the shares of our Common Stock may be sold in such states only through
registered or licensed brokers or dealers.

The selling stockholders are advised to ensure that any underwriters, brokers, dealers or agents effecting transactions on
behalf of the selling stockholders are registered to sell securities in all fifty (50) states.  In addition, in certain states
shares of our Common Stock may not be sold unless the shares have been registered or qualified for sale in such state or
an exemption from registration or qualification is available and is complied with.

We will pay all expenses incident to the registration, offering and sale of the shares of our Common Stock to the public
hereunder other than commissions, fees and discounts of underwriters, brokers, dealers and agents. If any of these other
expenses exists, we expect the selling stockholders to pay these expenses.

We estimate that the expenses of the offering to be borne by us will be approximately $85,000.  The offering expenses
consisted of: a SEC registration fee of $885, printing expenses of $2,500; accounting fees of $15,000; legal fees of
$30,000 and miscellaneous expenses of $36,600.  We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of any of the shares of
our Common Stock by the selling stockholders.

The selling stockholders are subject to applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and its regulations, including,
Regulation M.  Under Regulation M, the selling stockholders or their agents may not bid for, purchase, or attempt to
induce any person to bid for or purchase, shares of our Common Stock while such selling stockholders are distributing
shares covered by this prospectus. Pursuant to the requirements of Item 512 of Regulation S-K and as stated in Part II of
this Registration Statement, we must file a post-effective amendment to the accompanying Registration Statement once
informed of a material change from the information set forth with respect to the Plan of Distribution.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION

Introduction

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements, and
the Notes thereto included herein. The information contained below includes statements of the Company’s or
management’s beliefs, expectations, hopes, goals and plans that, if not historical, are forward-looking statements subject
to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in the
forward-looking statements. For a discussion on forward-looking statements, see the information set forth in the
Introductory Note to this Annual Report under the caption “Forward Looking Statements”, which information is
incorporated herein by reference.

Overview

NeoGenomics operates a network of cancer-focused testing laboratories that specifically target the rapidly growing
genetic and molecular testing segment of the medical laboratory industry.  We currently operate in three laboratory
locations: Fort Myers, Florida, Nashville, Tennessee and Irvine, California.  We currently offer throughout the United
States the following types of testing services to oncologists, pathologists, urologists, hospitals, and other laboratories:  a)
cytogenetics testing, which analyzes human chromosomes, b) Fluorescence In-Situ Hybridization (FISH) testing, which
analyzes abnormalities at the chromosome and gene levels, c) flow cytometry testing services, which analyzes gene
expression of specific markers inside cells and on cell surfaces, d) morphological testing, which analyzes cellular
structures and e) molecular testing which involves, analysis of DNA and RNA and predict the clinical significance of
various cancers.  All of these testing services are widely used in the diagnosis and prognosis of various types of cancer.

Our Common Stock is listed on the OTCBB under the symbol “NGNM.OB.”

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles
requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Our management routinely
makes judgments and estimates about the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain.  For a complete description of
our significant accounting policies, see Note B to our Consolidated Financial Statements included herein.

Our critical accounting policies are those where we have made difficult, subjective or complex judgments in making
estimates, and/or where these estimates can significantly impact our financial results under different assumptions and
conditions. Our critical accounting policies are:

• Revenue Recognition

• Accounts Receivable

• Accounting For Contingencies
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• Stock Based Compensation

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue
Recognition”, when the price is fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service is
performed and collectability of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.

The Company’s specialized diagnostic services are performed based on a written test requisition form and revenues are
recognized once the diagnostic services have been performed, the results have been delivered to the ordering physician,
the payor has been identified and eligibility and insurance have been verified.  These diagnostic services are billed to
various payors, including Medicare, commercial insurance companies, other directly billed healthcare institutions such
as hospitals and clinics, and individuals.  The Company reports revenues from contracted payors, including Medicare,
certain insurance
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companies and certain healthcare institutions, based on the contractual rate, or in the case of Medicare, published fee
schedules.  The Company reports revenues from non-contracted payors, including certain insurance companies and
individuals, based on the amount expected to be collected.  The difference between the amount billed and the amount
expected to be collected from non-contracted payors is recorded as a contractual allowance to arrive at the reported
revenues.  The expected revenues from non-contracted payors are based on the historical collection experience of each
payor or payor group, as appropriate.  In each reporting period, the Company reviews its historical collection experience
for non-contracted payors and adjusts its expected revenues for current and subsequent periods accordingly.

Trade Accounts Receivable and Allowance For Doubtful Accounts

We record accounts receivable net of estimated discounts, contractual allowances and allowances for bad debts.  We
provide for accounts receivable that could become uncollectible in the future by establishing an allowance to reduce the
carrying value of such receivables to their estimated net realizable value.  We estimate this allowance based on the
aging of our accounts receivable and our historical collection experience for each type of payor.  Receivables are
charged off to the allowance account at the time they are deemed uncollectible.  In the event that the actual amount of
payment received differs from the previously recorded estimate of an account receivable, an adjustment to revenue is
made in the current period at the time of final collection and settlement.  During 2007, we recorded approximately
$24,000 of net total incremental revenue from tests in which we underestimated the revenue in 2006 relative to the
amounts that we were ultimately paid in 2007.  This was less than 1% of our total FY 2007 revenue and less than 1% of
our FY 2006 revenue. These adjustments are not material to the Company’s results of operations in any period
presented.  Our estimates of net revenue are subject to change based on the contractual status and payment policies of
the third party payor’s with whom we deal.  We regularly refine our estimates in order to make our estimated revenue for
future periods as accurate as possible based on our most recent collection experience with each third party payor.

The following tables present the dollars and percentage of the Company’s net accounts receivable from customers
outstanding by aging category at December 31, 2007 and 2006.  All of our receivables were pending approval by
third-party payors as of the date that the receivables were recorded:

NEOGENOMICS AGING OF RECEIVABLES BY PAYOR GROUP

December 31, 2007
Payor
Group 0-30 % 30-60 % 60-90 % 90-120 % > 120 % Total %
Client $ 159,649 4% $ 148,909 4% $ 200,073 5% $ 69,535 2% $ 122,753 3% $ 700,919 19%
Commercial
Insurance 427,876 12% 184,761 5% 126,477 3% 66,922 2% 487,387 13% 1,293,423 35%
Medicaid 918 0% 904 0% 2,331 0% 1,292 0% 11,892 0% 17,337 0%
Medicare 662,560 18% 293,870 8% 94,755 3% 70,579 2% 486,002 13% 1,607,766 44%
Self Pay 9,745 0% 6,324 0% 6,889 0% 3,238 0% 5,658 0% 31,854 1%
Total $ 1,260,748 34% $ 634,768 17% $ 430,525 12% $ 211,566 6% $ 1,113,692 31% $ 3,651,299 100%

December 31, 2006
Payor
Group 0-30 % 30-60 % 60-90 % 90-120 % > 120 % Total %
Client $ 146,005 9% $ 150,698 10% $ 79,481 5% $ 8,606 1% $ 33,827 2% $ 418,617 27%
Commercial
Insurance 133,333 8% 105,464 7% 58,026 4% 48,847 3% 35,248 2% 380,918 24%
Medicaid 325 0% 650 0% 2,588 0% 400 0% - 0% 3,963 0%
Medicare 293,298 19% 282,463 18% 71,283 5% 68,830 4% 56,598 4% 772,472 49%
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Self Pay 135 0% 2,058 0% 723 0% - 0% - 0% 2,916 0%
Total $ 573,096 36% $ 541,333 35% $ 212,101 13% $ 126,683 8% $ 125,673 8% $ 1,578,886 100%

The large increase in our accounts receivable greater than 120 days as of December 31, 2007 as compared to December
31, 2006 was the result of several factors.  In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company implemented a new billing
system that was not scalable as our volume continued to grow and this made accounts receivable management very
difficult.  In 2007, as we grew, we determined that we also needed proper management in this area.  Accordingly, in the
fourth quarter of 2007, we reorganized our entire billing department and replaced the existing billing system and we
discovered an issue with incorrectly filed claims, that were aged significantly and the clean-up of these claims was
ongoing in the first quarter of 2008.  The new billing system went live in March 2008 and is designed specifically for
laboratory billing

Based on a detailed analysis, we believe that our $415,000 allowance for doubtful accounts, which represents
approximately 11% of our receivables balance, is adequate as of December 31, 2007.  At December 31, 2006, our
allowance for doubtful accounts was $103,000 or 6% of accounts receivable.
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Accounting for Contingencies

When involved in litigation or claims, in the normal course of our business, we follow the provisions of SFAS No. 5,
Accounting for Contingencies, to record litigation or claim-related expenses. We evaluate, among other factors, the
degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. We
accrue for settlements when the outcome is probable and the amount or range of the settlement can be reasonably
estimated. In addition to our judgments and use of estimates, there are inherent uncertainties surrounding litigation and
claims that could result in actual settlement amounts that differ materially from estimates.  With respect to claims
brought against the Company by Accupath Diagnostics Laboratories, Inc. (“US Labs”), on April 23, 2008, the Company
and US Labs entered into a settlement agreement and release (the “Settlement Agreement”); whereby, both parties agreed
to settle and resolve all claims asserted in and arising out of the aforementioned lawsuit.  Pursuant to the Settlement
Agreement, we are required to pay $500,000 to US Labs, of which $250,000 was paid on May 1, 2008 with funds from
the Company’s insurance carrier and the remaining $250,000 shall be paid by the Company on the last day of each
month in equal installments of $31,250 commencing on May 31, 2008.  Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement,
there are certain provisions agreed to in the event of default.

Stock Based Compensation.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stock-based awards and our Employee Stock Purchase Plan using the
intrinsic method in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, FASB
Interpretation No. 44 (“FIN 44”) “Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock-Based Compensation, an
Interpretation of APB Opinion No. 25”,FASB Technical Bulletin No. 97-1 (“FTB 97-1”) “Accounting under Statement 123
for Certain Employee Stock Purchase Plans with a Look-Back Option”, and related interpretations and provided the
required pro forma disclosures of SFAS 123  ”Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation “.  In accordance with APB 25,
non-cash, stock-based compensation expense was recognized for any options for which the exercise price was below the
market price on the actual grant date and for any grants that were modified from their original terms.  The charge for the
options with an exercise price below the market price on the actual grant date was equal to the number of options
multiplied by the difference between the exercise price and the market price of the option shares on the actual grant
date.  That expense was amortized over the vesting period of the options.  The charge for modifications of options in
general was equal to the number of options modified multiplied by the difference between the market price of the
options on the modification date and the grant price.  The charge for modified options was taken over the remaining
service period, if any.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123(R), which requires the measurement at fair value and recognition of
compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards.  We selected the modified prospective method of adoption
which recognizes compensation expense for the fair value of all stock-based payments granted after January 1, 2006 and
for the fair value of all awards granted to employees prior to January 1, 2006 that remain unvested on the date of
adoption.  We used the trinomial lattice valuation model to estimate fair value of stock option grants made on or after
January 1, 2006.  The trinomial lattice option-pricing model requires the estimation of highly complex and subjective
variables.  These variables include expected volatility, expected life of the award, expected dividend rate and expected
risk-free rate of return.  The assumptions for expected volatility and expected life are the two assumptions that most
significantly affect the grant date fair value.  The expected volatility is a blended rate based on both the historical
volatility of our stock price and the volatility of certain peer company stock prices.  The expected term assumption for
our stock option grants was determined using trinomial lattice simulation model which projects future option holder
behavior patterns based upon actual historical option exercises.  SFAS 123(R) also requires the application of a
forfeiture rate to the calculated fair value of stock options on a prospective basis.  Our assumption of forfeiture rate
represents the historical rate at which our stock-based awards were surrendered prior to vesting over the trailing four
years.  If our assumption of forfeiture rate changes, we would have to make a cumulative adjustment in the current
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period.  We monitor the assumptions used to compute the fair value of our stock options and similar awards on a regular
basis and we will revise our assumptions as appropriate.   See Note B  –  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
section, “Stock-based compensation” subsection and Note F – Stock Based Compensation in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements of our Annual Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on April 14, 2008 for more
information regarding the valuation of stock-based compensation.  Results Of Operations For The Three Months Ended
March 31, 2008 As Compared To The Three Months Ended March 31, 2007
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Results Of Operations For The Three Months Ended March 31, 2008 As Compared To The Three Months Ended
March 31, 2007

Revenue

During the three months ended March 31, 2008, our revenues increased approximately 86% to $4,162,800 from
$2,242,700 during the three months ended March 31, 2007. This was the result of a 61% increase in testing volume and
a 15% increase in average revenue per test. This volume increase is the result of wide acceptance of our bundled testing
product offering and our industry leading turnaround times resulting in new customers.  The increase in average revenue
per test is primarily attributable to an increase in certain Medicare reimbursements for 2008, and a modest increase in
flow cytometry testing which has the highest reimbursement rate of any test we offer. Revenues per test are a function
of both the nature of the test and the payor (Medicare, Medicaid, third party insurer, institutional client etc.).  Our policy
is to record as revenue the amounts that we expect to collect based on published or contracted amounts and/or prior
experience with the payor.   We have established a reserve for uncollectible amounts based on estimates of what we will
collect from a) third-party payors with whom we do not have a contractual arrangement or sufficient experience to
accurately estimate the amount of reimbursement we will receive, b) co-payments directly from patients, and c) those
procedures that are not covered by insurance or other third party payors.   On March 31, 2008, our allowance for
doubtful accounts was $390,275, a 209% increase from our balance at March 31, 2007 of $126,363.  The allowance for
doubtful accounts was approximately 11.7% and 6.0% of accounts receivables on March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007,
respectively.   This increase was the result of an increase in accounts receivable due to increased revenues and the
increase in the percentage of our aged accounts receivable greater than 120 days.  The increase in accounts receivable
greater than 120 days old was primarily the result of two factors.  First, in July 2007 we determined that our current
billing system was not scalable as our volume grew and made management of accounts receivable very
difficult.  Second, in 2007 we determined that we were understaffed and lacked adequate management in our billing
department.  Therefore, in the fourth quarter of 2007 we reorganized our billing department and in the first quarter of
2008 we implemented a new billing system.  We are still in the process of resolving previous billing claim issues which
has resulted in a much higher allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of accounts receivable.  As a result, the
percentage of our claims over 120 days at March 31, 2008 declined 5% from the previous period ended December 31,
2007.

Cost of Revenue

During the three months ended March 31, 2008, our cost of revenue, as a percentage of revenue, increased from 42% for
the three months ended March 31, 2007 to 45%.  This was primarily a result of increases in the number of employees
and related benefits as well as increased facilities and other related costs as the Company expanded in 2007 in order to
have additional capacity in order to handle anticipated growth in 2008.

General and Administrative Expenses

For the three months ended March 31, 2008, our general and administrative expenses increased by approximately 76%
to $2,514,600 from approximately $1,426,500 for the three months ended March 31, 2007. General and administrative
expenses, as a percentage of sales were 60% for the three months ended March 31, 2008, compared with 64% for the
three months ended March 31, 2007, a decrease of 4%.  This decrease was primarily a net result of an 8% decrease in
legal expense as a percentage of revenue offset by a 5% increase in bad debt expense as a percentage of revenue.  Bad
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debt expense for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007 was $425,500 and $110,000,
respectively.  This increase was necessitated by the significant increase in revenues noted above and to a lesser extent
by the issues denoted in the revenue paragraph above  and in our critical accounting policies as described herein.

Other Income/Expense

Interest expense, net decreased approximately 44% in the first three months of 2008 to approximately $55,100 from
approximately $98,900 for the first three months of 2007.  This decrease is primarily a result of the different amounts
and borrowing instruments in place in the respective periods.  Interest expense for the period ended March 31, 2008 is
related to our new credit facility, while interest expense for the period ended March 31, 2007 was related to our previous
credit facility with Aspen.
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Net Loss

As a result of the foregoing, our net loss increased from approximately ($219,500) for the three months ended March
31, 2007 to approximately ($265,400) for the three months ended March 31, 2008, an increase in loss of $45,818 or
21%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the three months ended March 31, 2008, our operating activities provided approximately $201,400 in cash
compared with $382,000 used in the three months ended March 31, 2007.  We also spent approximately $23,100 on new
equipment during the three months ended March 31, 2008, compared with $24,400 for the three months ended March
31, 2007.  At March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $330,358 and
$575,393, respectively. At the present time, we anticipate that based on our current business plan and operations, our
existing cash balances, the availability of our accounts receivable line with CapitalSource, that we will have adequate
cash for at least the next twelve months.  This estimate of our cash needs does not include any additional funding which
may be required for growth in our business beyond that which is planned, strategic transactions, or acquisitions.  In the
event that the Company grows faster than we currently anticipate or we engage in strategic transactions or acquisitions
and our cash on hand and/or our availability under the CapitalSource Credit Facility is not sufficient to meet our
financing needs, we may need to raise additional capital from other resources.  In such event, the Company may not be
able to obtain such funding on attractive terms, or at all, and the Company may be required to curtail its operations.  In
the event that we do need to raise additional capital, we would seek to raise this additional money through issuing a
combination of debt and/or equity securities primarily through banks and/or other large institutional investors.  On
March 31, 2008, we had $330,358 in cash on hand and approximately $1,036,000 of availability under our Credit
Facility.

Results Of Operations For The Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2007 As Compared With The Twelve Months
Ended December 31, 2006

Revenue

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, our revenues increased approximately 78% to $11,505,000 from
$6,476,000 during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. This was the result of an increase in testing volume of 64%
and a 9% increase in average revenue per test. This volume increase is the result of wide acceptance of our bundled
testing product offering and our industry leading turnaround times resulting in new customers.  The increase in average
revenue per test is a direct result of restructuring arrangements with certain existing customers that increased average
revenue per test and realigning our pricing policies with new customers.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, our average revenue per customer requisition increased by
approximately 4% to $702.15 from $677.19 in 2006.  Our average revenue per test increased by approximately 9% to
$547.90 in 2007 from $504.44 in 2006.  This was primarily a result of price increases to certain customers as well as
product and payor mix changes.   Revenues per test are a function of both the nature of the test and the payor (Medicare,
Medicaid, third party insurer, institutional client etc.).  Our policy is to record as revenue the amounts that we expect to
collect based on published or contracted amounts and/or prior experience with the payor.   We have established a
reserve for uncollectible amounts based on estimates of what we will collect from a) third-party payors with whom we
do not have a contractual arrangement or sufficient experience to accurately estimate the amount of reimbursement we
will receive, b) co-payments directly from patients, and c) those procedures that are not covered by insurance or other
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third party payors.   On December 31, 2007, our Allowance for Doubtful Accounts was approximately $414,500, a
301% increase from our balance at December 31, 2006 of $103,500.  The allowance for doubtful accounts was
approximately 11.3% and 6.5% of accounts receivables on December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006,
respectively.   This increase was the result of an increase in Accounts Receivable due to increased revenues and the
increase in the percentage of our aged accounts receivable greater than 120 days.

Cost of Revenue

During 2007, our cost of revenue, as a percentage of gross revenue, increased from 43% in 2006 to 48% in 2007.  This
was primarily a result of increases in the number of employees and related benefits as well as increased lab supply and
postage/delivery costs from opening new lines of business and meeting the increase in testing volumes.
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Gross Profit

As a result of the 78% increase in revenue and our 48% cost of revenue, our gross profit increased 61% to $5,982,000 in
2007, from a gross profit of $3,717,000 in 2006. When expressed as a percentage of revenue, our gross margins
decreased from 57.4% in 2006 to 52.1% in 2007.  The increase in gross profit was largely a result of higher testing
volumes in 2007, and the decrease in gross profit margin was due to the increased costs in 2007 for employee labor and
benefits, lab supplies, and postage and delivery costs.

General and Administrative Expenses

During 2007, our general and administrative expenses increased by approximately 155% to $9,123,000 from
approximately $3,577,000 in 2006. General and administrative expenses, as a percentage of sales was 79% as of
December 31, 2007, compared with 55% as of December 31, 2006, an increase of 24%.  This increase was primarily a
result of higher personnel and personnel-related expenses associated with the increase in management and sales and
administrative headcount that was necessary to manage the significant increases in test volumes described above. In
addition to management, sales, and administrative personnel, our general and administrative expenses also include all
overhead and technology expenses as well, which have also increased as a result of higher test volumes.  We also
incurred significant expenses related to scaling our operations to meet our ongoing business plan and significant
expenses associated with the litigation with US Labs that was recently settled (see Note L to our financial
statements).  For the year ended December 31, 2007, we incurred approximately $619,000 of litigation related expenses,
net of reimbursements from our insurance company, as compared to approximately $159,000 of such litigation related
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006.  Bad debt expense for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
was $1,013,804 and $444,133, respectively.  This increase was necessitated by the significant increase in revenues noted
above and to a lesser extent by the issues denoted in our critical accounting policies regarding accounts receivable
management.

Other Income/Expense

Net other income/expense, which primarily consists of interest expense, decreased approximately 11% in 2007 to
approximately $239,000 from approximately $270,000 for 2006.  Interest expense is comprised of interest payable on
advances under our Credit Facility with Aspen and interest paid for capital lease obligations.  The year-over-year
decrease is primarily attributed to paying off the Aspen credit facility on June 7, 2007.

Net Loss

As a result of the foregoing, our net loss increased from ($130,000) in 2006 to ($3,380,000) in 2007, an increase of
approximately 2,500%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, our operating activities used approximately $2,643,000 in cash
compared with $694,000 used in the fiscal year ended 2006.  This amount primarily represented cash tied-up in
receivables as a result of increased revenues and to a lesser extent cash used to pay the expenses associated with our
operations as well as fund our other working capital.  We also spent approximately $516,000 on new equipment in 2007
compared with $399,000 in 2006.  Through the sale of equity securities, which provided approximately $5,287,000, we
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were able to retire the $1,675,000 due on the Aspen Credit facility and finance operations. This resulted in net cash
provided by financing activities of approximately $3,443,000 in 2007 compared to $1,208,000 in 2006.  At December
31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $211,000, and $126,000
respectively.

On January 18, 2006, the Company entered into a binding letter agreement (the “Aspen Letter Agreement”) with Aspen,
which provided, among other things, that:

(a)           Aspen waived certain pre-emptive rights in connection with the sale of $400,000 of our Common Stock at a
purchase price of $0.20 per/share and the granting of 900,000 warrants with an exercise price of $0.26 per/share to SKL
Limited Partnership, LP (“SKL” as more fully described below) in exchange for five (5) year warrants to purchase
150,000 shares at an exercise price of $0.26 per/share (the “Waiver Warrants”).

32

Edgar Filing: DYNACQ HEALTHCARE INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 55



(b)           Aspen had the right, up to April 30, 2006, to purchase up to $200,000 of restricted shares of the Company’s
Common Stock at a purchase price per share of $0.20 per/share (1,000,000 shares) and receive a five (5) year warrant to
purchase 450,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.26 per/share in connection with such
purchase (the “Equity Purchase Rights”). On March 14, 2006, Aspen exercised its Equity Purchase Rights.

(c)           Aspen and the Company amended the Loan Agreement (the “Credit Facility Amendment”), dated March, 2005
to extend the maturity date until September 30, 2007, and to modify certain covenants.  In addition, Aspen had the right,
through April 30, 2006, to provide the Company up to $200,000 of additional secured indebtedness to the Company
under the Credit Facility Amendment and to receive a five year warrant to purchase up to 450,000 shares of the
Company’s Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.26 per/share (the “New Debt Rights”).  On March 30, 2006, Aspen
exercised its New Debt Rights and entered into the definitive transaction documentation for the Credit Facility
Amendment and other such documents required under the Aspen Agreement.

(d)           The Company agreed to amend and restate the warrant agreement, dated March 23, 2005, which more
formally implemented the original agreement made on February 18, 2005 with respect to such warrants, to provide that
all 2,500,000 warrant shares (the “Existing Warrants”) were vested and the exercise price per share was reset to $0.31 per
share.  The difference, between the value of the warrants on the original February, 18, 2005 measurement date which
was calculated using an exercise price of $0.50 per/share, and their value on the January 18, 2006 modification date
which was calculated using an exercise price of $0.31 per/share, amounted to $2,365 and, was credited to additional
paid-in capital and included in deferred financing fees.

(e)           The Company agreed to amend the Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 23, 2005 (the “Registration
Rights Agreement”), between the parties to incorporate the Initial Warrants, the Waiver Warrants and any new shares or
warrants issued to Aspen in connection with the Equity Purchase Rights or the New Debt Rights.

(f)           All Waiver Warrants, the Existing Warrants and all warrants issued to Aspen and SKL in connection with the
purchase of equity or debt securities are exercisable at the option of the holder for a term of five years, and each such
warrant contains provisions that allow for a physical exercise, a net cash exercise or a net share settlement.  We used the
Black-Scholes pricing model to estimate the fair value of all such warrants as of the date of issue for each, using the
following  approximate assumptions: dividend yield of 0 %, expected volatility of 14.6 – 19.3% (depending on the date
of agreement), risk-free interest rate of 4.5%, and a term expected life of 3 - 5 years.

The Aspen Credit Facility was paid in full in June 2007 and it expired on September 30, 2007.

During the period from January 18 through 21, 2006, the Company entered into agreements with four (4) other
shareholders who are parties to a Shareholders’ Agreement, dated March 23, 2005, to exchange five (5) year warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 150,000 shares of stock at a purchase price of $0.26 per/share for such shareholders’ waiver of
their pre-emptive rights under the Shareholders’ Agreement.

On January 21, 2006 the Company entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription”) with SKL Family Limited
Partnership, LP, a New Jersey limited partnership, whereby SKL purchased 2.0 million shares (the “Subscription Shares”)
of the Company’s Common Stock at a purchase price of $0.20 per/share for $400,000. Under the terms of the
Subscription, the Subscription Shares are restricted for a period of twenty-four (24) months and then carry piggyback
registration rights to the extent that exemptions under Rule 144 are not available to SKL. In connection with the
Subscription, the Company also issued a five (5) year warrant to purchase 900,000 shares of the Company’s Common
Stock at an exercise price of $0.26 per/share.  SKL has no previous affiliation with the Company.

On June 6, 2005, we entered into a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement (the “SEDA”) with Cornell Capital Partners,
LP.  Pursuant to the SEDA, the Company could, at its discretion, periodically sell to Cornell Capital Partners, LP shares
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of common stock for a total purchase price of up to $5.0 million.    On August 1, 2007, the SEDA expired and we
decided not to renew it.
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The following sales of common stock were made under our SEDA with Cornell Capital Partners LP since it was first
declared effective on August 1, 2005:

Request Date
Completion
Date

Shares of
Common
Stock

Gross
Proceeds

Yorkville
Fee Escrow Fee

Net
Proceeds ASP(1)

8/29/2005 9/8/2005 63,776 $ 25,000 $ 1,250 $ 500 $ 23,250

12/10/2005 12/18/2005 241,779 50,000 2,500 500 47,000

Subtotal – 2005 305,555 $ 75,000 $ 3,750 $ 1,000 $ 70,250 $ 0.25

7/19/2006 7/28/2006 83,491 53,000 2,500 500 50,000

8/8/2006 8/16/2006 279,486 250,000 12,500 500 237,000

10/18/2006 10/23/2006 167,842 200,000 10,000 500 189,500

Subtotal – 2006 530,819 $ 503,000 $ 25,000 $ 1,500 $ 476,500 $ 0.95

12/29/2006 1/10/2007 98,522 150,000 7,500 500 142,000

1/16/2007 1/24/2007 100,053 150,000 7,500 500 142,000

2/1/2007 2/12/2007 65,902 100,000 5,000 500 94,500

2/19/2007 2/28/2007 166,611 250,000 12,500 500 237,000

2/28/2007 3/7/2007 180,963 250,000 12,500 500 237,000

4/5/2007 4/16/2007 164,777 250,000 12,500 500 237,000

4/20/2007 4/30/2007 173,467 250,000 12,500 500 237,000

Subtotal – 2007 950,295 $ 1,400,000 $ 70,000 $ 3,500 $ 1,326,500 $ 1.48

Total Since
Inception 1,786, 669 $ 1,978,000 $ 98,750 $ 6,000 $ 1,873,250 $ 1.19

(1) Average Selling Price of shares issued.

During the period from May 31, 2007 through June 6, 2007, we sold 2,666,667 shares of our Common Stock to ten
unaffiliated accredited investors (the “Investors”) at a price of $1.50 per share in a private placement of our Common
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Stock (the “Private Placement”).  The Private Placement generated gross proceeds to the Company of $4.0 million, and
after estimated transaction costs, the Company received net cash proceeds of approximately $3.8 million.  The Company
also issued warrants to purchase 98,417 shares of our Common Stock to Noble, in consideration for its services as a
placement agent for the Private Placement and paid Noble a cash fee of $147,625.  Additionally, the Company issued to
Aspen Capital Advisors, LLC (“ACA”) warrants to purchase 250,000 shares at $1.50 per share and paid ACA a cash fee
of $52,375 in consideration for ACA’s services to the Company in connection with the Private Placement.   The Private
Placement involved the issuance of the aforementioned unregistered securities in transactions that we believed were
exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”).  All of the aforementioned
stockholders received registration rights (“Registration Rights”) for the Private Placement shares so purchased and we
filed a registration
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statement on Form SB-2 on July 12, 2007 to register these shares (the “Registration Statement”).  Certain of the Investors
also purchased 1,500,000 shares and 500,000 warrants from Aspen in a separate transaction that occurred
simultaneously with the Private Placement and the Company agreed to an assignment of Aspen’s registration rights for
such shares and warrants, and those shares and warrants were included in this Registration Statement.

The Registration Rights contained a provision that if the Registration Statement was not declared effective within 120
days of the Private Placement, we would be responsible for partial relief of the damages resulting from a holder’s
inability to sell the shares covered by the Registration Statement.  Beginning after 120 days from the date that the
Private Placement was consummated, the Company is obligated to pay as liquidated damages to each holder of shares
covered by the Registration Statement (“Registered Securities”) an amount equal to one half percent (0.5%) of the
purchase price of the Registered Securities for each thirty (30) day period that the Registration Statement is not effective
after the required effective date specified in the Registration Rights Agreement.  Such liquidated damages may be paid,
at the holder’s option, either in cash or shares of our Common Stock, after demand therefore has been made.

In August, 2007, we received a comment letter from the Accounting Staff of the SEC regarding certain disclosure and
accounting questions with respect to our FY 2006 annual report filed on Form 10-KSB.  In September 2007, we
responded to the SEC Staff and filed an amended Form 10-KSB/A that responded to the matters raised by the Staff.  In
October 2007, we received a follow up comment letter from the Staff that continued to question the accounting we use
in connection with non-cash employee stock-based compensation and warrants issued under the newly adopted
SFAS 123(R).   We responded to the Staff’s October 2007 letter in March 2008, and resolved all open issues in May
2008.

As a result of the aforementioned SEC correspondence, the Company was not able to register the securities issued in the
Private Placement within the allowed 120 period, and was thus responsible for damages.  Accordingly, as of
December 31, 2007, in accordance with FASB Staff Position 00-19-2, “Accounting for Registration Payment
Arrangements” we have accrued approximately $282,000 in penalties as liquidated damages for the period from the end
of the 120 day period through May 2008.  Such penalties are included in Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities.

On June 6, 2007, the Company issued to Lewis Asset Management (“LAM”) 500,000 shares of Common Stock at a
purchase price of $0.26 per share and received gross proceeds of $130,000 upon the exercise by LAM of 500,000
warrants which were purchased by LAM from Aspen on that day.

On June 7, 2007, we used part of the net proceeds of the Private Placement to pay off the $1.7 million principal balance
of the Aspen Credit Facility.

On August 15, 2007 our Board of Directors voted to issue warrants to purchase 533,334 shares of our Common Stock to
the investors who purchased shares in the Private Placement.  Such warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share
and are exercisable for a period of two years.  Such warrants also have a provision for piggyback registration rights in
the first year and demand registration rights in the second year.

On February 1, 2008, we entered into a Revolving Credit and Security Agreement (“Credit Facility” or “Credit Agreement”)
with CapitalSource Finance LLC (“Lender”) pursuant to which the Lender shall make available to us a revolving credit
facility in a maximum principal amount at any time outstanding of up to Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) (the
“Facility Cap”). Subject to the provisions of the Credit Agreement, the Lender shall make advances to us from time to
time during the three (3) year term following the closing date, and the revolving Credit Facility may be drawn, repaid
and redrawn from time to time as permitted under the Credit Agreement. Interest on outstanding advances under the
Credit Facility shall be payable monthly in arrears on the first day of each calendar month at an annual rate of
one-month LIBOR plus 3.25% in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement, subject to a LIBOR floor of
3.14%.  As of March 31, 2008, the effective annual interest rate of the Agreement was 6.39%.  To secure the payment
and performance in full of the Obligations (as defined in the Credit Agreement), we granted to the Lender a continuing
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security interest in and lien upon, all of our rights, title and interest in and to our Accounts (as such term is defined in
the Credit Agreement), which primarily consist of accounts receivable.  Furthermore, pursuant to the Credit Agreement,
the Parent Company guaranteed the punctual payment when due, whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or
otherwise, of all of our obligations. The Parent Company’s guaranty is a continuing guarantee and shall remain in force
and effect until the indefeasible cash payment in full of the Guaranteed Obligations (as defined in the Credit Agreement)
and all other amounts payable under the Credit Agreement.
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At the present time, we anticipate that based on our current business plan and operations, our existing cash balances, the
availability of our accounts receivable line with Capital Source, and loans from our directors that we will have adequate
cash for at least the next twelve months.  This estimate of our cash needs does not include any additional funding which
may be required for growth in our business beyond that which is planned, strategic transactions or acquisitions.  In the
event that the Company grows faster than we currently anticipate or we engage in strategic transactions or acquisitions
and our cash on hand and/or our availability under the Capital Source Credit Facility or other loans from our directors is
not sufficient to meet our financing needs, we may need to raise additional capital from other resources.  In such event,
the Company may not be able to obtain such funding on attractive terms or at all and the Company may be required to
curtail its operation.  In the event that we do need to raise additional capital, we would seek to raise this additional
money through issuing a combination of debt and/or equity securities primarily to banks and/or other large institutional
investors.  On March 31, 2008, we had $330,358 in cash on hand and approximately $1,036,000 of availability under
our Credit Facility.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”
(SFAS 159”).  SFAS 159 provides companies with an option to irrevocably elect to measure certain financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis with the resulting changes in fair value recorded in
earnings.  The objective of SFAS 159 is to reduce both the complexity in accounting for financial instruments and the
volatility in earnings caused by using different measurement attributes for financial assets and financial
liabilities.  SFAS 159 became effective for the Company as of January 1, 2008 and as of this effective date, the
Company has elected not to apply the fair value option to any of its financial assets for financial liabilities.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 provides a new
single authoritative definition of fair value and provides enhanced guidance for measuring the fair value of assets and
liabilities and requires additional disclosures related to the extent to which companies measure assets and liabilities at
fair value, the information used to measure fair value, and the effect of fair value measurements on earnings.  SFAS 157
is effective for the Company as of January 1, 2008 for financial assets and financial liabilities within its scope and it is
not expected to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.  In February 2008, the FASB issued
FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2 “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157” (“FSP FAS 157-2”) which defers the
effective date of SFAS 157 for all non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities, except those that are recognized or
disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually), for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years for items within the scope of FSP FAS 157-2.  The
Company is currently assessing the impact, if any, of SFAS 157 and FSP FAS 157-2 for non-financial assets and
non-financial liabilities on its consolidated financial statements.

US Labs Settlement

On April 23, 2008, the Company and US Labs entered into the Settlement Agreement; whereby, both parties agreed to
settle and resolve all claims asserted in and arising out of US Labs’ lawsuit against the Company and certain of its
officers and employees. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, we are required to pay $500,000 to US Labs, of which
$250,000 was paid on May 1, 2008 with funds from the Company’s insurance carrier and the remaining $250,000 shall
be paid by the Company on the last day of each month in equal installments of $31,250 commencing on May 31,
2008.   Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement, there are certain provisions agreed to in the event of default.

Employment Contracts
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On March 12, 2008, we entered into an employment agreement with Robert Gasparini, our President and Chief
Scientific Officer to extend his employment with the Company for an additional four year term.  This employment
agreement was retroactive to January 1, 2008 and provides that it will automatically renew after the initial four year
term for one year increments unless either party provides written notice to the other party with their intention to
terminate the agreement 90 days before the end of the initial term.  The employment agreement specifies an initial base
salary of $225,000/year with specified salary increases tied to meeting revenue goals.  Mr. Gasparini is also entitled to
receive cash bonuses for any given fiscal year in an amount equal to 30% of his base salary if he meets certain targets
established by the Board of Directors.  In addition, Mr. Gasparini was granted 784,000 stock options that have a seven
year term so long as Mr. Gasparini remains an employee of the Company.  These options are scheduled to vest
according to the passage of time and the meeting of certain performance-based milestones.  Mr. Gasparini’s employment
agreement also specifies that he is entitled to four weeks of paid vacation per year and other insurance benefits. In the
event that Mr. Gasparini is terminated without cause by the Company, the Company has agreed to pay Mr. Gasparini’s
base salary and maintain his employee benefits for a period of twelve months.
36
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DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

NeoGenomics operates a network of cancer-focused testing laboratories.  The Company’s growing network of
laboratories currently offers the following types of testing services to pathologists, oncologists, urologists, hospitals, and
other laboratories throughout the United States:

a)           cytogenetics testing, which analyzes human chromosomes;

b)           Fluorescence In-Situ Hybridization (FISH) testing, which analyzes abnormalities at the chromosomal and gene
levels;

c)           flow cytometry testing, which analyzes gene expression of specific markers inside cells and on cell surfaces;
and

d)           molecular testing which involves analysis of DNA and RNA to diagnose and predict the clinical significance of
various genetic sequence disorders.

All of these testing services are widely utilized in the diagnosis and prognosis of various types of cancer.

The medical testing laboratory market can be broken down into three primary segments:

• clinical lab testing,

• anatomic pathology testing, and

• genetic and molecular testing.

Clinical laboratories are typically engaged in high volume, highly automated, lower complexity tests on easily procured
specimens such as blood and urine.  Clinical lab tests often involve testing of a less urgent nature, for example,
cholesterol testing and testing associated with routine physical exams.

AP testing involves evaluation of tissue, as in surgical pathology, or cells as in cytopathology.  The most widely
performed AP procedures include the preparation and interpretation of pap smears, skin biopsies, and tissue biopsies.

Genetic and molecular testing typically involves analyzing chromosomes, genes or base pairs of DNA or RNA for
abnormalities.  New tests are being developed at an accelerated pace, thus this market niche continues to expand
rapidly.  Genetic and molecular testing requires highly specialized equipment and credentialed individuals (typically
MD or PhD level) to certify results and typically yields the highest average revenue per test of the three market
segments.   The estimated size of this market is $4-5 Billion and growing at an annual rate of greater than 25%.

NeoGenomics’, primary focus is to provide high complexity laboratory testing for the community-based pathology and
oncology marketplace.  Within these key market segments, we currently provide our services to pathologists and
oncologists in the United States that perform bone marrow and/or peripheral blood sampling for the diagnosis of blood
and lymphoid tumors (leukemias and lymphomas) and archival tissue referral for analysis of solid tumors such as breast
cancer.  A secondary strategic focus targets community-based urologists due to the availability of UroVysion®, a
FISH-based test for the initial diagnosis of bladder cancer and early detection of recurrent disease.  We focus on
community-based practitioners for two reasons: First, academic pathologists and associated clinicians tend to have their
testing needs met within the confines of their university affiliation.  Secondly, most of the cancer care in the United
States is administered by community based practitioners, not in academic centers, due to ease of local
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access.  Moreover, within the community-based pathologist segment it is not our intent to willingly compete with our
customers for testing services that they may seek to perform themselves.   Fee-for-service pathologists for example,
derive a significant portion of their annual revenue from the interpretation of biopsy specimens.  Unlike other larger
laboratories, which strive to perform 100% of such testing services themselves, we do not compete with our customers
for such specimens. Rather, our high complexity cancer testing focus is a natural extension of and complementary to
many of the services that our community-based customers often perform within their own practices.  As such, we
believe our relationship as a non-competitive consultant, empowers these physicians to expand their testing breadth and
provide a menu of services that matches or exceeds the level of service found in academic centers of excellence around
the country.
37
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We continue to make progress growing our testing volumes and revenue beyond our historically focused effort in
Florida due to our expanding field sales footprint.  As of May 15, 2008, NeoGenomics’ sales and marketing organization
totaled 14 individuals, and we have received business from 26 states throughout the country.  Recent, key hires included
various territory business managers (sales representatives) in the Northeastern, Southeastern, and Western states.  We
intend to continue to add additional sales and marketing personnel throughout FY 2008.  As more sales representatives
are added, we believe that the base of our business outside of Florida will continue to grow and ultimately eclipse that
which is generated within the state.

We are successfully competing in the marketplace based on the quality and comprehensiveness of our test results, and
our innovative flexible levels of service, industry-leading turn-around times, regionalization of laboratory operations
and ability to provide after-test support to those physicians requesting consultation.

2007 saw the refinement of our industry leading NeoFISHTM technical component-only FISH service offering.  Upon
the suggestion of our installed customer base, we made numerous usability and technical enhancements throughout last
year.  The result has been a product line for NeoGenomics that continues to resonate very well with our client
pathologists.  Utilizing NeoFISHTM, such clients are empowered to extend the outreach efforts of their practices and
exert a high level of sign out control over their referral work in a manner that was previously unobtainable.

NeoFLOWTM tech-only flow cytometry was launched as a companion service to NeoFISHTM in late 2007.  While not
a first to market product line for NeoGenomics, the significant breadth of the service offering together with high
usability scores from early customers indicate NeoFLOWTM will be a key growth driver in 2008.  Moreover, the
combination of NeoFLOWTM and NeoFISHTM serves to strengthen the market differentiation of each product line for
NeoGenomics and allows us to compete more favorably against larger, more entrenched competitors in our testing
niche.

We also recently increased our professional level staffing for global requisitions requiring interpretation in 2007.  We
currently employ three full-time MDs as our medical directors and pathologists, two PhDs as our scientific directors and
cytogeneticists, and two part-time MDs acting as consultants and backup pathologists for case sign out purposes.  We
have plans to hire several more hematopathologists in 2008 as our product mix continues to expand beyond tech-only
services and more sales emphasis is focused on our ability to issue consolidated reporting with case interpretation under
our Genetic Pathology Solutions (GPSTM) product line.

We believe NeoGenomics average 3-5 day turn-around time for our cytogenetics services continues to remain an
industry-leading benchmark for national laboratories.  The timeliness of results continues to increase the usage patterns
of cytogenetics and act as a driver for other add-on testing requests by our referring physicians.  Based on anecdotal
information, we believe that typical cytogenetics labs have 7-14 day turn-around times on average with some labs
running as high as 21 days.  Traditionally, longer turn-around times for cytogenetics tests have resulted in fewer FISH
and other molecular tests being ordered since there is an increased chance that the test results will not be returned within
an acceptable diagnostic window when other adjunctive diagnostic test results are available.  We believe our
turn-around times result in our referring physicians requesting more of our testing services in order to augment or
confirm other diagnostic tests, thereby giving us a significant competitive advantage in marketing our services against
those of other competing laboratories.

In 2007 we continued an aggressive campaign to regionalize our laboratory operations around the country to be closer to
our customers.  High complexity laboratories within the cancer testing niche have frequently operated a core facility on
one or both coasts to service the needs of their customers around the country.  Informal surveys of customers and
prospects uncovered a desire to do business with a laboratory with national breadth but with a more local presence.  In
such a scenario, specimen integrity, turnaround-time of results, client service support, and interaction with our medical
staff are all enhanced.  In 2007, NeoGenomics operated three laboratory locations in Fort Myers, FL; Irvine, CA; and
Nashville TN, each of which received the appropriate state, Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (CLIA), and
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College of American Pathologists (CAP) licenses and accreditations.  As situations dictate and opportunities arise, we
will continue to develop and open new laboratories, seamlessly linked together by our optimized Laboratory
Information System (LIS), to better meet the regionalized needs of our customers.

2007 also brought progress in the NeoGenomics Contract Research Organization (“CRO”) division based at our Irvine,
CA facility.  This division was created to take advantage of our core competencies in genetic and molecular high
complexity testing and act as a vehicle to compete for research projects and clinical trial support contracts in the
biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries.  The CRO division will also act as a development conduit for the
validation of new tests which can then be transferred to our clinical laboratories and be offered to our clients.  We
envision the CRO as a way to infuse some intellectual property into the mix of our services and in time create a more
“vertically integrated” laboratory that can potentially offer additional clinical services of a more proprietary nature.  2007
brought the first revenue to NeoGenomics’ CRO division.  This initial revenue stream was small due to the size of the
contracts closed.  In 2008, we hope to expand on our CRO revenue stream with more and larger contracts.
38
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As NeoGenomics grows, we anticipate offering additional tests that broaden our focus from genetic and molecular
testing to more traditional types of anatomic pathology testing (i.e. immunohistochemistry) that are complementary to
our current test offerings.  At no time do we expect to intentionally compete with fee-for-service pathologists for
services of this type and Company sales efforts will operate under a strict “right of first refusal” philosophy that supports
rather than undercuts the practice of community-based pathology.  We believe that by adding additional types of tests to
our product offering we will be able to capture increases in our testing volumes through our existing customer base as
well as more easily attract new customers via the ability to package our testing services more appropriately to the needs
of the market.

The above market strategy continues to bear fruit for the Company, resulting in strong year over year growth of 78% in
FY 2007 versus FY 2006.   Our average revenue/requisition in FY 2007 was approximately $702, which was an
increase of approximately 4% from FY 2006.   Our average revenue/test in FY 2007 was approximately $548, which
was an increase of approximately 9% over FY 2006.   FY 2007 saw a slight erosion of average tests per requisition due
to the overwhelming success of our UroVysion (bladder cancer) product line, which tends to be a singly ordered test
request.  New sales hires and a new focus on global workups with interpretation and our integrated GPS product line
should allow us to increase our average revenue per customer requisition in 2008.

FY 2007 FY 2006
% Inc
(Dec)

Customer Requisitions Received (Cases) 16,385 9,563 71.3%
Number of Tests Performed 20,998 12,838 63.6%
Average Number of Tests/Requisition 1.28 1.34 (4.5%)

Total Testing Revenue $ 11,504,725 $ 6,475,996 77.7%
Average Revenue/Requisition 702.15 $ 677.19 3.7%
Average Revenue/Test 547.90 $ 504.44 8.6%

We believe this bundled approach to testing represents a clinically sound practice that is medically valid. Within the
subspecialty field of hematopathology, such a bundled approach to the diagnosis and prognosis of blood and lymph
node diseases has become the standard of care throughout the country.  In addition, as the average number of tests
performed per requisition increases, we believe this should drive increases in our revenue and afford the Company
significant synergies and efficiencies in our operations and sales and marketing activities.

Business of NeoGenomics

Services

We currently offer four primary types of testing services:  cytogenetics, flow cytometry, FISH testing and molecular
testing.

Cytogenetics Testing.  Cytogenetics testing involves analyzing chromosomes taken from the nucleus of cells and
looking for abnormalities in a process called karyotyping.  A karyotype evaluates the entire 46 human chromosomes by
number and banding patterns to identify abnormalities associated with disease.  In cytogenetics testing, we typically
analyze  chromosomes from 20 different cells.  Examples of cytogenetics testing at NeoGenomics include bone marrow
aspirate or peripheral blood analysis to diagnose various types of leukemias and lymphomas.
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Cytogenetics testing by large national reference laboratories and other competitors has historically taken anywhere from
7-14 days on average to obtain a complete diagnostic report.  We believe that as a result of this timeframe, many
practitioners have refrained to some degree from ordering such tests because the results traditionally were not returned
within an acceptable diagnostic window.  NeoGenomics has designed our laboratory operations in order to complete
cytogenetics tests for most types of biological samples, produce a final diagnostic report  and make it available via fax
or online viewing within 3-5 days.  We have consistently delivered these turnaround times over the last three years
without taking shortcuts that can undermine the quality of the delivered result.  These turnaround times are among the
best in the industry and we believe that more physicians are incorporating cytogenetics testing into their diagnostic
regimens, thus affording NeoGenomics the opportunity to drive the incremental growth of our business via this product
line for the foreseeable future.
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Flow Cytometry Testing.  Flow cytometry testing analyzes clusters of differentiation on cell surfaces.  Gene expression
of many cancers creates protein-based clusters of differentiation on the cell surfaces that can then be traced back to a
specific lineage or type of cancer.  Flow cytometry is a method of separating liquid specimens or disaggregated tissue
into different constituent cell populations. This methodology is used to determine which of these cell types is abnormal
in a patient specific manner.  Flow cytometry is important in developing an accurate diagnosis, defining the patient’s
prognosis, and clarifying what treatment options may be optimal. Flow cytometry testing is performed using
sophisticated lasers and will typically analyze over 100,000 individual cells in an automated fashion.  Flow cytometry
testing is highly complementary with cytogenetics and the combination of these two testing methodologies allows the
results from one test to complement the findings of the other methodology, which can lead to a more accurate snapshot
of a patient’s disease state.

FISH Testing.  As an adjunct to traditional chromosome analysis, we offer Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization (FISH)
testing to extend our capabilities beyond routine cytogenetics.  FISH testing permits identification of the most frequently
occurring numerical chromosomal abnormalities in a rapid manner by looking at centromeres or specific genes that are
implicated in cancer.  During the past 5 years, FISH testing has demonstrated its considerable diagnostic potential. The
development of molecular probes by using DNA sequences of differing sizes, complexity, and specificity, coupled with
technological enhancements (direct labeling, multicolor probes, computerized signal amplification, and image analysis)
make FISH a powerful and diagnostic and prognostic tool.

Molecular Testing.  Molecular testing primarily involves the analysis of DNA to diagnose DNA & RNA abnormalities
in liquid and solid tumors.  There are approximately 1.0 – 2.0 million base pairs of DNA in each of the estimated 20,000
genes located across the 46 chromosomes in the nucleus of every cell.  Molecular testing allows us to look for variations
in this DNA that are associated with specific types of diseases.  Today there are molecular tests for about 500 genetic
diseases.  However, the majority of these tests remain available under the limited research use only designation and are
only offered on a restricted basis to family members of someone who has been diagnosed with a genetic
condition.  About 50 molecular tests are now available for the diagnosis, prognosis or monitoring of various types of
cancers and physicians are becoming more comfortable ordering such adjunctive tests.  We currently provide these tests
on an outsourced basis.  We anticipate in the near future performing some of the more popular tests within our facilities
as the number of requests continues to increase.  Although reimbursement rates for these new molecular tests still need
to improve, we believe that molecular testing is an important and growing market segment with many new diagnostic
tests being developed every year.  We are committed to providing the latest and most accurate testing to clients and we
will invest accordingly when market demand warrants.

Distribution Methods

The Company currently performs testing services at each of its’ three main clinical laboratory locations: Fort Myers, FL,
Nashville, TN and Irvine, CA, and then produces a report for the requesting physician.  The Company currently out
sources all of its molecular testing to third parties, but expects to validate some of this testing in-house in FY 2008 and
offer it to customers to best meet client demand.

Competition

We are engaged in segments of the medical testing laboratory industry that are highly competitive.  Competitive factors
in the genetic and molecular testing business generally include reputation of the laboratory, range of services offered,
pricing, convenience of sample collection and pick-up, quality of analysis and reporting and timeliness of delivery of
completed reports.
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Our competitors in the United States are numerous and include major medical testing laboratories and biotechnology
research companies.  Many of these competitors have greater financial resources and production capabilities.  These
companies may succeed in developing service offerings that are more effective than any that we have or may develop
and may also prove to be more successful than we are in marketing such services. In addition, technological advances or
different approaches developed by one or more of our competitors may render our products obsolete, less effective or
uneconomical.

We estimate that the United States market for genetics and molecular testing is divided among approximately 300
laboratories. However, approximately 80% of these laboratories are attached to academic institutions and only provide
clinical services to their affiliate university hospitals. We further believe that less than 20 laboratories market their
services nationally.  We believe that the industry as a whole is still quite fragmented, with the top 20 laboratories
accounting for approximately 50% of market revenues.
40
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We intend to continue to gain market share by offering industry leading turnaround times, a broad service menu,
high-quality test reports, and enhanced post-test consultation services.  In addition, we have a fully integrated and
interactive internet-enabled Laboratory Information System that enables us to report real time results to customers in a
secure environment.

Suppliers

The Company orders its laboratory and research supplies from large national laboratory supply companies such as
Fisher Scientific, Inc., Invitrogen and Beckman Coulter and does not believe any disruption from any one of these
suppliers would have a material effect on its business.  The Company orders the majority of its FISH probes from
Abbott Laboratories and as a result of their dominance of that marketplace and the absence of any competitive
alternatives, if they were to have a disruption and not have inventory available it could have a material effect on our
business.  This risk cannot be completely offset due to the fact that Abbott Laboratories has patent protection which
limits other vendors from supplying these probes.

Dependence on Major Customers

We currently market our services to pathologists, oncologists, urologists, hospitals and other clinical
laboratories.  During 2007, we performed 20,998 individual tests.  Ongoing sales efforts have decreased dependence on
any given source of revenue.  Notwithstanding this fact, several key customers still account for a disproportionately
large case volume and revenues.  Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2007, one customer accounted for 25%
of total revenue and all others were less than 10% of total revenue individually.  During the year ended December 31,
2006, three customers accounted for 26%, 18% and 17% of total revenue, respectively.  In the event that we lost one of
these customers, we would potentially lose a significant percentage of our revenues.   For the year ended December 31,
2007, Medicare and one commercial insurance provider accounted for 44% and 10% of the Company’s total accounts
receivable balance, respectively.

Trademarks

The “NeoGenomics” name and logo has been trademarked with the United States Patent and Trademark Office.

Number of Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had ninety-two full-time employees.  In addition, our Acting Principal Financial Officer
and two pathologists serve as consultants to the Company on a part-time basis.  On December 31, 2006, we had
forty-eight employees. Our employees are not represented by any union and we believe our employee relations are
good.

As of March 31, 2008, we had ninety full-time employees.

Government Regulation

Our business is subject to government regulation at the federal, state and local levels, some of which regulations are
described under “Clinical Laboratory Operations,” “Anti-Fraud and Abuse Laws,” “The False Claims Act,” and
“Confidentiality of Health Information”  below.
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Clinical Laboratory Operations

Licensure and Accreditation

The Company operates clinical laboratories in Fort Myers, FL, Nashville, TN, and Irvine, CA.  All locations have
obtained CLIA licensure under the federal Medicare program, the Clinical Laboratories Improvement Act of 1967 and
the Clinical Laboratory Amendments of 1988 (collectively “CLIA ‘88”) as well as state licensure as required in FL, TN,
and CA. CLIA ‘88 provides for the regulation of clinical laboratories by the U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services (“HHS”). Regulations promulgated under the federal Medicare guidelines, CLIA ‘88 and the clinical laboratory
licensure laws of the various states affect our testing laboratories. All locations are also accredited by the College of
American Pathologists and actively participate in CAP’s proficiency testing programs and educational challenges for all
tests offered by the Company.  Proficiency testing programs involve actual testing of specimens that have been prepared
by an entity running an approved program for testing by a clinical laboratory.
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The federal and state certification and licensure programs establish standards for the operation of clinical laboratories,
including, but not limited to, personnel and quality control. Compliance with such standards is verified by periodic
inspections by inspectors employed by federal or state regulatory agencies as well as routine internal inspections
conducted by the Company’s Quality Assurance team which is comprised of representatives of all departments of the
Company.

Quality of Care

The quality of care provided by the Company to its customers is of paramount importance to the Company and a distinct
differentiator from many of our competitors.  As such, all employees are committed to providing accurate, reliable, and
consistent services at all times. Any concerns regarding the quality of testing or services provided by the Company are
immediately communicated to Company management and if necessary, the Compliance Department, or Human
Resources Department. All employees are responsible for the Company’s commitment to quality and immediately
communicating activities that do not support quality.

Compliance Program

The healthcare industry is one of the most highly regulated industries with respect to federal and state oversight of
Fraud, Waste, and Abuse. As such the Company has implemented a Compliance Program that is overseen by the senior
management of the Company (collectively the “Compliance Committee”) to assure compliance with the vast regulations
and governmental guidance. Our program consists of training / education of the employees and monitoring / audits of
Company practices. The Company actively discusses with the Board of Directors any Compliance related findings as
well as any Compliance related issues that may have material effect on the Company.

Hotline

The Company provides a Hotline for employees who wish to anonymously or confidentially report suspected violations
of our codes of conduct, policies/procedures, or laws and regulations. Employees are strongly encouraged to report any
suspected violation if they do not feel the problem can be appropriately addressed through the normal chain of
command. The Hotline does not replace other resources available to Employees, including supervisors, managers and
human resources staff, but is an alternate channel available 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. The Company does not
allow any retaliation against an employee who reports a compliance related issue in good faith.

Anti-Fraud and Abuse Laws

Existing federal laws governing Medicare and Medicaid, as well as some other state and federal laws, also regulate
certain aspects of the relationship between healthcare providers, including clinical and anatomic laboratories, and their
referral sources, including physicians, hospitals and other laboratories. One provision of these laws, known as the
“anti-kickback law,” contains extremely broad proscriptions. Violation of this provision may result in criminal penalties,
exclusion from participation in Medicare and Medicaid programs, and significant civil monetary penalties.

In January 1990, following a study of pricing practices in the clinical laboratory industry, the Office of the Inspector
General (“OIG”) of HHS issued a report addressing how these pricing practices relate to Medicare and Medicaid. The OIG
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reviewed the industry’s use of one fee schedule for physicians and other professional accounts and another fee schedule
for patients/third-party payors, including Medicare, in billing for testing services, and focused specifically on the pricing
differential when profiles (or established groups of tests) are ordered.

Existing federal law authorizes the Secretary of HHS to exclude providers from participation in the Medicare and
Medicaid programs if they charge state Medicaid programs or Medicare fees “substantially in excess” of their “usual and
customary charges.” On September 2, 1998, the OIG issued a final rule in which it indicated that this provision has
limited applicability to services for which Medicare pays under a Prospective Payment System or a fee schedule, such as
anatomic pathology services and clinical laboratory services. In several Advisory Opinions, the OIG has provided
additional guidance regarding the possible application of this law, as well as the applicability of the anti-kickback laws
to pricing arrangements. The OIG concluded in a 1999 Advisory Opinion that an arrangement under which a laboratory
offered substantial discounts to physicians for laboratory tests billed directly to the physicians could potentially trigger
the “substantially in excess” provision and might violate the anti-kickback law, because the discounts could be viewed as
being provided to the physician
42
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in exchange for the physician’s referral to the laboratory of non-discounted Medicare business, unless the discounts
could otherwise be justified. The Medicaid laws in some states also have prohibitions related to discriminatory pricing.

Under another federal law, known as the “Stark” law or “self-referral prohibition,” physicians who have an investment or
compensation relationship with an entity furnishing clinical laboratory services (including anatomic pathology and
clinical chemistry services) may not, subject to certain exceptions, refer clinical laboratory testing for Medicare patients
to that entity. Similarly, laboratories may not bill Medicare or Medicaid or any other party for services furnished
pursuant to a prohibited referral. Violation of these provisions may result in disallowance of Medicare and Medicaid
claims for the affected testing services, as well as the imposition of civil monetary penalties and application of False
Claims submissions penalties. Some states also have laws similar to the Stark law.

The False Claims Act

The Civil False Claims Act originally enacted in 1863 and subsequently amended several times pertains to any federally
funded program and defines “Fraudulent” as: knowingly submitting a false claim, i.e. actual knowledge of the falsity of
the claim, reckless disregard or deliberate ignorance of the falsity of the claim. These are the claims to which criminal
penalties are applied. Penalties include permissive exclusion in federally funded programs by Center for Medicare
Services (“CMS”) as well as $11,500 plus treble damages per false claim submitted, and can include imprisonment.  High
risk areas include but are not limited to accurate use and selection of CPT codes, ICD-9 codes provided by the ordering
physician, billing calculations, performance and billing of reported testing, use of reflex testing, and accuracy of charges
at fair market value.

We will seek to structure our arrangements with physicians and other customers to be in compliance with the
Anti-Kickback Statute, Stark Law, State laws, and the Civil False Claims Act and to keep up-to-date on developments
concerning their application by various means, including consultation with legal counsel.  However, we are unable to
predict how these laws will be applied in the future, and the arrangements into which we enter could become subject to
scrutiny there under.

In February 1997 (as revised in August 1998), the OIG released a model compliance plan for laboratories that is based
largely on corporate integrity agreements negotiated with laboratories that had settled enforcement action brought by the
federal government related to allegations of submitting false claims.  We believe that we comply with the aspects of the
model plan that we deem appropriate to the conduct of our business.

Confidentiality of Health Information

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) contains provisions that affect the handling
of claims and other patient information that are, or have been used or disclosed by healthcare providers. These
provisions, which address security and confidentiality of PHI (Protected Health Information or “patient information”) as
well as the administrative aspects of claims handling, have very broad applicability and they specifically apply to
healthcare providers, which include physicians and clinical laboratories. Rules implementing various aspects of HIPAA
are continuing to be developed. The HIPAA Rules include the following components which have already been
implemented at our locations and industry wide: The Privacy Rule which granted patients rights regarding their
information also pertains to the proper uses and disclosures of PHI by healthcare providers in written and verbal formats
required implementation no later than April 14, 2003 for all covered entities except small health plans which had
another year for implementation. The Electronic Health Care Transactions and Code Sets Standards which established
standard data content and formats for submitting electronic claims and other administrative healthcare transactions
required implementation no later than October 16, 2003 for all covered entities. On April 20, 2005, CMS required
compliance with the Security Standards which established standards for electronic uses and disclosures of PHI for all
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covered entities except small health plans who had an additional year to meet compliance. Currently, the industry,
including all of our locations, is working to comply with the National Provider Identification number to replace all
previously issued provider (organizational and individual) identification numbers. This number is being issued by CMS
and must be used on all covered transactions after May 30, 2007 by all covered entities except small health plans which
have an additional year to meet compliance with this rule.

In addition to the HIPAA rules described above, we are subject to state laws regarding the handling and disclosure of
patient records and patient health information. These laws vary widely, and many states are passing new laws in this
area. Penalties for violation include sanctions against a laboratory’s licensure as well as civil or criminal penalties.  We
believe we are in compliance with current state law regarding the confidentiality of health information and continue to
keep abreast of new or changing state laws as they become available.
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Other

Our operations currently are, or may be in the future, subject to various federal, state and local laws, regulations and
recommendations relating to data protection, safe working conditions, laboratory and manufacturing practices and the
purchase, storage, movement, use and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances used in connection
with our research work and manufacturing operations, including radioactive compounds and infectious disease agents.
Although we believe that our safety procedures comply with the standards prescribed by federal, state and local
regulations, the risk of contamination, injury or other accidental harm cannot be eliminated completely. In the event of
an accident, we could be held liable for any damages that result and any liabilities could exceed our resources. Failure to
comply with such laws could subject an entity covered by these laws to fines, criminal penalties and/or other
enforcement actions.

Pursuant to the Occupational Safety and Health Act, laboratories have a general duty to provide a work place to their
employees that is safe from hazard. Over the past few years, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration
(“OSHA”) has issued rules relevant to certain hazards that are found in the laboratory. In addition, OSHA has
promulgated regulations containing requirements healthcare providers must follow to protect workers from blood borne
pathogens. Failure to comply with these regulations, other applicable OSHA rules or with the general duty to provide a
safe work place could subject employers, including a laboratory employer such as the Company, to substantial fines and
penalties.

Properties

In August 2003, we entered into a three year lease for 5,200 square feet at our laboratory facility in Fort Myers,
Florida.  On June 29, 2006 we signed an amendment to the original lease which extended the lease through June 30,
2011. The amendment included the rental of an additional 4,400 square feet adjacent to our current facility. This space
will allow for future expansion of our business. The lease was further amended on January 17, 2007 but this amendment
did not materially alter the terms of the lease.  As of December 31, 2007, total payments of approximately $773,000
remained over the remaining life of the lease, including annual increases of rental payments of 3% per year. Such
amount excludes estimated operating and maintenance expenses and property taxes.

In November 2007, we entered into two year sublease, beginning January 1, 2008, for 16,900 square feet of space which
is directly adjacent to our main laboratory location in Fort Myers., FL.  Payments under this sublease are expected to
total $688,000 over the life of the lease.

As part of the acquisition of The Center for CytoGenetics, Inc. by the Company on April 18, 2006, we assumed the
lease of an 850 square foot facility in Nashville, Tennessee. The lease expires on August 31, 2008. The average monthly
rental expense is approximately $1,350 per month. This space was not adequate for our future plans and the Company is
currently not using the facility and is actively trying to sublease this facility.  On June 15, 2006, we entered into a lease
for a new facility totaling 5,386 square feet of laboratory space in Nashville, Tennessee. This space will be adequate to
accommodate our current plans for the Tennessee laboratory. As part of the lease, we have the right of first refusal on an
additional 2,420 square feet, if needed, directly adjacent to the facility. The lease is a five year lease and results in total
payments by us of approximately $340,000.

On April 5, 2007, we entered into a lease for 8,195 square feet of laboratory space in Irvine, California. The lease is a
five year lease and results in total payments by the Company of approximately $771,000 including estimated operating
and maintenance expenses and property taxes.  This lease will expire on April 30, 2012.
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Legal Proceedings

On October 26, 2006, US Labs filed a complaint in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los
Angeles (entitled Accupath Diagnostics Laboratories, Inc. v. NeoGenomics, Inc., et al., Case No. BC 360985) (the
“Lawsuit”) against the Company and Robert Gasparini, as an individual, and certain other employees and non-employees
of NeoGenomics (the “Defendants”) with respect to claims arising from discussions with current and former employees of
US Labs.  On March 18, 2008, we reached a preliminary agreement to settle US Labs’ claims, and in accordance with
SFAS No. 5, Accounting For Contingencies, as of December 31, 2007 we accrued a $375,000 loss contingency, which
consisted of $250,000 to provide for the Company’s expected share of this settlement, and $125,000 to provide for the
Company’s share of the estimated legal fees.
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On April 23, 2008, the Company and US Labs entered into the Settlement Agreement; whereby, both parties agreed to
settle and resolve all claims asserted in and arising out of the aforementioned lawsuit. Pursuant to the Settlement
Agreement, the Defendants are required to pay $500,000 to US Labs, of which $250,000 was paid on May 1, 2008 with
funds from the Company’s insurance carrier and the remaining $250,000 will be paid by the Company on the last day of
each month in equal installments of $31,250 commencing on May 31, 2008.   Under the terms of the Settlement
Agreement, there are certain provisions agreed to in the event of default.
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MANAGEMENT

Officers And Directors

The following table sets forth the names, ages, and titles of each of our directors and executive officers and employees
expected to make a significant contribution to us.

Name Age Position
Board of Directors:
Robert P. Gasparini 53 President and Chief Science Officer, Board Member
Steven C. Jones 45 Acting Principal Financial Officer, Board Member
Michael T. Dent 43 Chairman of the Board
George G. O’Leary 45 Board Member
Peter M. Peterson 51 Board Member
Marvin E. Jaffe 70 Board Member
William J. Robison 71 Board Member
Other Executives:
Robert J. Feeney 40 Vice President of Sales and Marketing
Matthew William Moore 34 Vice President of Research and Development
Jerome J. Dvonch 40 Principal Accounting Officer

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships between or among the members of the Board of Directors or other executives. With
the exception of Mr. Robison, Dr. Jaffe and Mr. O’Leary, the directors and other executives of the Company are not
directors or executive officers of any company that files reports with the SEC.  Mr. Robison also serves on the Board of
MWI Veterinary (NASDAQ GM: MWIV) Supply Inc. and Dr. Jaffe serves on the board of Immunomedics, Inc.
(NASDAQ GM: IMMU).  Mr. O’Leary also serves on the Boards of NeoMedia (OTC:NEOM.OB), Smartire
(OTC:SMTR.OB), NS8 (OTC:NSEO.OB) and Futuremedia (NASDAQ: FMDA).

Legal Proceedings

None of the members of the Board of Directors or other executives has been involved in any bankruptcy proceedings,
criminal proceedings, any proceeding involving any possibility of enjoining or suspending members of our Board of
Directors or other executives from engaging in any business, securities or banking activities, and have not been found to
have violated, nor been accused of having violated, any federal or state securities or commodities laws.

Elections

Members of our Board of Directors are elected at the annual meeting of stockholders and hold office until their
successors are elected.   Our officers are appointed by the Board of Directors and serve at the pleasure of the Board and
are subject to employment agreements, if any, approved and ratified by the Board.
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Robert P. Gasparini, M.S. - President and Chief Science Officer, Board Member

Mr. Gasparini is the President and Chief Science Officer of NeoGenomics. Prior to assuming the role of President and
Chief Science Officer, Mr. Gasparini was a consultant to the Company since May 2004. Prior to NeoGenomics, Mr.
Gasparini was the Director of the Genetics Division for US Pathology Labs, Inc. (US Labs) from January 2001 to
December 2004. During this period, Mr. Gasparini started the Genetics Division for US Labs and grew annual revenues
of this division to $30 million over a 30 month period. Prior to US Labs, Mr. Gasparini was the Molecular Marketing
Manager for Ventana Medical Systems from 1999 to 2001. Prior to Ventana, Mr. Gasparini was the Assistant Director
of the Cytogenetics Laboratory for the Prenatal Diagnostic Center from 1993 to 1998 an affiliate of Mass General
Hospital and part of Harvard University. While at the Prenatal Diagnostic Center, Mr. Gasparini was also an Adjunct
Professor at Harvard University. Mr. Gasparini is a licensed Clinical Laboratory Director and an accomplished author in
the field of Cytogenetics. He received his BS degree from The University of Connecticut in Biological Sciences and his
Master of Health Science degree from Quinnipiac University in Laboratory Administration.
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Steven C. Jones - Acting Principal Financial Officer, Board Member

Mr. Jones has served as Acting Principal Financial Officer and Director since October 2003. He is a Managing Director
in Medical Venture Partners, LLC, a venture capital firm established in 2003 for the purpose of making investments in
the healthcare industry. Mr. Jones is also the co-founder and Chairman of the Aspen Capital Group and has been
President and Managing Director of Aspen Capital Advisors since January 2001. Prior to that Mr. Jones was a chief
financial officer at various public and private companies and was a Vice President in the Investment Banking Group at
Merrill Lynch & Co. Mr. Jones received his B.S. degree in Computer Engineering from the University of Michigan in
1985 and his MBA from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania in 1991. He also serves on the Boards
of  Disc Motion Technologies, Inc and T3 Communications, Inc.

Michael T. Dent M.D. - Chairman of the Board

Dr. Dent is our founder and Chairman of the Board. Dr. Dent was our President and Chief Executive Officer from June
2001, when he founded NeoGenomics, to April 2004. From April 2004 until April 2005, Dr. Dent served as our
President and Chief Medical Officer. Dr. Dent founded the Naples Women’s Center in 1996 and continues his practice to
this day. He received his training in Obstetrics and Gynecology at the University of Texas in Galveston. He received his
M.D. degree from the University of South Carolina in Charleston, S.C. in 1992 and a B.S. degree from Davidson
College in Davidson, N.C. in 1986. He is a member of the American Association of Cancer Researchers and a Diplomat
and fellow of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. He sits on the Board of the Florida Life science
Biotech Initiative.

George G. O’Leary - Board Member

Mr. O’Leary is a Director of NeoGenomics and is currently running his own consulting firm, SKS Consulting of South
Florida Corp. where he consults for NeoGenomics as well as several other companies. Prior to that he was President of
US Medical Consultants, LLC. Prior to assuming his duties with US Medical, he was a consultant to the company and
acting Chief Operating Officer. Prior to NeoGenomics, Mr. O’Leary was the President and CFO of Jet Partners, LLC
from 2002 to 2004. During that time he grew annual revenues from $12 million to $17.5 million. Prior to Jet Partners,
Mr. O’Leary was CEO and President of Communication Resources Incorporated (CRI) from 1996 to 2000. During that
time he grew annual revenues from $5 million to $40 million. Prior to CRI, Mr. O’Leary held various positions including
VP of Operations for Cablevision Industries from 1987 to 1996. Mr. O’Leary was a CPA with Peat Marwick Mitchell
from 1984 to 1987. Mr. O’Leary also serves on the Boards of NeoMedia (OTC:NEOM.OB), Smartire (OTC:SMTR.OB),
NS8 (OTC:NSEO.OB) and Futuremedia (NASDAQ: FMDA) He received his BBA in Accounting from Siena College
in Albany, New York.

Peter M. Peterson - Board Member

Mr. Peterson is a Director of NeoGenomics and is the founder of Aspen Capital Partners, LLC which specializes in
capital formation, mergers & acquisitions, divestitures, and new business start-ups.  Prior to forming Aspen Capital
Partners in 2001, Mr. Peterson was Managing Director of Investment Banking with H. C. Wainwright & Co.  Prior to
Wainwright, Mr. Peterson was president of First American Holdings and Managing Director of Investment
Banking.  Previous to First American, he served in various investment banking roles and was the co-founder of ARM
Financial Corporation.  Mr. Peterson was one of the key individuals responsible for taking ARM Financial public on the
OTC market and the American Stock Exchange.  Under Mr. Peterson’s financial leadership, ARM Financial Corporation
was transformed from a diversified holding company into a national clinical laboratory company with 14 clinical
laboratories and ancillary services with over $100 million in assets.  He has also served as an officer or director for a
variety of other companies, both public and private.  Mr. Peterson earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Business
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Administration from the University of Florida.

William J. Robison – Board Member

Mr. Robison, who is retired, spent his entire forty-one (41) year career with Pfizer, Inc.  At Pfizer, he rose through the
ranks of the sales organization and became Senior Vice President of Pfizer Labs in 1986.  In 1990, he became General
Manager of Pratt Pharmaceuticals, a then-new division of the U.S. Pharmaceuticals Group, and in 1992 he became the
President of the Consumer Health Care Group.  In 1996 he became a member of Pfizer’s Corporate Management
Committee and was promoted to the position of Executive Vice President and head of Worldwide Corporate Employee
Resources.  Mr. Robison retired from Pfizer in 2001 and currently serves as a consultant and board member to various
companies.  Mr. Robison is a board member and an executive committee member of the USO of Metropolitan New
York, Inc.  He is also on the board of directors of the Northeast Louisiana University foundation, a member of the
Human Resources Roundtable
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Group, the Pharmaceutical Human Resource Council, the Personnel Round Table, and on the Employee Relations
Steering Committee for The Business Round Table.  He also serves on the Board of Directors of Pericor Therapeutics,
Inc. and MWI Supply Veterinary Inc. (NASDAQ GM: MWIV)

Marvin E. Jaffe – Board Member

Dr. Jaffe, who is also retired, spent his entire working career in the pharmaceutical industry and has been responsible for
the pre-clinical and clinical development of new drugs and biologics in nearly every therapeutic area.   He began his
career at Merck & Co and spent eighteen (18) years with Merck, rising to the position of Senior Vice-President of
Medical Affairs.  After leaving Merck, Dr. Jaffe became the founding President of the R.W. Johnson Pharmaceutical
Research Institute (PRI), a Johnson & Johnson Company.   PRI was established for the purpose of providing globally
integrated research and development support to several companies within the J&J pharmaceutical sector including Ortho
Pharmaceutical, McNeil Pharmaceutical, Ortho Biotech and Cilag.  Dr. Jaffe retired from Johnson & Johnson in 1994
and currently serves as a consultant and board member to various companies in the biopharmaceutical and
biotechnology industries.  He is currently a Director of Immunomedics, Inc. (NASDAQ Global Market: IMMU).  He
was also on the Boards of Genetic Therapy, Inc., Vernalis Group, plc., Celltech Group, plc. and Matrix Pharmaceuticals
which were acquired by other companies.  He is on the Scientific Advisory Boards of Health Care Ventures, Endpoint
Merchant Group, Newron Pharmaceuticals and PenWest Pharmaceuticals.

Robert J. Feeney, Ph.D - Vice President of Sales and Marketing

Mr. Feeney has served as Vice President of Sales and Marketing since January 3, 2007. Prior to NeoGenomics, he
served in a dual capacity as the Director of Marketing and the Director of Scientific & Clinical Affairs for US Labs, a
division of Laboratory Corporation of America (LabCorp). Prior to that, Dr. Feeney held a variety of roles including the
National Manager of Clinical Affairs and the Central Regional Sales Manager position where he managed up to 33% of
the sales force. In his first full year with US Labs, he grew revenue from $1 million to $17 million in this geography.
Prior to US Labs, Dr. Feeney was employed with Eli Lilly and Company as an Associate Marketing Manager and with
Impath Inc., now a wholly owned division of Genzyme Genetics, where he held various positions including Regional
Sales Manager and District Sales Manager assignments. Dr. Feeney has over 14 years of sales and marketing experience
with 17 years in the medical industry. Dr. Feeney received his Bachelors of Science degree in Biology from Dickinson
College and his doctoral degree in Cellular and Developmental Biology from the State University of New York.

Matthew William Moore, Ph.D. - Vice President of Research and Development

Mr. Moore has served as Vice President of Research and Development since July 2006. Prior to that he served as Vice
President of Research and Development for Combimatrix Molecular Diagnostics, a subsidiary of Combimatrix
Corporation, a biotechnology company, developing novel microarray, Q-PCR and Comparative Genomic Hybridization
based diagnostics. Prior to Combimatrix Molecular Diagnostics, he served as a senior scientist with US Labs, a division
of Laboratory Corporation of America (LabCorp) where he was responsible for the initial implementation of the
Molecular in Situ Hybridization and Molecular Genetics programs. Mr. Moore received his Bachelors of Science degree
in Biotechnology, where he graduated with honors and his doctoral degree from the University of New South Wales,
Australia.

Jerome J. Dvonch - Director of Finance, Principal Accounting Officer

Mr. Dvonch has served as director of finance since August 2005 and as acting principal accounting officer since August
2006. From June 2004 through July 2005, Mr. Dvonch was Associate Director of Financial Planning and Analysis with
Protein Design Labs, a bio-pharmaceutical company. From September 2000 through June 2004, Mr. Dvonch held
positions of increasing responsibility including Associate Director of Financial Analysis and Reporting with Exelixis,
Inc., a biotechnology company. He also was Manager of Business Analysis for Pharmchem Laboratories, a drug testing
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laboratory. Mr. Dvonch has extensive experience in strategic planning, SEC reporting and accounting in the life science
industry. He also has experience in mergers and acquisitions and with debt/equity financing transactions. Mr. Dvonch is
a Certified Public Accountant and received his M.B.A. from the Simon School of Business at the University of
Rochester. He received his B.B.A. in accounting from Niagara University.

Audit Committee

Currently, the Company’s Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is comprised of Steven C. Jones and George
O’Leary. The Board of Directors believes that both Mr. Jones and Mr. O’Leary are “financial experts” (as defined in
Regulation 228.401(e) (1) (i) (A) of Regulation S-K). Mr. Jones is a Managing Member of Medical Venture Partners,
LLC, which serves as the general partner of Aspen, a partnership
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 which controls approximately 29% of the voting stock of the Company. Thus Mr. Jones would not be considered an
“independent” director under Item 7(d) (3) (iv) of Schedule 14A of the Exchange Act. However, Mr. O’Leary would be
considered an “independent” director under Item 7(d) (3) (iv) of Schedule 14A of the Exchange Act.

Compensation Committee

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Currently, the Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors is comprised of the Board Members
except for Mr. Gasparini.  Mr. Jones, Mr. Peterson, and Dr. Jaffe were not considered independent directors during 2007
due to their affiliation with Aspen Select Healthcare, LP and Dr. Dent was similarly not considered independent as a
result of his equity position.  However, Mr. O’Leary and Mr. Robison are considered to be independent.

Code of Ethics

We adopted a Code of Ethics for our senior financial officers and the principal executive officer during 2004, which was
filed with the SEC as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB dated April 15, 2005.

Executive Compensation

The following Summary Compensation Table sets forth all compensation earned and accrued, in all capacities, during
the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, by our Named Executive Officers.

Name and
Principal
Position Year Salary Bonus

Stock
Award

Option
Award(1)

Non-Equity
Incentive
Plan

Compen-sation

Non-qualified
Deferred

Compen-sation
Earnings

All Other
Compen-sation Total

Robert P.
Gasparini 2007 $ 209,061 $ 10,000 $ - $ 46,000 $ - $ - $ - $ 265,061
President and
Chief 2006 183,500 - - 18,271 - - - 201,771
Science
Officer

Robert J.
Feeney 2007 161,192 12,375 - 39,593 - - - 213,160
V.P.of Sales
and 2006 - - - - - - - -
Marketing

Matthew W.
Moore 2007 167,221 - - 9,534 - - - 176,755

2006 66,635 - - 3,884 - - - 70,519
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V. P. of
Research
and
Development

Jerome J.
Dvonch 2007 123,077 6,000 - 31,759 - - - 160,836
Principal 2006 92,846 - - 4,936 - - - 97,782
Accounting
Officer

Steven C.
Jones 2007 - - - - - - 127,950(2) 127,950
Acting
Principal
Financial 2006 - - - - - - 71,000(2) 71,000
Officer and
Director

(1)See Item 7, Note E for a description on the valuation methodology of stock option awards.  Pursuant to Regulation
S-K, Item 402, Paragraph (c) (2)(v), amounts indicated are the portion of the grant date fair value of options that are
recognized under SFAS 123 (R) for the year indicated.

(2)Mr. Jones acts as a consultant to the Company and the amounts indicated represent the consulting expense accrued
for the periods indicated for his services as our Acting Principal Financial Officer.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

The following table sets forth information with respect concerning outstanding equity awards held by our named
executive officers as of December 31, 2007.

Option Awards

Name and
Principal Position

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options

Excercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options

Unexcercisable

Equity
Incentive Plan
Awards-Number
of Securities
Underlying

Unexercised &
Unearned
Options

Option
Exercise
Price Option Expiration Date

Robert P. Gasparini 635,000 - - 0.25 1/1/2015
President and Chief 100,000 - - 1.47 2/13/2017
Science Officer

Robert J. Feeney 34,375 221,875 - 1.50 12/31/2016
V.P. of Sales and
Marketing

Matthew W. Moore 25,000 62,500 - 0.71 8/1/2016
V.P. of Research 8,125 - - 1.47 2/13/2017
and Development

Jerome J. Dvonch 26,650 6,000 - 0.37 7/28/2015
Principal 11,667 23,333 - 1.00 9/15/2016
Accounting Officer 19,167 - - 1.47 2/13/2017

25,000 25,000 - 1.49 3/15/2017

Steven C. Jones - - - NA
Acting Principal
Financial Officer
and Director

Director Compensation

Each of our non-employee directors is entitled to receive cash compensation.  As of December 31, 2007 the
reimbursement was as follows:
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• $1,000 for each board meeting physically attended
• $500 for each board meeting attended via conference call

We also reimburse our directors for out of pocket expenses incurred in connection with attendance at board and
committee meetings.  The following table provides information concerning the compensation of our directors for the
year ended December 31, 2007.
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Name

Fees
Earned or
Paid in
Cash

Stock
Awards

Warrant/
Option

Awards(1)

Non-Equity
Incentive
Plan

Compensation

Change in
Pension
Value and
Nonqualified
Deferred

Compensation
Earnings

All Other
Compensation Total

Michael T. Dent
(2)

$ 3,200 $ - $ 24,438 $ - $ - $ - $ 27,638
Steven Jones (2) 3,200 - 24,438 - - 127,950(4) 155,588
George O'Leary
(2) 2,600 - 52,563(5) - - 9,500 62,063
Peter Peterson
(2) 1,400 - 24,438 - - - 25,838
William
Robison (3) 2,000 - 11,688 - - - 13,688
Marvin Jaffe (3) 1,000 - 11,688 - - - 12,688

(1)On June 6, 2007, upon the conclusion of the private placement and sale of 2.67 million shares of our Common Stock
at $1.50/share to disinterested third parties, the board approved certain warrant compensation for each director as an
additional incentive to the nominal per meeting fees in place.  From the inception of the Company up until this time,
no stock-based compensation had ever been awarded to Directors.  All warrants issued to Directors had a strike price
equal to the private placement price per share ($1.50/share), a five year term and a three year vesting period.  For
those Directors who had been a Director for at least two years as of the date of the award, 25% of the warrants issued
were deemed to have vested upon issue.  All of the remaining warrants were deemed to vest ratably over a 36 month
period.  All of the warrants issued were valued using the Black Scholes option/warrant valuation model with the
following assumptions:  expected volatility – 35%, expected life – 4 years, risk-free rate – 4.5%, and dividend yield –
0%.  The Company is expensing the value of these warrants over the vesting period pursuant to the methodology
outlined in SFAS 123(R).  Pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item 402, Paragraph (k)(2)(iii), amounts indicated are the
amounts expensed for such warrants under SFAS 123 (R) for the year ended December 31, 2007.

(2) Awarded 100,000 warrants as Board Member compensation

(3) Awarded 75,000 warrants as Board Member compensation

(4)Other compensation for Mr. Jones reflects his consulting compensation for serving as our Acting Principle Financial
Officer.

(5)In addition to Mr. O’Leary’s Board compensation warrants, Mr. O’Leary was also awarded 100,000 warrants on March
15, 2007 in connection with certain consulting services performed on behalf of the Company.  Such warrants have a
strike price of $1.49/share and a five year term.  Half of such warrants were deemed vested up front and the
remaining half vest ratably over a 24 month period.  Such warrants had a value of $36,000 using the Black Scholes
option/warrant valuation model.

Employment Agreements
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Robert P. Gasparini

On March 12, 2008, we entered into an employment agreement with Robert Gasparini, our President and Chief
Scientific Officer, to extend his employment with the Company for an additional four year term.  This employment
agreement was retroactive to January 1, 2008 and provides that it will automatically renew after the initial four year
term for one year increments unless either party provides written notice to the other party of their intention to terminate
the agreement 90 days before the end of the initial term.  
51
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The employment agreement specifies an initial base salary of $225,000/year with specified salary increases tied to
hitting revenue goals.  Mr. Gasparini is also entitled to receive cash bonuses for any given fiscal year in an amount equal
to 30% of his base salary if he meets certain targets established by the Board of Directors. In addition, Mr. Gasparini
was granted 784,000 stock options that have a seven year term so long as Mr. Gasparini remains an employee of the
Company.  These options are scheduled to vest according to the passage of time and the meeting of certain
performance-based milestones.  Mr. Gasparini’s employment agreement also specifies that he is entitled to four weeks of
paid vacation per year and other insurance benefits. In the event that Mr. Gasparini is terminated without cause by the
Company, the Company has agreed to pay Mr. Gasparini’s base salary and maintain his benefits for a period of twelve
months.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans(1)

Plan Category

Number of
securities to
be issued
upon

exercise of
outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights

Weighted
average
exercise
price of

outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights

Number of
securities
remaining
available
for future
issuance

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders (2) 3,249,168 $ 0.80 1,265,278
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders (3) 400,000 0.80 N/A
Total 3,649,168 $ 0.80 1,265,278

(1) As of May 30, 2008.

(2)Currently the Company’s 2003 Equity Incentive Plan and the Stock Purchase Plan are the only equity compensation
plans in effect.

(3)As part of his March 12, 2008 Employment Agreement, Mr. Robert Gasparini, the Company’s President, was
awarded 400,000 performance-based options that were not part of the Company’s 2003 Equity Incentive Plan.

52

Edgar Filing: DYNACQ HEALTHCARE INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 93



PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth information as of May 30, 2008, with respect to each person known by the Company to
own beneficially more than 5% of the Company’s outstanding common stock, each director and officer of the Company
and all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group.  The Company has no other class of equity securities
outstanding other than common stock.

Title of Class
Name And Address
Of Beneficial Owner

Amount and
Nature Of
Beneficial
Ownership

Percent Of
Class(1)

Common Aspen Select Healthcare, LP (2)
1740 Persimmon Drive, Suite 100
Naples, Florida 34109 11,268,256 32.7%

Common Steven C. Jones (3)
c/o NeoGenomics, Inc.
12701 Commonwealth Blvd, Suite 5
Fort Myers, FL  33193 12,459,280 35.9%

Common Michael T. Dent, M.D. (4)
c/o NeoGenomics, Inc.
12701 Commonwealth Blvd, Suite 5
Fort Myers, FL  33193 2,655,463 8.3%

Common George O’Leary (5)
c/o NeoGenomics, Inc.
12701 Commonwealth Blvd, Suite 5
Fort Myers, FL  33193 250,000 *

Common Robert P. Gasparini (6)
c/o NeoGenomics, Inc.
12701 Commonwealth Blvd, Suite 5
Fort Myers, FL  33193 791,275 2.5%

Common Peter M. Peterson (7)
c/o NeoGenomics, Inc.
12701 Commonwealth Blvd, Suite 5
Fort Myers, FL  33193 11,330,756 32.9%

Common William J. Robison (8)
c/o NeoGenomics, Inc.
12701 Commonwealth Blvd, Suite 5
Fort Myers, FL  33193 91,000 *

Common Marvin E. Jaffe, M.D. (9)
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c/o NeoGenomics, Inc.
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12701 Commonwealth Blvd, Suite 5
Fort Myers, FL  33193 46,429 *

Common Robert J. Feeney (10)
c/o NeoGenomics, Inc.
12701 Commonwealth Blvd, Suite 5
Fort Myers, FL  33193 50,000 *

Common Matthew W. Moore (11)
c/o NeoGenomics, Inc.
12701 Commonwealth Blvd, Suite 5
Fort Myers, FL  33193 33,125 *

Common Jerome J. Dvonch (12)
c/o NeoGenomics, Inc.
12701 Commonwealth Blvd, Suite 5
Fort Myers, FL  33193 120,834 *

Common
Directors and Officers
as a Group (2 persons) 16,559,906 45.2%

Common SKL Family Limited Partnership and
A. Scott Logan Revocable Living Trust(13)
984 Oyster Court
Sanibel, FL 33957 3,500,000 10.8%

Common 1837 Partners, LP., 1837 Partners, QP,LP., and
1837 Partner Ltd. (RMB Capital) (14)
115 S. LaSalle, 34th floor
Chicago. IL 60603 3,407,890 10.8%

* Less than 1%

(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance within the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting of
investment power with respect to securities. Shares of Common Stock subject to securities exercisable or convertible
into shares of Common Stock that are currently exercisable or exercisable within sixty days of May 30, 2008 are
deemed to be beneficially owned by the person holding such options for the purpose of computing the percentage of
ownership of such persons, but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership
of any other person.

(2)  Aspen Select Healthcare, LP (Aspen) has direct ownership of 6,503,279 shares and has certain warrants to purchase
3,050,000 shares, all of which are currently exercisable.  Also includes 1,714,977 shares to which Aspen has
received a voting proxy.  The general partner of Aspen is Medical Venture Partners, LLC, an entity controlled by
Steven C. Jones.
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(3)  Steven C. Jones, acting principal financial officer and director of the Company, has direct ownership of 863,726
shares and currently exercisable warrants to purchase an additional 77,298 shares.  Figure also includes 250,000
currently exercisable warrants owned by Aspen Capital Advisors, LLC, a Company whom Mr. Jones controls.  As a
member of the general partner of Aspen, he has the right to vote all shares controlled by Aspen, thus 8,218,256
shares and 3,050,000 currently exercisable warrant shares have been added to his total.

(4)Michael T. Dent, a director of the Company, has direct ownership of 2,132,471 shares, currently exercisable warrants
to purchase 122,992 shares, and currently exercisable options to purchase 400,000 shares.

(5)George O’Leary, a director of the Company, has direct ownership of 300,000 warrants, of which 200,000 are
currently exercisable. He also has options to purchase 50,000 shares, of which 50,000 shares are currently
exercisable.

(6)Robert Gasparini, President and Principal Executive Officer of the Company, has direct ownership of 275 shares, and
has 1,519,000 options to purchase shares, of which 791,000 are currently exercisable.

(7)Peter M. Peterson has direct ownership of 12,500 shares, but as a member of the general partner of Aspen, he has the
right to vote all shares controlled by Aspen.  Thus 8,218,256 shares and 3,050,000 currently exercisable warrant
shares have been added to his total.  Mr. Peterson has currently exercisable warrants to purchase an additional 50,000
shares.
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(8)William J. Robison, a director of the Company, has direct ownership of 55,000 shares and warrants to purchase
86,000 shares, of which 36,000 are currently exercisable.

(9)Marvin Jaffe, a director of the Company, has direct ownership of 21,429 shares and warrants to purchase 75,000
shares, of which 25,000 are currently exercisable.

(10)Robert J. Feeney, Vice President of Sales and Marketing, has 256,250 options to purchase shares, of which 50,000
are currently exercisable.

(11)Matthew W. Moore, Vice President of Research and Development, has 95,625 options to purchase shares, of which
33,125 are currently exercisable.

(12)Jerome J. Dvonch, Principal Accounting Officer, has 136,667 options to purchase shares, of which 120,834 shares
are currently exercisable.

(13)SKL Family Limited Partnership has direct ownership of 2,000,000 shares and currently exercisable warrants to
purchase 1,000,000 shares. A. Scott Logan living revocable trust has direct ownership of 500,000 shares. A. Scott
Logan is the general partner SKL Limited Family Partnership and trustee for A. Scott Logan Living Revocable
Trust. A. Scott Logan has only 1% of the assets of SKL Family Limited Partnership. An additional 1% of asset is
owned by A. Scott Logan’s sons and 98% of asserts is owned by a grantor retained annuity trust.

(14)RMB Capital and its affiliates have direct ownership of 3,087,890 shares and currently exercisable warrants to
purchase 320,000 shares.  RMB Capital makes all the investment decisions for the 1837 Partners LP., 1837 Partners
QP, LP and 1837 Partners LTD who own the vast majority of the shares listed.  Amounts for RMB capital also
include a small number of shares owned personally by its members.
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MARKET PRICE OF AND DIVIDENDS

ON THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND OTHER STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our Common Stock is currently listed on the OTCBB under the symbol “NGMN.OB”. Set forth below is a table
summarizing the high and low bid quotations for our Common Stock during the last two fiscal years and the most recent
interim period.

YEAR 2008 High Bid Low Bid
1st Quarter 2008 $ 1.12 $ 0.77
YEAR 2007 High Bid Low Bid
4th Quarter 2007 $ 1.59 $ 1.02
3rd Quarter 2007 $ 1.70 $ 1.05
2nd Quarter 2007 $ 1.90 $ 1.41
1st Quarter 2007 $ 1.79 $ 1.39

YEAR 2006 High Bid Low Bid
4th Quarter 2006 $ 2.05 $ 0.94
3rd Quarter 2006 $ 1.25 $ 0.60
2nd Quarter 2006 $ 0.78 $ 0.45
1st Quarter 2006 $ 0.72 $ 0.12

The above table is based on over-the-counter quotations. These quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail
mark-up, markdown or commissions, and may not represent actual transactions. All historical data was obtained from
the www.BigCharts.com web site.

As of May 30, 2008, there were 461 stockholders of record of our Common Stock, excluding shareholders who hold
their shares in brokerage accounts in “street name”.  Of the 31,365,021 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of May
30, 2008, 15,270,341 shares are freely tradable without restriction, unless held by our “affiliates”.  The remaining
16,094,680 shares of our Common Stock which are held by existing stockholders, including the officers and Directors,
are “restricted securities” and may be resold in the public market only if registered or pursuant to an exemption from
registration. Some of these shares may be resold under Rule 144. We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our
Common Stock. We intend to retain all future earnings to finance future growth and therefore we do not anticipate
paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our Common Stock. We intend to retain all future earnings to finance
future growth and therefore, do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Except as otherwise noted, all of the following shares were issued and options and warrants granted pursuant to the
exemption provided for under Section 4 (2) of the Securities Act as a “transaction not involving a public offering”.  No
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commissions were paid, and no underwriter participated, in connection with any of these transactions. Each such
issuance was made pursuant to individual contracts which are discrete from one another and are made only with persons
who were sophisticated in such transactions and who had knowledge of and access to sufficient information about the
Company to make an informed investment decision. Among this information was the fact that the securities were
restricted securities.

During 2004, we sold 3,040,000 shares of our Common Stock in a series of private placements at $0.25 per share to
unaffiliated third party investors. These transactions generated net proceeds to the Company of approximately $740,000
after deducting certain transaction expenses. These transactions involved the issuance of unregistered stock to accredited
investors in transactions that we believed were exempt from registration under Rule 506 promulgated under the
Securities Act. All of these shares were subsequently registered on a SB-2 Registration Statement, which was declared
effective by the SEC on August 1, 2005.
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During the period January 1, 2005 to May 31, 2005, we sold 450,953 shares of our Common Stock in a series of private
placements at $0.30 - $0.35/share to unaffiliated third party investors. These transactions generated net proceeds to the
Company of approximately $146,000. These transactions involved the issuance of unregistered stock to accredited
investors in transactions that we believed were exempt from registration under Rule 506 promulgated under the
Securities Act. All of these shares were subsequently registered in a registration statement on Form SB-2, which was
declared effective by the SEC on August 1, 2005.

On March 23, 2005, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with Aspen to provide up to $1.5 million of
indebtedness pursuant to a Credit Facility. As part of the Credit Facility transaction, the Company also issued to Aspen a
five (5) year Warrant to purchase up to 2,500,000 shares of our Common Stock at an original exercise price of $0.50 per
share. Steven C. Jones, our Acting Principal Financial Officer and a Director of the Company, is a general partner of
Aspen.

On June 6, 2005, we entered into a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement with Cornell Capital Partners pursuant to
which the Company may, at its discretion, periodically sell to Cornell Capital Partners shares of our Common Stock for
a total purchase price of up to $5.0 million.  Upon execution of the Standby Equity Distribution Agreement, Cornell
received 381,888 shares of our Common Stock as a commitment fee under the Standby Equity Distribution Agreement.
The Company also issued 27,278 shares of the Company’s Common Stock to Spartan Securities under a placement agent
agreement relating to the Standby Equity Distribution Agreement.

On January 18, 2006, the Company entered into a binding letter agreement with Aspen which provided, among other
things, that:

(a)           Aspen waived certain pre-emptive rights in connection with the sale of $400,000 of Common Stock at a
purchase price of $0.20 per share and the granting of 900,000 warrants with an exercise price of $0.26 per share to SKL
Limited Partnership, LP, a New Jersey limited partnership (SKL), in exchange for five (5) year warrants to purchase
150,000 shares at an exercise price of $0.26 per share (the Waiver Warrants).

(b)           Aspen had the right, up to April 30, 2006, to purchase up to $200,000 of restricted shares of our Common
Stock at a purchase price per share of $0.20 per share (1,000,000 shares) and receive a five (5) year warrant to purchase
450,000 shares of our Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.26 per share in connection with such purchase (the
Equity Purchase Rights). On March 14, 2006, Aspen exercised its Equity Purchase Rights.

(c)           Aspen and the Company amended the Loan Agreement, dated March 23, 2005 by and between the parties to
extend the maturity date until September 30, 2007 and to modify certain.

(d)           Aspen had the right, until April 30, 2006, to provide up to $200,000 of additional secured indebtedness to the
Company under the Credit Facility Amendment and to receive a five (5) year warrant to purchase up to 450,000 shares
of our Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.26 per share (the New Debt Rights).  On March 30, 2006, Aspen
exercised its New Debt Rights and entered into the definitive transaction documentation for the Credit Facility
Amendment and other such documents required under the Aspen Agreement.

(e)           The Company agreed to amend and restate the warrant agreement, dated March 23, 2005, to provide that all
2,500,000 warrant shares (the Existing Warrants) were vested and the exercise price per share was reset to $0.31 per
share.

(f)           The Company agreed to amend the Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 23, 2005 (the Registration
Rights Agreement), between the parties to incorporate the Existing Warrants, the Waiver Warrants and any new shares
or warrants issued to Aspen in connection with the Equity Purchase Rights or the New Debt Rights.
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(g)           All Waiver Warrants, the Existing Warrants and all warrants issued to Aspen and SKL in connection with the
purchase of equity or debt securities are exercisable at the option of the holder and each such warrant contains
provisions that allow for a physical exercise, a net cash exercise or a net share settlement.  We used the Black-Scholes
pricing model to estimate the fair value of all such warrants as of the commitment date for each, using the following
approximate assumptions: dividend yield of 0 %, expected volatility of 14.6 – 19.3%, risk-free interest rate of 4.5%, and
a term of 3 - 5 years.

During the period from January 18 - 21, 2006, the Company entered into agreements with four (4) other shareholders
who are parties to a Shareholders’ Agreement, dated March 23, 2005, to exchange five (5) year warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 150,000 shares of stock at an exercise price of $0.26 per share for such shareholders’ waiver of their
pre-emptive rights under the Shareholders’ Agreement.
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On January 21, 2006 the Company entered into a subscription agreement (the Subscription) with SKL whereby SKL
purchased 2.0 million shares (the Subscription Shares) of our Common Stock at a purchase price of $0.20 per share for
$400,000. Under the terms of the Subscription, the Subscription Shares are restricted for a period of twenty-four (24)
months and then carry piggyback registration rights to the extent that exemptions under Rule 144 are not available to
SKL. In connection with the Subscription, the Company also issued a five (5) year warrant to purchase 900,000 shares
of our Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.26 per share. SKL has no previous affiliation with the Company.

During the period from May 31, 2007 through June 6, 2007, we sold 2,666,667 shares of our Common Stock to
unaffiliated accredited investors (the Investors) under the Private Placement at $1.50 per share. The Private Placement
generated gross proceeds to the Company of $4 million, and after estimated transaction costs, the Company received net
cash proceeds of $3.75 million.  The Company also issued warrants to purchase 98,417 shares of our Common Stock to
Noble in consideration for its services as exclusive placement agent under the Private Placement.  Additionally, the
Company issued to Aspen warrants to purchase 250,000 shares at $1.50 per share in consideration for Aspen’s services
in the fund raising process of the Private Placement.  The Private Placement involved the issuance of the
aforementioned unregistered securities in transactions that we believed were exempt from registration under Rule 506
promulgated under the Securities Act. All of the aforementioned stockholders received registration rights and therefore,
all of the aforementioned shares issued in connection with the Private Placement are being registered hereunder.

On June 6, 2007, the Company issued to LAM 500,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.26 per share
and received gross proceeds equal to $130,000 upon the exercise by LAM of warrants which had been previously
purchased from Aspen on June 6, 2007.

On August 31, 2007 the Company issued warrants to purchase 533,334 shares of it’s Common Stock to the investors
who purchased shares in the private placement.  Such warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share and are
exercisable for a period of two years.  Such warrants also have a provision for piggyback registration rights in the first
year and demand registration right in the second year.  No shares underlying are being registered hereunder.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

During 2007 and 2006, Steven C. Jones, a director of the Company, earned $127,950 and $71,000, respectively, for
various consulting work performed in connection with his duties as Acting Principal Financial Officer.

During 2007 and 2006, George O’Leary, a director of the Company, earned $9,500 and $20,900, respectively, for
various consulting work performed for the Company.  On March 15, 2007, Mr. O’Leary was awarded 100,000 warrants
for certain consulting services performed on behalf of the Company.  These warrants had an exercise price of
$1.49/share and a five year term.  Half of these warrants were deemed vested on issuance and the other half vest ratably
over a 24 month period.   On January 18, 2006, Mr. O’Leary was also awarded 50,000 non-qualified stock options in
connection with his services to the Company related to renegotiating the Aspen Credit Facility and closing equity
financing from a disinterested third party.

In consideration for its services and assistance with the June 2007 Private Placement, Aspen Capital Advisors,
LLC (“ACA”) received: (a) warrants to purchase 250,000 shares of our Common Stock, and (b) a cash fee equal to
$52,375.  The warrants have a five (5) year term, an exercise price equal to $1.50 per share, cashless exercise
provisions, customary anti-dilution provisions and the same other terms, conditions, rights and preferences as those
shares sold to the Investors in the Private Placement, Mr. Steven Jones, a director of the Company, is a Managing
Director of Aspen Capital Advisors.

On January 18, 2006, the Company entered into a binding letter agreement (the “Aspen Letter Agreement”) with Aspen,
which provided, among other things, that:

(a)           Aspen waived certain pre-emptive rights in connection with the sale of $400,000 of Common Stock at a
purchase price of $0.20/share and the granting of 900,000 warrants with an exercise price of $0.26/share to SKL in
exchange for five year warrants to purchase 150,000 shares at an exercise price of $0.26/share (the “Waiver Warrants”).

(b)           Aspen had the right, up to April 30, 2006, to purchase up to $200,000 of restricted shares of the Company’s
common stock at a purchase price per share of $0.20/share (1,000,000 shares) and receive a five year warrant to
purchase 450,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.26/share in connection with such
purchase (the “Equity Purchase Rights”). On March 14, 2006, Aspen exercised its Equity Purchase Rights.

(c)           Aspen and the Company amended the Loan Agreement (the “Credit Facility Amendment”), dated March, 2005
to extend the maturity date until September 30, 2007, and to modify certain covenants.  In addition, Aspen had the right,
until April 30, 2006, to provide the Company up to $200,000 of additional secured indebtedness to the Company under
the Credit Facility Amendment and to receive a five year warrant to purchase up to 450,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock with an exercise price of $0.26/share (the “New Debt Rights”).  On March 30, 2006, Aspen exercised its
New Debt Rights and entered into the definitive transaction documentation for the Credit Facility Amendment and other
such documents required under the Aspen Agreement.

(d)           The Company agreed to amend and restate the Initial Warrants, dated March 23, 2005, which more formally
implemented the original agreement made on February 18, 2005 with respect to such warrants, to provide that all
2,500,000 warrant shares were vested and the exercise price was reset to $0.31 per share.  The difference, between the
value of the warrants on the original February, 18, 2005 measurement date which was calculated using an exercise price
of $0.50/share, and their value on the January 18, 2006 modification date which was calculated using an exercise price
of $0.31/share, amounted to $2,365 and, was credited to additional paid-in capital and included in deferred financing
fees.
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(e)           The Company agreed to amend the Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 23, 2005 (the “Registration
Rights Agreement”), between the parties to incorporate the Initial Warrants, the Waiver Warrants and any new shares or
warrants issued to Aspen in connection with the Equity Purchase Rights or the New Debt Rights.

(f)           All Waiver Warrants, the Initial Warrants and all warrants issued to Aspen and SKL in connection with the
purchase of equity or debt securities are exercisable at the option of the holder for a term of five years, and each such
warrant contains provisions that allow for a physical exercise, a net cash exercise or a net share settlement.  We used the
Black-Scholes pricing model to estimate the fair value of all such warrants as of the date of issue for each, using the
following  approximate assumptions: dividend yield of 0 %, expected volatility of 14.6 – 19.3% (depending on the date
of agreement), risk-free interest rate of 4.5%, and a term expected life of 3 - 5 years.
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The Aspen Credit Facility was paid in full in June 2007 and it expired on September 30, 2007.

During the period from January 18 - 21, 2006, the Company entered into agreements with four other shareholders who
are parties to a Shareholders’ Agreement, dated March 23, 2005, to exchange five year warrants to purchase an aggregate
of 150,000 shares of stock at an exercise price of $0.26/share for such shareholders’ waiver of their pre-emptive rights
under the Shareholders’ Agreement.

On January 21, 2006 the Company entered into a subscription agreement (the Subscription) with SKL whereby SKL
purchased 2.0 million shares (the Subscription Shares) of the Company’s Common Stock at a purchase price of
$0.20/share for $400,000. Under the terms of the Subscription, the Subscription Shares are restricted for a period of
twenty-four (24) months and then carry piggyback registration rights to the extent that exemptions under Rule 144 are
not available to SKL. In connection with the Subscription, the Company also issued a five (5) year warrant to purchase
900,000 shares of our Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.26 per share. SKL has no previous affiliation with the
Company.

On March 11, 2005, we entered into an agreement with HCSS, LLC and eTelenext, Inc. to enable NeoGenomics to use
eTelenext, Inc’s Accessioning Application, AP Anywhere Application and CMQ Application. HCSS, LLC is a holding
company created to build a small laboratory network for the 50 small commercial genetics laboratories in the United
States. HCSS, LLC is owned 66.7% by Dr. Michael T. Dent, our Chairman. By becoming the first customer of HCSS in
the small laboratory network, the Company saved approximately $152,000 in up front licensing fees. Under the terms of
the agreement, the Company paid $22,500 over three months to customize this software and will pay an annual
membership fee of $6,000 per year and monthly transaction fees of between $2.50 - $10.00 per completed test,
depending on the volume of tests performed. The eTelenext system is an elaborate laboratory information system (LIS)
that is in use at many larger labs. By assisting in the formation of the small laboratory network, the Company will be
able to increase the productivity of its technologists and have on-line links to other small labs in the network in order to
better manage its workflow.

On May 14, 2007 the Board of Director’s approved the grant of 100,000 warrants to each non-employee director.  There
has not been any definitive agreement as to the terms but 25% will vest immediately and the remaining warrants will
vest an additional 25% over each of the next three years.  The board also approved an increase in its’ per board meeting
fees to non-employee director’s from $600 to $1,000 for each meeting.

In connection with the capital raising services of Aspen Capital Advisors for this offering, they received:  (a) warrants to
purchase 250,000 shares of our Common Stock, which such warrants have a five year term, an exercise price equal to
$1.50 per share, cashless exercise provisions, customary anti-dilution provisions and the same other terms, conditions,
rights and preferences as those shares sold to the  Investors in the Private Placement, and (b) a cash fee equal to
$52,375.  Steven Jones is general partner for Aspen Capital Advisors.

The following director’s of NeoGenomics are independent: George O’Leary, and William J. Robison.  The following
directors are not independent: Robert Gasparini, Michael Dent, Marvin Jaffe, Steven Jones, and Peter Peterson.

The audit committee is comprised of two directors, Steven Jones and George O’Leary.  Steven Jones is not considered an
independent director but is part of the committee.

The compensation committee is comprised of all directors except for Robert Gasparini.  Michael Dent, Marvin Jaffe,
Steven Jones and Peter Peterson are not independent directors but are part of the committee.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

Common Stock

We are authorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, of which 31,415,021
shares were issued and outstanding as of the date of this prospectus.

The securities being offered hereby are Common Stock. The outstanding shares of our Common Stock are fully paid and
non-assessable. The holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share for the election of Directors and with
respect to all other matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. Shares of our Common Stock do not have cumulative
voting rights, which means that the holders of more than 50% of such shares voting for the election of directors can
elect 100% of the Directors if they choose to do so. Our Common Stock does not have preemptive rights, meaning that
the common shareholders’ ownership interest in the Company would be diluted if additional shares of Common Stock
are subsequently issued and the existing shareholders are not granted the right, at the discretion of the Board of
Directors, to maintain their ownership interest in our Company.

Upon  liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, our assets, after the payment of debts and liabilities and
any liquidation preferences of, and unpaid dividends on, any class of preferred stock then outstanding, will be
distributed pro-rata to the holders of our Common Stock. The holders of our Common Stock do not have preemptive or
conversion rights to subscribe for any of our securities and have no right to require us to redeem or purchase their
shares.  The holders of Common Stock are entitled to share equally in dividends, if, as and when declared by our Board
of Directors, out of funds legally available therefore, subject to the priorities given to any class of preferred stock which
may be issued.

Preferred Stock

We are authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Preferred
Stock”).  Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. The Board of Directors is authorized to
fix or alter the dividend rights, dividend rate, conversion rights, voting rights, rights and terms of redemption (including
sinking fund provisions), the redemption price or prices, the liquidation preferences of any wholly unissued series of
Preferred Stock, and the number of shares constituting any such series and the designation thereof, or any of them; and
to increase or decrease the number of shares of any series subsequent to the issue of shares of that series, but not below
the number of shares of such series then outstanding and which the Company may be obligated to issue under options,
warrants or other contractual commitments. In case the number of shares of any series shall be so decreased, the shares
constituting such decrease shall resume the status which they had prior to the adoption of the resolution originally fixing
the number of shares of such series.  As of May [20], 2008,, no such shares have been designated.

Warrants

As of May 30, 2008, we had 5,805,363 warrants outstanding, 5,480,363 of which were vested.  The exercise prices of
these warrants range from $0.26 to 1.50 per share.

Options
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As of May 30, 2008, we had 3,649,168 options outstanding.  The exercise prices of these options range from $0.16 to
$1.82 per share.

Transfer Agent

The Company’s transfer agent is Standard Registrar & Transfer Company located at 12528 South 1840 East Draper,
Utah, 84020.  The transfer agent’s telephone number is (801) 571-8844.

Reports To Stockholders

We intend to furnish our stockholders with annual reports which will describe the nature and scope of our business and
operations for the prior year and will contain a copy of our audited financial statements for the most recent fiscal year.
Indemnification Of Directors And Executive Officers And Limitation On Liability
61
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Our Articles of Incorporation eliminate the liability of our Directors and officers for breaches of fiduciary duties as
Directors and officers, except to the extent otherwise required by the Nevada Revised Statutes and where the breach
involves intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of the law.

Nevada Revised Statutes 78.750, 78.751 and 78.752 have similar provisions that provide for discretionary and
mandatory indemnification of officers, Directors, employees, and agents of a corporation. Under these provisions, such
persons may be indemnified by a corporation against expenses, including attorney’s fees, judgment, fines and amounts
paid in settlement, actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with the action, suit or proceeding, if he acted
in good faith and in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in or opposed to the best interests of the corporation
and with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to any action, suit or proceeding, had no
reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful.

To the extent that a Director, officer, employee or agent has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any
action, suit or proceeding, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter, he must be indemnified by us against expenses,
including attorney’s fees, actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with the defense.

Any indemnification, unless ordered by a court or advanced by us, must be made only as authorized in the specific case
upon a determination that indemnification of the Director, officer, employee or agent is proper in the circumstances. The
determination must be made:

• By the stockholders;

•By our Board of Directors by majority vote of a quorum consisting of Directors who were not parties to that act, suit
or proceeding;

•If a majority vote of a quorum consisting of Directors who were not parties to the act, suit or proceeding cannot be
obtained, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion; or

•If a quorum consisting of Directors who were not parties to the act, suit or proceeding cannot be obtained, by
independent legal counsel in a written opinion;

•Expenses of officers and Directors incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding must be paid by
us as they are incurred and in advance of the final disposition of the action, suit or proceeding, upon receipt of an
undertaking by the Director or officer to repay the amount if it is ultimately determined by a court of competent
jurisdiction that he is not entitled to be indemnified by us.

•To the extent that a Director, officer, employee or agent has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of
any action, suit or proceeding referred to in subsections 1 and 2, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, we
shall indemnify him against expenses, including attorneys’ fees, actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection
with the defense.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to Directors, officers, and
controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised
that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is,
therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by
the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a Director, officer, or controlling person in the successful defense of any
action, suit, or proceeding) is asserted by such Director, officer, or controlling person connected with the securities
being registered, we will, unless in the opinion of our counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent,
submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by us is against public policy as
expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares offered hereby has been opined on for us by Burton, Bartlett & Glogovac.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the securities
offered by this prospectus. This prospectus, which forms a part of the registration statement, does not contain all the
information set forth in the registration statement, as permitted by the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further
information with respect to us and the securities offered by this prospectus, reference is made to the registration
statement.

Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any contract or other document that we have filed as an
exhibit to the registration statement are qualified in their entirety by reference to the exhibits for a complete statement of
their terms and conditions. The registration statement and other information may be read and copied at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549.  The public may obtain information on the operation of
the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.  The SEC maintains a web site at
http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that
file electronically with the SEC.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(unaudited)

ASSETS
March 31,
2008

December
31, 2007

CURRENT ASSETS
     Cash and cash equivalents $ 330,358 $ 210,573
       Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $390,275
         and $414,548, respectively) 2,937,905 3,236,751
     Inventories 245,986 304,750
     Other current assets 426,739 400,168
          Total current assets 3,940,988 4,152,242

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (net of accumulated depreciation of $1,018,446 and
$862,030, respectively) 2,032,537 2,108,083

OTHER ASSETS 248,374 260,575

TOTAL ASSETS $ 6,221,899 $ 6,520,900

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
     Accounts payable $ 1,609,775 $ 1,799,159
     Accrued expenses and other liabilities 1,280,212 1,319,580
     Short-term portion of equipment capital leases 288,415 242,966
          Total current liabilities 3,178,402 3,361,705

LONG TERM LIABILITIES
      Long-term portion of equipment capital leases 890,468 837,081

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,068,870 4,198,786

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
     Common stock, $.001 par value, (100,000,000 shares authorized; 31,407,545
     and 31,391,660 shares issued and outstanding, respectively) 31,407 31,391
     Additional paid-in capital 16,917,216 16,820,954
     Accumulated deficit (14,795,594) (14,530,231)
          Total stockholders’ equity 2,153,029 2,322,114

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 6,221,899 $ 6,520,900

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2008 AND 2007

(unaudited)

March 31,
2008

March 31,
2007

NET REVENUE $ 4,162,762 $ 2,242,661
COST OF REVENUE 1,858,474 936,734
GROSS PROFIT  2,304,288 1,305,927

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
General and administrative 2,514,555 1,426,548
Interest expense, net 55,096 98,924
     Total operating expenses 2,569,651 1,525,472

NET LOSS $ (265,363) $ (219,545)

NET LOSS PER SHARE  - Basic and Fully Diluted $ (0.01) $ (0.01)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER
OF SHARES OUTSTANDING – Basic and Fully Diluted 31,400,947 27,371,233

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2008 AND 2007

(unaudited)
March 31,
2008

March 31,
2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
    Net Loss $ (265,363) $ (219,545)
    Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
       Provision for bad debts 425,453 110,000
       Depreciation 156,416 81,981
       Impairment of assets - 2,235
       Amortization of debt issue costs 8,830 5,359
       Stock based compensation 48,537 91,510
       Non cash consulting expenses 34,271 4,741

    Changes in assets and liabilities, net:
        (Increase) decrease in accounts receivable, net of write-offs (126,607) (546,472)
        (Increase) decrease in inventories 58,764 (37,828)
        (Increase) decrease in other current assets (35,402) (6,740)
        Increase (decrease) in deposits 12,201 -
        Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other liabilities (122,462) 132,728
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 194,638 (382,031)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
    Purchases of property and equipment (25,115) (24,418)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (25,115) (24,418)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advances from/(repayments to) affiliates, net - 25,000
Repayment of capital leases (63,208) (30,631)
    Issuance of common stock and warrants for cash, net of transaction expenses 13,470 863,207
    Repayment of notes payable - (2,000)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (49,738) 855,576

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 119,785 449,127

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 210,573 126,266

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD $ 330,358 $ 575,393

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
   Interest paid $ 47,931 $ 77,922
   Income taxes paid $ - $ 100
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

$ 162,043 $ 239,579

Edgar Filing: DYNACQ HEALTHCARE INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 117



   Equipment leased under capital leases, including $140,000 in accrued expenses at
December 31, 2007
   Equipment purchased and included in accounts payable at March 31, 2008 $ 33,713 $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF MARCH 31, 2008

NOTE A – NATURE OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

Nature of Business

NeoGenomics, Inc., a Nevada corporation, (the “Parent”) and its subsidiary, NeoGenomics, Inc., a Florida corporation,
doing business as NeoGenomics Laboratories (“NEO”, “NeoGenomics” or the “Subsidiary”) (collectively referred to as “we”,
“us”, “our”, or the “Company”) operates as a certified “high complexity” clinical laboratory in accordance with the federal
government’s Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 (“CLIA”), and is dedicated to the delivery of
clinical diagnostic services to pathologists, oncologists, urologists, hospitals, and other laboratories throughout the
United States.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Parent and the
Subsidiary.  All significant intercompany accounts and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company are unaudited and include all
adjustments, in the opinion of management, which are necessary to make the financial statements not
misleading.  Except as otherwise disclosed, all such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. Interim results are not
necessarily indicative of results for a full year.

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements and notes are presented in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and do not contain certain information included in the
Company’s 2007 annual report on Form 10-KSB. Therefore, the interim condensed consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in the Company’s
annual report.

Net Loss Per Common Share

We compute net loss per share in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Statement No. 128 “Earnings per
Share” (“SFAS 128”) and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 98 (“SAB 98”).  Under the provisions of SFAS No. 128 and
SAB 98, basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing
the net loss for the period by the weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding
during the period.  Common equivalent shares outstanding as of March 31, 2008 and 2007, which consisted of employee
stock options and certain warrants issued to consultants and other providers of financing to the Company, were excluded
from diluted net loss per common share calculations as of such dates because they were anti-dilutive.  For the three
months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, we reported net loss per share and as such basic and diluted loss per share
were equivalent.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 provides a new
single authoritative definition of fair value and provides enhanced guidance for measuring the fair value of assets and
liabilities and requires additional disclosures related to the extent to which companies measure assets and liabilities at
fair value, the information used to measure fair value, and the effect of fair value measurements on earnings.  SFAS 157
was effective for the Company as of January 1, 2008 for financial assets and financial liabilities within its scope and did
not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS –

AS OF MARCH 31, 2008 (Continued)

In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2 “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157”
(“FSP FAS 157-2”) which defers the effective date of SFAS 157 for all non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities,
except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least
annually), to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years for items
within the scope of FSP FAS 157-2.  The Company is currently assessing the impact, if any, of SFAS 157 and FSP FAS
157-2 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities –
Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115.” (“SFAS 159”).  SFAS 159 permits an entity to measure many
financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value.
The Company adopted this Statement as of January 1, 2008 and has elected not to apply the fair value option to any of
its financial instruments.

 In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements – an
amendment of ARB No. 51.” SFAS No. 160 requires all entities to report noncontrolling (minority) interests in
subsidiaries as equity in the consolidated financial statements. Its intention is to eliminate the diversity in practice
regarding the accounting for transactions between an entity and noncontrolling interests. This Statement is effective for
the Company as of January 1, 2009.

NOTE B – DEBT OBLIGATION

Revolving Credit and Security Agreement

On February 1, 2008, our subsidiary, NeoGenomics, Inc., a Florida corporation (“Borrower”), entered into a Revolving
Credit and Security Agreement (the “Credit Facility” or “Credit Agreement”) with CapitalSource Finance LLC
(“CapitalSource”), the terms of which provide for borrowings based on eligible accounts receivable up to a maximum
borrowing of $3,000,000, as defined in the Credit Agreement.  Subject to the provisions of the Credit Agreement,
CapitalSource shall make advances to us from time to time during the three (3) year term, and the Credit Facility may be
drawn, repaid and redrawn from time to time as permitted under the Credit Agreement.

Interest on outstanding advances under the Credit Facility are payable monthly in arrears on the first day of each
calendar month at an annual rate based on the one-month LIBOR plus 3.25%, subject to a LIBOR floor of 3.14%.  At
March 31, 2008, the effective rate of interest was 6.39%.

To secure the payment and performance in full of the Obligations (as defined in the Credit Agreement), we granted
CapitalSource a continuing security interest in and lien upon, all of our rights, title and interest in and to our Accounts
(as defined in the Credit Agreement), which primarily consist of accounts receivable and cash balances held in lock box
accounts.  Furthermore, pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Parent guaranteed the punctual payment when due,
whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, of all of our obligations. The Parent guaranty is a continuing
guarantee and shall remain in force and effect until the indefeasible cash payment in full of the Guaranteed Obligations
(as defined in the Credit Agreement) and all other amounts payable under the Credit Agreement.

On March 31, 2008, the available credit on the Credit Facility was approximately $1,036,000 and the outstanding
borrowings was $0, after netting of $227,235 in compensating cash on hand.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS –

AS OF MARCH 31, 2008 (Continued)

NOTE C – LIQUIDITY

Our condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared using accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America applicable to a going concern, which contemplate the realization of assets and liquidation of
liabilities in the normal course of business.   At March 31, 2008, we had stockholders’ equity of $2,153,029.  On
February 1, 2008, we entered into a revolving credit facility with CapitalSource Finance, LLC, which allows us to
borrow up to $3,000,000 based on a formula which is based upon our eligible accounts receivable, as defined in the
Credit Agreement. As of March 31, 2008, we had approximately $330,000 in cash on hand and $1,036,000 of
availability under our Credit Facility.  As such, we believe we have adequate resources to meet our operating
commitments for the next twelve months and accordingly our condensed consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts and
classification of liabilities that might be necessary should we be unable to continue as a going concern.

NOTE D – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

US Labs Settlement

On October 26, 2006, Accupath Diagnostics Laboratories, Inc. d/b/a US Labs, a California corporation (“US Labs”) filed
a complaint in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles (entitled Accupath
Diagnostics Laboratories, Inc. v. NeoGenomics, Inc., et al., Case No. BC 360985) (the “Lawsuit”) against the Company
and Robert Gasparini, as an individual, and certain other employees and non-employees of NeoGenomics (the
“Defendants”) with respect to claims arising from discussions with current and former employees of US Labs.  On March
18, 2008, we reached a preliminary agreement to settle US Labs’ claims, and in accordance with SFAS No. 5,
Accounting For Contingencies, as of December 31, 2007 we accrued a $375,000 loss contingency, which consisted of
$250,000 to provide for the Company’s expected share of this settlement, and $125,000 to provide for the Company’s
share of the estimated legal fees up to the date of settlement.

On April 23, 2008, the Company and US Labs entered into a Settlement Agreement and Release (the “Settlement
Agreement”); whereby, both parties agreed to settle and resolve all claims asserted in and arising out of the
aforementioned lawsuit. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the Defendants are required to pay $500,000 to US
Labs, of which $250,000 shall be paid on or prior to May 1, 2008 with funds from the Company’s insurance carrier and
the remaining $250,000 shall be paid by the Company on the last day of each month in equal installments of $31,250
commencing on May 31, 2008.  In May 2008, our insurance carrier paid $250,000 to US Labs.   Under the terms of the
Settlement Agreement, there are certain provisions agreed to in the event of default.

Private Placement of Common Stock and Related SEC Review

During 2007, we received a comment letter from the SEC Staff questioning certain matters disclosed in our Form
10-KSB as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006.  As a result, we were unable to effectively complete the
Registration Statement filed in connection with the June 2007 Private Placement of the Company’s common stock.  As
of December 31, 2007 and pursuant to the terms of the June 2007 Private Placement, the Company accrued $282,000 in
penalties as liquidated damages, which are expected to be incurred for the period commencing on the 120th day
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following the Private Placement through May 2008, at which time we expect to be able to effectively complete the
Registration Statement for the Private Placement shares.

On April 29, 2008, we filed an amended 2006 Form 10-KSB/A with the SEC, and on April 30, 2008 we received
correspondence from the SEC that they have completed their review and that they had no further comments.  We are
currently in the process of completing the Registration Statement and expect such to be filed with the SEC in the near
future in order to effectively register the shares issued in the June 2007 Private Placement. As such, we do not anticipate
incurring any further penalties.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS –

AS OF MARCH 31, 2008 (Continued)

NOTE E – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the three month period ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, Steven C. Jones, a director of the Company, earned
$59,000 and $21,000, respectively, for various consulting work performed in connection with his duties as Acting
Principal Financial Officer.

During the three month period ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, George O’Leary, a director of the Company, earned
$1,100 and $9,500 respectively, in cash for various consulting work performed for the Company.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH
31, 2008

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements, and the Notes thereto included herein. The information contained below includes statements of the
Company’s or management’s beliefs, expectations, hopes, goals and plans that, if not historical, are forward-looking
statements subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
anticipated in the forward-looking statements. For a discussion on forward-looking statements, see the information set
forth in the Introductory Note to this Quarterly Report under the caption “Forward Looking Statements”, which
information is incorporated herein by reference.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires us to make estimates and assumptions and select accounting policies that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

While many operational aspects of our business are subject to complex federal, state and local regulations, the
accounting for our business is generally straightforward with net revenues primarily recognized upon completion of the
testing process. Our revenues are primarily comprised of a high volume of relatively low dollar transactions, and about
one-half of total operating costs and expenses consist of employee compensation and benefits. Due to the nature of our
business, several of our accounting policies involve significant estimates and judgments. These accounting policies have
been described in our Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 2007, and there have been no
material changes in the three months ended March 31, 2008.

Overview
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NeoGenomics operates a network of cancer-focused testing laboratories that specifically target the rapidly growing
genetic and molecular testing segment of the medical laboratory industry.  We currently operate in three laboratory
locations: Fort Myers, Florida, Nashville, Tennessee and Irvine, California.  We currently offer throughout the United
States the following types of testing services to oncologists, pathologists, urologists, hospitals, and other laboratories:  a)
cytogenetics testing, which analyzes human chromosomes, b) Fluorescence In-Situ Hybridization (FISH) testing, which
analyzes abnormalities at the chromosome and gene levels, c) flow cytometry testing services, which analyzes gene
expression of specific markers inside cells and on cell surfaces, d) morphological testing, which analyzes cellular
structures and e) molecular testing which involves analysis of DNA and RNA and prediction of the clinical significance
of various cancers.  All of these testing services are widely used in the diagnosis and prognosis of various types of
cancer.

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board (the “OTCBB”) under the symbol “NGNM.”

F-7
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Results of Operations for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2008 as Compared to the Three Months Ended March 31,
2007

Revenue

During the three months ended March 31, 2008, our revenues increased approximately 86% to $4,162,800 from
$2,242,700 during the three months ended March 31, 2007. This was the result of a 61% increase in testing volume and
a 15% increase in average revenue per test. This volume increase is the result of wide acceptance of our bundled testing
product offering and our industry leading turnaround times resulting in new customers.  The increase in average revenue
per test is primarily attributable to an increase in certain Medicare reimbursements for 2008, and a modest increase in
flow cytometry testing which has the highest reimbursement rate of any test we offer. Revenues per test are a function
of both the nature of the test and the payor (Medicare, Medicaid, third party insurer, institutional client etc.).  Our policy
is to record as revenue the amounts that we expect to collect based on published or contracted amounts and/or prior
experience with the payor.   We have established a reserve for uncollectible amounts based on estimates of what we will
collect from a) third-party payors with whom we do not have a contractual arrangement or sufficient experience to
accurately estimate the amount of reimbursement we will receive, b) co-payments directly from patients, and c) those
procedures that are not covered by insurance or other third party payors.   On March 31, 2008, our allowance for
doubtful accounts was $390,275, a 209% increase from our balance at March 31, 2007 of $126,363.  The allowance for
doubtful accounts was approximately 11.7% and 6.0% of accounts receivables on March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007,
respectively.   This increase was the result of an increase in accounts receivable due to increased revenues and the
increase in the percentage of our aged accounts receivable greater than 120 days.  The increase in accounts receivable
greater than 120 days old was primarily the result of two factors.  First, in July 2007 we determined that our current
billing system was not scalable as our volume grew and made management of accounts receivable very
difficult.  Second, in 2007 we determined that we were understaffed and lacked adequate management in our billing
department.  Therefore, in the fourth quarter of 2007 we reorganized our billing department and in the first quarter of
2008 we implemented a new billing system.  We are still in the process of resolving previous billing claim issues which
has resulted in a much higher allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of accounts receivable.  As a result, the
percentage of our claims over 120 days at March 31, 2008 declined 5% from the previous period ended December 31,
2007.

Cost of Revenue

During the three months ended March 31, 2008, our cost of revenue, as a percentage of revenue, increased from 42% for
the three months ended March 31, 2007 to 45%.  This was primarily a result of increases in the number of employees
and related benefits as well as increased facilities and other related costs as the Company expanded in 2007 in order to
have additional capacity in order to handle anticipated growth in 2008.

General and Administrative Expenses

For the three months ended March 31, 2008, our general and administrative expenses increased by approximately 76%
to $2,514,600 from approximately $1,426,500 for the three months ended March 31, 2007. General and administrative
expenses, as a percentage of sales were 60% for the three months ended March 31, 2008, compared with 64% for the
three months ended March 31, 2007, a decrease of 4%.  This decrease was primarily a net result of an 8% decrease in
legal expense as a percentage of revenue offset by a 5% increase in bad debt expense as a percentage of revenue.  Bad
debt expense for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007 was $425,500 and $110,000,
respectively.  This increase was necessitated by the significant increase in revenues noted above and to a lesser extent
by the issues denoted in the revenue paragraph above  and in our critical accounting policies as described in our annual
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report filed on Form 10-KSB.
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Other Income/Expense

Interest expense, net decreased approximately 44% in the first three months of 2008 to approximately $55,100 from
approximately $98,900 for the first three months of 2007.  This decrease is primarily a result of the different amounts
and borrowing instruments in place in the respective periods.  Interest expense for the period ended March 31, 2008 is
related to our new credit facility, while interest expense for the period ended March 31, 2007 was related to our previous
credit facility with Aspen Select Healthcare.

Net Loss

As a result of the foregoing, our net loss increased from approximately ($219,500) for the three months ended March
31, 2007 to approximately ($265,400) for the three months ended March 31, 2008, an increase in loss of $45,818 or
21%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the three months ended March 31, 2008, our operating activities provided approximately $201,400 in cash
compared with $382,000 used in the three months ended March 31, 2007.  We also spent approximately $23,100 on new
equipment during the three months ended March 31, 2008, compared with $24,400 for the three months ended March
31, 2007.  At March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $330,358 and
$575,393, respectively. At the present time, we anticipate that based on our current business plan and operations, our
existing cash balances, the availability of our accounts receivable line with CapitalSource, that we will have adequate
cash for at least the next twelve months.  This estimate of our cash needs does not include any additional funding which
may be required for growth in our business beyond that which is planned, strategic transactions, or acquisitions.  In the
event that the Company grows faster than we currently anticipate or we engage in strategic transactions or acquisitions
and our cash on hand and/or our availability under the CapitalSource Credit Facility is not sufficient to meet our
financing needs, we may need to raise additional capital from other resources.  In such event, the Company may not be
able to obtain such funding on attractive terms, or at all, and the Company may be required to curtail its operations.  In
the event that we do need to raise additional capital, we would seek to raise this additional money through issuing a
combination of debt and/or equity securities primarily through banks and/or other large institutional investors.  On
March 31, 2008, we had $330,358 in cash on hand and approximately $1,036,000 of availability under our Credit
Facility.

ITEM 3 – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not
required to provide information under this item.

ITEM 4 – Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports
filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported to our
management, including our Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer, and Principal Accounting Officer,
as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on our evaluation completed as of
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December 31, 2007, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures as of March 31, 2008, had material weaknesses that caused our controls and procedures to be
ineffective. As detailed in the Company’s Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, these weaknesses
consisted of the lack of a formal anti-fraud program, inadequate controls over financial software systems and high risk
spreadsheets, and proper controls over the timely resubmission of insurance claims. There have been no significant
changes to our controls or other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the period covered
by this Quarterly Report.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.

A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that
the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within our company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that
judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes.
Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by
management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions
about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated
goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions
or deterioration in the degree of compliance with our policies or procedures. Because of the inherent limitations in a
cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. We continuously
evaluate our internal controls and make changes to improve them.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the last fiscal quarter that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 4T – Controls and Procedures

Not applicable.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of NeoGenomics, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of NeoGenomics, Inc. (the “Company”), as of December
31, 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States of America).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.  Our audit included consideration of internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of December 31, 2007, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December
31, 2007 and 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Kingery & Crouse, P.A
Tampa, FL
April 14, 2008
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2007

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
     Cash and cash equivalents $ 210,573
     Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $414,548) 3,236,751
     Inventories 304,750
     Other current assets 400,168
          Total current assets $ 4,152,242

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (net of accumulated depreciation of $862,030) $ 2,108,083

OTHER ASSETS $ 260,575

TOTAL ASSETS $ 6,520,900

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
     Accounts payable $ 1,799,159
     Accrued compensation 370,496
     Accrued expenses and other liabilities 574,084
     Legal contingency (Note G) 375,000
     Short-term portion of equipment capital leases 242,966
          Total current liabilities $ 3,361,705

LONG TERM LIABILITIES
      Long-term portion of equipment capital leases $ 837,081

TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 4,198,786

     Commitments and contingencies

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
     Common stock, $.001 par value, (100,000,000 shares authorized; 31,391,660
         shares issued and outstanding) $ 31,391
     Additional paid-in capital 16,820,954
     Accumulated deficit (14,530,231)
          Total stockholders’ equity 2,322,114

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 6,520,900

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006

2007 2006

NET REVENUE $ 11,504,725 $ 6,475,996
COST OF REVENUE 5,522,775 2,759,190
GROSS MARGIN $ 5,981,950 $ 3,716,806

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE
General and administrative $ 9,122,922 $ 3,576,812

INCOME / (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS $ (3,140,972 ) $ 139,994

OTHER INCOME / (EXPENSE):
Other income $ 24,256 $ 55,970
Interest expense (263,456 ) (325,625)
   Other income / (expense) – net $ (239,200 ) $ (269,655)

NET LOSS (3,380,172 ) (129,661)
NET LOSS PER SHARE  - Basic and Diluted $ (0.11 ) $ (0.00)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER
OF SHARES OUTSTANDING – Basic and Diluted $ 29,764,289 $ 26,166,031

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006

Common Common Additional Deferred
Stock Stock Paid-In Stock Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Compensation Deficit Total

Balances, December 31, 2005 22,836,754 $ 22,836 $ 10,005,308 $ (2,685) $ (11,020,398) $ (994,939)

Common stock issuances for
cash 3,530,819 3,531 1,099,469 - - 1,103,000
Common stock issued for
acquisition 100,000 100 49,900 - - 50,000
Transaction fees and
expenses - - (80,189) - - (80,189)
Adjustment of credit facility
discount - - 2,365 - - 2,365
Exercise of stock options and
warrants 546,113 546 66,345 - - 66,891
Warrants and stock issued for
services 7,618 8 7,642 - - 7,650
Payment of note on Yorkville
Capital fee - - (50,000) - - (50,000)
Stock issued to settle
accounts payable 40,172 40 15,627 - - 15,667
Stock compensation expense - - 63,730 - - 63,730
Reclassification of deferred
compensation to additional
paid in capital upon adoption
of SFAS 123R - - (2,685) 2,685 - -
Net loss - - - - (129,661) (129,661)
Balances, December 31, 2006 27,061,476 $ 27,061 $ 11,177,512 - $ (11,150,059) $ 54,514

Common stock issuances for
cash 4,154,684 4,155 5,574,682 - - 5,578,837
Transaction fees and
expenses - - (346,110) - - (346,110)
Exercise of stock options and
warrants 175,500 175 53,619 - - 53,794
Warrants issued for services - - 159,153 - - 159,153
Stock compensation expense - - 202,098 - - 202,098
Net loss - - - - (3,380,172) (3,380,172)
Balances, December 31, 2007 31,391,660 $ 31,391 $ 16,820,954 $ - $ (14,530,231) $ 2,322,114
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See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006

2007 2006
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
    Net Loss $ (3,380,172) $ (129,661)
    Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
       Depreciation and amortization 451,459 233,632
       Impairment of assets 2,235 53,524
       Amortization of credit facility warrants and debt issue costs 54,900 72,956
       Stock based compensation 202,098 63,730
       Non-cash consulting 159,153 7,650
       Other non-cash expenses 29,423 59,804
       Provision for bad debts 1,013,804 444,133
    Changes in assets and liabilities, net:
        (Increase) decrease in accounts receivable, net of write-offs (2,700,797) (1,442,791)
        (Increase) decrease in inventory (187,388) (57,362)
        (Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (343,032) (101,805)
        (Increase) decrease in other current assets (26,671) (31,522)
        Increase (decrease) in deferred revenues - (100,000)
        Increase (decrease) in legal contingency 375,000 -
        Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other liabilities 1,707,397 233,930
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (2,642,591) (693,782)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
    Purchases of property and equipment (516,144) (398,618)
Investment in other assets (Power 3) (200,000) -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (716,144) (398,618)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advances (repayments)  from/to  affiliates, net (1,675,000) 175,000
Notes payable (2,000) 2,000
Repayment of capital lease obligations (166,479) (58,980)
    Issuance of common stock and warrants for cash , net of transaction expenses 5,286,521 1,089,702
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 3,443,042 1,207,722

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 84,307 115,322

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 126,266 10,944

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 210,573 $ 126,266

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
   Interest paid $ 204,670 $ 269,316
   Equipment leased under capital leases $ 703,145 $ 602,357

Edgar Filing: DYNACQ HEALTHCARE INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 138



   Income taxes paid $ - $ -
   Common stock issued for acquisition $ - $ 50,000
   Common stock issued in settlement of financing fees $ - $ 50,000

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2007

NOTE A – Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation

NeoGenomics, Inc., a Nevada Company, was formed in 1998 under the name of American Communications
Enterprises, Inc. (“ACE”, the “Parent”, or the “Parent Company”).

NeoGenomics, Inc., a Florida company, doing business as NeoGenomics Laboratories (“NEO”, “NeoGenomics”
or  ”Subsidiary”) was formed in June 2001, and agreed to be acquired by ACE in a reverse acquisition in November
2001.  NeoGenomics operates as a certified “high complexity” clinical laboratory in accordance with the federal
government’s Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 (“CLIA”), and is dedicated to the delivery of
clinical diagnostic services to pathologists, oncologists, urologists, hospitals, and other laboratories throughout the
United States.

ACE succeeded to NEO’s name in January, 2002, and NeoGenomics remains a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Parent
Company. (NEO and ACE are collectively referred to as “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company”).

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Parent and the Subsidiary.  All
significant intercompany accounts and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Certain amounts in the prior year’s consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current
year presentation.

NOTE B – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.  These principles require management to make estimates, judgments and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, together with amounts
disclosed in the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.  Actual results and outcomes may differ from
management’s estimates, judgments and assumptions.  Significant estimates, judgments and assumptions used in these
consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, those related to revenues, accounts receivable and
related reserves, contingencies, useful lives and recovery of long-term assets, income and other taxes, and the fair value
of stock-based compensation.  These estimates, judgments, and assumptions are reviewed periodically and the effects of
material revisions in estimates are reflected in the consolidated financial statements prospectively from the date of the
change in estimate.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s (the “Commission”)
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition”, when the price is fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists, the service is performed and collectability of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.
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The Company’s specialized diagnostic services are performed based on a written test requisition form and revenues are
recognized once the diagnostic services have been performed, the results have been delivered to the ordering physician,
the payor has been identified and eligibility and insurance have been verified.  These diagnostic services are billed to
various payors, including Medicare, commercial insurance companies, other directly billed healthcare institutions such
as hospitals and clinics, and individuals.  The Company reports revenues from contracted payors, including Medicare,
certain insurance companies and certain healthcare institutions, based on the contractual rate, or in the case of

F-16

Edgar Filing: DYNACQ HEALTHCARE INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 141



NEOGENOMICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS –

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2007 (Continued)

Medicare, published fee schedules.  The Company reports revenues from non-contracted payors, including certain
insurance companies and individuals, based on the amount expected to be collected.  The difference between the amount
billed and the amount expected to be collected from non-contracted payors is recorded as a contractual allowance to
arrive at the reported revenues.  The expected revenues from non-contracted payors are based on the historical
collection experience of each payor or payor group, as appropriate.  In each reporting period, the Company reviews its
historical collection experience for non-contracted payors and adjusts its expected revenues for current and subsequent
periods accordingly.

Costs of Revenues

Costs of revenues consists primarily of lab related materials and supplies, salaries related to laboratory personnel,
allocated facility costs, and depreciation of equipment used to deliver the Company’s services.

Accounting for Contingencies

When involved in litigation or claims, in the normal course of our business, we follow the provisions of SFAS No. 5,
Accounting for Contingencies, to record litigation or claim-related expenses. We evaluate, among other factors, the
degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. We
accrue for settlements when the outcome is probable and the amount or range of the settlement can be reasonably
estimated. In addition to our judgments and use of estimates, there are inherent uncertainties surrounding litigation and
claims that could result in actual settlement amounts that differ materially from estimates.  With respect to the
agreement to settle the claims brought against the Company by US Labs, as of December 31, 2007 we have accrued a
$375,000 loss contingency, which consists of $250,000 to provide for the Company’s expected portion of this settlement,
and $125,000 to provide for the Company’s portion of the estimated legal fees up to the date of settlement.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reported at realizable value, net of allowance for doubtful accounts (the “Allowance”), which is
estimated and recorded in the period the related revenue is recorded based on the historical collection experience for
each type of payor.  In addition, the Allowance is adjusted periodically, based upon an evaluation of historical collection
experience with specific payors, payor types, and other relevant factors, including regularly assessing the state of our
billing operations in order to identify issues which may impact the collectability of receivables or reserve
estimates.  Revisions to the Allowance are recorded as an adjustment to bad debt expense within general and
administrative expenses.  After appropriate collection efforts have been exhausted, specific receivables deemed to be
uncollectible are charged against the Allowance in the period they are deemed uncollectible.  Recoveries of receivables
previously written-off are recorded as credits to the Allowance.

Statement of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, we consider all highly liquid investments purchased with an original
maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Concentrations of Credit Risk
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The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and liabilities
and other current assets and liabilities are considered reasonable estimates of their respective fair values due to their
short-term nature.  The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with domestic financial institutions that the
Company believes to be of high credit standing.  The Company believes that, as of December 31, 2007, its concentration
of credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents was not significant.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS –

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2007 (Continued)

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to revenue and accounts receivable are primarily limited to certain customers
to whom the Company provides a significant volume of its services to, and to specific payors of our services such as
Medicare, and individual insurance companies.  The Company’s customer base consists of a large number of
geographically dispersed customers diversified across various customer types.  The Company continues to focus its
sales efforts to decrease the dependency on any given source of revenue and decrease its credit risk from any one large
customer or payor type, these efforts have led to the significant decrease of our credit risk from the previous
year.  Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2007 one customer accounted for 25% of total revenue and all
others were less than 10% of total revenue individually.  During the year ended December 31, 2006, three customers
accounted for 26%, 18% and 17% of total revenue, respectively.  In the event that we lost one of these customers, we
would potentially lose a significant percentage of our revenues.   For the year ended December 31, 2007, Medicare and
one commercial insurance provider accounted for 44% and 10% of the Company’s total accounts receivable balance,
respectively.

The Company orders the majority of its FISH probes from one vendor and as a result of their dominance of that
marketplace and the absence of any competitive alternatives, if they were to have a disruption and not have inventory
available it could have a material effect on our business.  This risk cannot be completely offset due to the fact that they
have patent protection which limits other vendors from supplying these probes.

Inventories

Inventories, which consist principally of testing supplies, are valued at the lower of cost or market, using the first-in,
first-out method (FIFO)

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization.  Property and
equipment generally includes purchases of items with a cost greater than $1,000 and a useful life greater than one
year.  Depreciation and amortization are computed on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the related lease terms or their estimated useful
lives.  Property and equipment acquired under capital leases are depreciated over the shorter of the related lease terms or
the useful lives of the assets.  The Company periodically reviews the estimated useful lives of property and equipment.
Changes to the estimated useful lives are recorded prospectively from the date of the change.  Upon retirement or sale,
the cost of the assets disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any
resulting gain or loss is included in income (loss) from operations.  Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.

Income Taxes

We compute income taxes in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Statement No. 109 “Accounting for
Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”).  Under SFAS 109, deferred taxes are recognized for the tax consequences of temporary
differences by applying enacted statutory rates applicable to future years to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities.  Also, the effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax
rates is recognized in income in the period that included the enactment date.  Temporary differences between financial
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and tax reporting arise primarily from the use of different depreciation methods for property and equipment as well as
impairment losses and the timing of recognition of bad debts.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS –

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2007 (Continued)

Stock-Based Compensation

For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company maintained a stock option plan covering potential
equity grants including primarily the issuance of stock options.  In addition, effective January 1, 2007, the Company
began sponsoring an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), whereby eligible employees are entitled to purchase
Common Stock monthly, by means of limited payroll deductions, at a 5% discount from the fair market value of the
Common Stock as of specific dates.  The Company’s ESPP plan is considered exempt from fair value accounting under
SFAS No. 123R since the discount offered to employees is only 5%.  See Note F for a detailed description of the
Company’s plans.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment”
(“SFAS 123(R)”), which is a revision of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). SFAS 123(R) supersedes our previous accounting under Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”) and disclosure under SFAS 123.  In March
2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (“SAB 107”) relating to SFAS 123(R).  We have applied the
provisions of SAB 107 in our adoption of SFAS 123(R).  Under SFAS 123(R), compensation cost for all stock-based
awards, including grants of employee stock options, restricted stock and other equity awards, is measured at fair value at
grant date and recognized as compensation expense on a straight line basis over the employees’ expected requisite
service period.  In addition, SFAS 123(R) requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation
expense to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as prescribed under previous
accounting rules.  The Company selected the modified prospective method of adoption, which recognizes compensation
expense for the fair value of all share-based payments granted after January 1, 2006 and for the fair value of all awards
granted to employees prior to January 1, 2006 that remain unvested on the date of adoption.  This method does not
require a restatement of prior periods.  However, awards granted and still unvested on the date of adoption are attributed
to expense under SFAS 123(R), including the application of forfeiture rates on a prospective basis.  Our forfeiture rate
represents the historical rate at which our stock-based awards were surrendered prior to vesting. SFAS 123(R) requires
forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised on a cumulative basis, if necessary, in subsequent periods if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.  Prior to fiscal year 2006, the Company accounted for forfeitures as they
occurred, for the purposes of pro forma information under SFAS 123.

Tax Effects of Stock-Based Compensation

We will only recognize a tax benefit from windfall tax deductions for stock-based awards in additional paid-in capital if
an incremental tax benefit is realized after all other tax attributes currently available have been utilized.

Net Loss Per Common Share

We compute loss per share in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Statement No. 128 “Earnings per Share”
(“SFAS 128”) and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 98 (“SAB 98”).  Under the provisions of SFAS No. 128 and SAB 98,
basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss
for the period by the weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding during the
period.  Common equivalent shares outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, which consisted of employee stock
options and certain warrants issued to consultants and other providers of financing to the Company, were excluded from
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diluted net loss per common share calculations as of such dates because they were anti-dilutive.  During the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, we reported net loss per share and as such basic and diluted loss per share were
equivalent.
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Recent Pronouncements

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”
(SFAS 159”).  SFAS 159 provides companies with an option to irrevocably elect to measure certain financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis with the resulting changes in fair value recorded in
earnings.  The objective of SFAS 159 is to reduce both the complexity in accounting for financial instruments and the
volatility in earnings caused by using different measurement attributes for financial assets and financial
liabilities.  SFAS 159 is effective for the Company as of January 1, 2008 and as of this effective date, the Company has
elected not to apply the fair value option to any of its financial assets for financial liabilities.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 provides a new
single authoritative definition of fair value and provides enhanced guidance for measuring the fair value of assets and
liabilities and requires additional disclosures related to the extent to which companies measure assets and liabilities at
fair value, the information used to measure fair value, and the effect of fair value measurements on earnings.  SFAS 157
is effective for the Company as of January 1, 2008 for financial assets and financial liabilities within its scope and it is
not expected to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.  In February 2008, the FASB issued
FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2 “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157” (“FSP FAS 157-2”) which defers the
effective date of SFAS 157 for all non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities, except those that are recognized or
disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually), for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years for items within the scope of FSP FAS 157-2.  The
Company is currently assessing the impact, if any, of SFAS 157 and FSP FAS 157-2 for non-financial assets and
non-financial liabilities on its consolidated financial statements.

NOTE C – LIQUIDITY

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared using accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America applicable to a going concern, which contemplate the realization of assets and liquidation of liabilities in the
normal course of business.   At December 31, 2007, we had stockholders’ equity of approximately $2,322,000.  On
February 1, 2008, we entered into a revolving credit facility with CapitalSource Finance, LLC, which allows us to
borrow up to $3,000,000 based on a formula which is tied to our eligible accounts receivable that are aged less than 150
days (See Note L).  As of March 31, 2008 we had approximately $283,000 in cash on hand and $983,000 of availability
under our Credit Facility.  As such, we believe we have adequate resources to meet our operating commitments for the
next twelve months and accordingly our consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be
necessary should we be unable to continue as a going concern.
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NOTE D – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31, 2007:

Estimated
Useful
Lives in
Years

Equipment $ 2,319,601 3-7
Leasehold Improvements 51,989 3-5
Furniture & Fixtures 163,324 7
Computer Hardware 152,405 3
Computer Software 209,134 3
Assets not yet placed in service 73,660 -
        Subtotal 2,970,113
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (862,030)
Furniture and Equipment, net $ 2,108,083

Depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment, including leased assets, for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, was $451,459 and $233,632, respectively.

Property and equipment under capital leases, included above, consists of the following at December 31, 2007:

Equipment $ 1,127,889
Furniture & Fixtures 22,076
Computer Hardware 49,086
Computer Software 94,963
        Subtotal 1,294,014
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (248,711)
Property and Equipment under capital leases, net $ 1,045,303

NOTE E – INCOME TAXES

We recognized losses for financial reporting purposes for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  Accordingly, no provisions for income taxes and/or deferred
income taxes payable have been provided in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

At December 31, 2007, we have net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $4,700,000, the significant
difference between this amount, and our accumulated deficit arises primarily from certain stock based compensation
that is considered to be a permanent difference.  Assuming our net operating loss carryforwards are not disallowed
because of certain “change in control” provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, these net operating loss carryforwards
expire in various years through the year ended December 31, 2027.  However, we have established a valuation
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allowance to fully reserve our deferred income tax assets as such assets did not meet the required asset recognition
standard established by SFAS 109. Our valuation allowance increased by $1,014,110 during the year ended December
31, 2007.
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At December 31, 2007, our current and non-current deferred income tax assets (assuming an effective income tax rate of
approximately 39%) consisted of the following:

Net current deferred income tax asset:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 159,900
Less valuation allowance (159,900)

Total $ -

Net non-current deferred income tax asset:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 1,830,450
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (166,000)
Subtotal 1,664,450
Less valuation allowance (1,664,450)

Total $ -

NOTE F – INCENTIVE STOCK OPTIONS AND AWARDS

Stock Option Plan

On October 31, 2006, our shareholders and Board of Directors amended and restated the NeoGenomics Equity Incentive
Plan, which was originally approved in October 2003 (the “Plan”).  The Plan permits the grant of stock awards and stock
options to officers, directors, employees and consultants.  Options granted under the Plan are either outright stock
awards, Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) or Non-Qualified Stock Options (“NQSO’s).  As part of this amendment and
restatement, the shareholders and Board of Directors approved an increase in the shares reserved under the Plan from
10% of our outstanding common stock at any given time to 12% of our Adjusted Diluted Shares Outstanding, which
equated to 4,463,643 shares of our common stock as of December 31, 2007.  Adjusted Diluted Shares Outstanding are
defined as basic common shares outstanding on the measurement date plus that number of shares that would be issued if
all convertible debt, convertible preferred equity securities and warrants were assumed to be converted into common
stock on the measurement date.  The definition of Adjusted Diluted Shares Outstanding specifically excludes any
unexercised stock options that may be outstanding under either the Stock Option Plan or the ESPP on any measurement
date.  As of December 31, 2007, option and stock awards totaling 2,796,044 shares were outstanding and 497,549
option and stock awards had been exercised, leaving a total of 1,170,050 options and stock awards available for future
issuance.  Options typically have a 5-10 year life and vest over 3 or 4 years but each grant’s vesting and exercise price
provisions are determined at the time the awards are granted by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors
or by the President by virtue of authority delegated to him by the Compensation Committee.
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Adoption of SFAS 123(R)

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123(R), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation
expense in the Company’s statement of operations for all share-based payment awards made to our employees and
directors, including employee stock options and employee stock purchases related to all our stock-based compensation
plans based on estimated fair values.

SFAS 123(R) requires companies to estimate the fair value of stock-based compensation on the date of grant using an
option-pricing model.  The fair value of the award is recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in our
consolidated statement of operations using the straight-line method consistent with the methodology used under SFAS
123.  Under SFAS 123(R) the attributed stock-based compensation expense must be reduced by an estimate of the
annualized rate of stock option forfeitures.  For grants prior to the January 1, 2006 adoption date of SFAS 123(R), The
unrecognized expense of awards not yet vested at the date of adoption is recognized in net income (loss) in the periods
after the date of adoption, using the same valuation method and assumptions determined under the original provisions of
SFAS 123.

We estimate the fair value of stock-based awards using the trinomial lattice model.  This model determines the fair
value of stock-based compensation and is affected by our stock price on the date of the grant as well as assumptions
regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables.  These variables include expected term, expected
risk-free rate of return, expected volatility, and expected dividend yield, each of which is more fully described
below.  The assumptions for expected term and expected volatility are the two assumptions that significantly affect the
grant date fair value.

Expected Term:  The expected term of an option is the period of time that such option is expected to be
outstanding.  The average expected term is determined using the trinomial lattice simulation model.

Risk-free Interest Rate:  We base the risk-free interest rate used in the trinomial lattice valuation method on the implied
yield at the grant date of the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issue with an equivalent term to the stock-based award being
valued.  Where the expected term of a stock-based award does not correspond with the term for which a zero coupon
interest rate is quoted, we used the nearest interest rate from the available maturities.

Expected Stock Price Volatility:  Effective January 1, 2006, we evaluated the assumptions used to estimate volatility
and determined that, under SAB 107, we should use a blended average of our volatility and the volatility of the nearest
peer companies.  We believe that the use of this blended average peer volatility is more reflective of market conditions
and a better indicator of our expected volatility due to the limited trading history available for our Company since its
last change of control, prior to which we operated under a different business model.

Dividend Yield:  Since we have never paid a dividend and do not expect to begin doing so in the foreseeable future, we
have assumed a 0% dividend yield in valuing our stock-based awards.

The fair value of stock option awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was estimated as of
the grant date using the trinomial lattice model with the following weighted average assumptions:

2007 2006
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Expected term (in years) 4.7 5.4
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4.6% 4.8%
Expected volatility (%) 35% 36%
Dividend yield (%) 0% 0%
Weighted average fair value/share at grant date $ 0.45 $ 0.23
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The status of our stock options and stock awards are summarized as follows:

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 1,735,000 $ 0.27

Granted 1,011,897 0.68
Exercised (211,814) 0.30
Canceled (428,083) 0.42
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 2,107,000 0.43

Granted 1,232,583 1.48
Exercised (175,500) 0.31
Canceled (368,039) 1.14
Outstanding at December 31, 2007 2,796,044 0.81
Exercisable at December 31, 2007 1,721,874 $ 0.55

The following table summarizes information about our options outstanding at December 31, 2007:

Options Outstanding Expected to Vest
Options

Exercisable

Range of
Exercise
prices(s)

Number
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (yrs)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life(Yrs)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
price

1,120,000 6.6 $ 0.25 1,120,000 6.6 $ .025
0.31-0.46 94,750 7.4 0.35 68,750 7.4 0.35
0.47-0.71 389,000 8.4 .62 159,666 8.2 0.62
0-72-1.08 60,000 8.7 1.00 20,001 8.7 1.00
1-09-1.47 608,042 7.0 1.39 256,042 9.0 1.45
1.48-1.82 524,252 8.6 1.55 97,415 8.7 1.54

2,796,044 7.4 $ 0.81 1,721,874 7.3 $ 0.55

As of December 31, 2007, the aggregate intrinsic value of all stock options outstanding and expected to vest was
approximately $1.2 million and the aggregate intrinsic value of currently exercisable stock options was approximately
$1.1 million.  The Intrinsic value of each option share is the difference between the fair market value of NeoGenomics
common stock and the exercise price of such option share to the extent it is “in-the-money”.  Aggregate Intrinsic value
represents the value that would have been received by the holders of in-the-money options had they exercised their
options on the last trading day of the year and sold the underlying shares at the closing stock price on such day.  The
intrinsic value calculation is based on the $1.08 closing stock price of NeoGenomics Common Stock on December 31,
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2007, the last trading day of 2007.  The total number of in-the-money options outstanding and exercisable as of
December 31, 2007 was 1,368,417.
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The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was approximately
$200,000 and $215,000, respectively.  Intrinsic value of exercised shares is the total value of such shares on the date of
exercise less the cash received from the option holder to exercise the options.  The total cash proceeds received from the
exercise of stock options was approximately $54,000 and $63,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.  The total fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was
approximately $561,000 and 236,000, respectively.   The total fair value of option shares vested during the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 was approximately $276,000 and $91,000, respectively, before taking into consideration
cancellations and expected forfeitures for such options.

As of December 31, 2007, there was approximately $312,500 of total unrecognized stock-based compensation cost, net
of expected forfeitures, related to unvested stock options granted under the Plan.  This cost is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 2.6 years.

NOTE G – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases

The Company leases its laboratory and office facilities under non-cancelable operating leases.  These operating leases
expire at various dates through April 2012 and generally require the payment of real estate taxes, insurance,
maintenance and operating costs.  In November 2007, the Company entered into a facility lease agreement with a
sub-landlord for additional 16,125 square feet of office space at our corporate headquarters in Fort Myers, Florida.  In
addition, we maintain laboratory and office space in Irvine California and Nashville Tennessee.

The minimum aggregate future obligations under non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2007 are as
follows:

Years ending December 31,
2008 $ 714,735
2009 732,724
2010 654,430
2011 325,618
2012 57,140

Total minimum lease payments $ 2,484,647

for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $510,825 and $135,785, respectively and is included in costs of
revenues and in general and administrative expenses, depending on the allocation of work space in each
facility.  Certain of the Company’s facility leases include rent escalation clauses.  The Company normalizes rent expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease for known changes in lease payments over the life of the lease.

Capital Leases
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The Company entered into capital lease obligations primarily related to property and equipment for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 with fair market value aggregating $703,145 and $602,357, respectively.  Such lease
agreements expire at various times through 2012 and the weighted average interest rates for these leases approximated
13% at December 31, 2007. Most of these leases contain bargain purchase options that allow us to purchase the leased
property for a minimal amount upon the expiration of the lease term.
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Future minimum lease payments under capital lease obligations are:

Years ending December 31,
2008 $ 373,344
2009 373,344
2010 344,728
2011 211,276
2012 78,507
Total future minimum lease payments 1,381,199
Less amount representing interest (301,152)
Present value of future minimum lease payments 1,080,047
Less current maturities (242,966)
Obligations under capital leases – long term $ 837,081

Property and equipment covered under the lease agreements (see Note D) is pledged as collateral to secure the
performance of the future minimum lease payments above.

Litigation

On October 26, 2006, Accupath Diagnostics Laboratories, Inc. d/b/a US Labs, a California corporation (“US Labs”) filed
a complaint in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles (the “Court”) against the
Company and Robert Gasparini, as an individual, and certain other employees and non-employees of NeoGenomics
with respect to claims arising from discussions with current and former employees of US Labs.  On March 18, 2008, we
reached a preliminary agreement to settle US Labs’ claims (see Note L).  As a result, as of December 31, 2007 we have
accrued a $375,000 loss contingency, which consists of $250,000 to provide for the Company’s expected share of this
settlement, and $125,000 to provide for the Company’s share of the estimated legal fees up to the date of settlement.

Ongoing SEC Review of our Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 2006

As further explained in Note I, the Company received a comment letter in connection with its 2006 Form 10KSB.  As a
result, we have not yet been able to go effective on the Registration Statement filed in connection with the June 2007
Private Placement of the Company’s common stock.  This has resulted in the Company accruing a $282,000 loss
contingency as of December 31, 2007.

NOTE H – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During 2007 and 2006, Steven C. Jones, a director of the Company, earned $127,950 and $71,000, respectively, for
various consulting work performed in connection with his duties as Acting Principal Financial Officer.

During 2007 and 2006, George O’Leary, a director of the Company, earned $9,500 and $20,900, respectively, in cash for
various consulting work performed for the Company.  On March 15, 2007, Mr. O’Leary was also awarded 100,000
warrants for certain consulting services performed on behalf of the Company.  These warrants had an exercise price of
$1.49/share and a five year term.  Half of these warrants were deemed vested on issuance and the other half vest ratably
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over a 24 month period.   On January 18, 2006, Mr. O’Leary was awarded 50,000 non-qualified stock options in
connection with his services to the Company related to renegotiating the Aspen Credit Facility and closing equity
financing from a disinterested third party.
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On February 18, 2005, we entered into a binding agreement with Aspen Select Healthcare, LP (formerly known as MVP
3, LP) (“Aspen”) to refinance our existing indebtedness of $740,000 owed to Aspen and provide for additional liquidity of
up to $760,000 to the Company.  Under the terms of the agreement, Aspen agreed to make available to us up to $1.5
million (subsequently increased to $1.7 million, as described below) of debt financing in the form of a revolving credit
facility (the “Aspen Credit Facility”) with an initial maturity of March 31, 2007.  Aspen is managed by its General Partner,
Medical Venture Partners, LLC, which is controlled by a director of NeoGenomics.  As part of this agreement, we also
agreed to issue to Aspen a five year warrant to purchase up to 2,500,000 shares of common stock at an initial exercise
price of $0.50/share.  An amended and restated loan agreement for the Aspen Credit Facility and other ancillary
documents, including the warrant agreement, which more formally implemented the agreements made on February 18,
2005 were executed on March 23, 2005.  All material terms were identical to the February 18, 2005 agreement.  We
incurred $53,587 of transaction expenses in connection with refinancing the Aspen Credit Facility, which were
capitalized and amortized to interest expense over the term of the agreement.  The Aspen Credit Facility was paid in full
on June 7, 2007.

We recorded $131,337 for the value of such Warrant as of the February 18, 2005 measurement date as a discount to the
face amount of the Credit Facility.  The Company is amortizing such discount to interest expense over the 24 months of
the Credit Facility.  The fair value of the warrants issued to Aspen was determined using the Black Scholes option
valuation model, based on the following factors, which were present on the measurement date for such warrants:

 Strike price  $ 0.50    Market price $ 0.35
 Term  5 years    Volatility 22.7%
 Risk-free rate 4.50%     Dividend yield 0%
 Warrant value    $ 0.0525347    Number of warrants $ 2,500
 Total value $ 131,337

In addition, as a condition to the Aspen Credit Facility , the Company, Aspen, and certain individual shareholders
agreed to amend and restate their shareholders’ agreement to provide that Aspen will have the right to appoint up to three
of seven of our directors and one mutually acceptable independent director.  We also entered into an amended and
restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 23, 2005 with Aspen and certain individual shareholders, which
grants to Aspen certain demand registration rights (with no provision for liquidated damages) and which grants to all
parties to the agreement, piggyback registration rights.

On January 18, 2006, the Company entered into a binding letter agreement (the “Aspen Letter Agreement”) with Aspen,
which provided, among other things, that:

(a) Aspen waived certain pre-emptive rights in connection with the sale of $400,000 of common stock at a purchase
price of $0.20/share and the granting of 900,000 warrants with an exercise price of $0.26/share to SKL Limited
Partnership, LP (“SKL” as more fully described below) in exchange for five year warrants to purchase 150,000 shares at
an exercise price of $0.26/share (the “Waiver Warrants”).

(b) Aspen had the right, up to April 30, 2006, to purchase up to $200,000 of restricted shares of the Company’s common
stock at a purchase price per share of $0.20/share (1,000,000 shares) and receive a five year warrant to purchase 450,000
shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.26/share in connection with such purchase (the “Equity
Purchase Rights”). On March 14, 2006, Aspen exercised its Equity Purchase Rights.
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(c) Aspen and the Company amended the loan agreement (the “Credit Facility Amendment”), dated March, 2005 to extend
the maturity date until September 30, 2007, and to modify certain covenants.  In addition, Aspen had the right, until
April 30, 2006, to provide the Company up to $200,000 of additional secured indebtedness to the Company under the
Aspen Credit Facility Amendment and to receive a five year warrant to purchase up to 450,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock with an exercise price of $0.26/share (the “New Debt Rights”).  On March 30, 2006, Aspen exercised its
New Debt Rights and entered into the definitive transaction documentation for the Credit Facility Amendment and other
such documents required under the Aspen Letter Agreement.
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 (d) The Company agreed to amend and restate the Initial Warrants, dated March 23, 2005, which more formally
implemented the original agreement made on February 18, 2005 with respect to such warrants, to provide that all
2,500,000 warrant shares were vested and the exercise price was reset to $0.31 per share.  The difference, between the
value of the warrants on the original February, 18, 2005 measurement date which was calculated using an exercise price
of $0.50/share, and their value on the January 18, 2006 modification date which was calculated using an exercise price
of $0.31/share, amounted to $2,365 and, was credited to additional paid-in capital and included in deferred financing
fees.

(e) The Company agreed to amend the Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 23, 2005 (the “Registration Rights
Agreement”), between the parties to incorporate the Initial Warrants, the Waiver Warrants and any new shares or
warrants issued to Aspen in connection with the Equity Purchase Rights or the New Debt Rights.

(f) All Waiver Warrants, the Initial Warrants and all warrants issued to Aspen and SKL in connection with the purchase
of equity or debt securities are exercisable at the option of the holder for a term of five years, and each such warrant
contains provisions that allow for a physical exercise, a net cash exercise or a net share settlement.  We used the
Black-Scholes pricing model to estimate the fair value of all such warrants as of the date of issue for each, using the
following approximate assumptions: dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 14.6 – 19.3% (depending on the date of
agreement), risk-free interest rate of 4.5%, and an expected term of 3 - 5 years.

The Aspen Credit Facility was paid in full in June 2007 and it expired on September 30, 2007.

During the period from January 18 - 21, 2006, the Company entered into agreements with four other shareholders who
are parties to the certain Shareholders’ Agreement dated March 23, 2005, to exchange five year warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 150,000 shares of stock at an exercise price of $0.26/share for such shareholders’ waiver of their
pre-emptive rights under the Shareholders’ Agreement.

On January 21, 2006 the Company entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription”) with SKL Family Limited
Partnership, LP, a New Jersey limited partnership, whereby SKL purchased 2.0 million shares (the “Subscription Shares”)
of the Company’s common stock at a purchase price of $0.20/share for $400,000. Under the terms of the Subscription,
the Subscription Shares are restricted for a period of 24 months and then carry piggyback registration rights to the extent
that exemptions under Rule 144 are not available to SKL. In connection with the Subscription, the Company also issued
a five year warrant to purchase 900,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of
$0.26/share.  SKL has no previous affiliation with the Company.

On March 11, 2005, we entered into an agreement with HCSS, LLC and eTelenext, Inc. to enable NeoGenomics to use
eTelenext, Inc’s Accessioning Application, AP Anywhere Application and CMQ Application.  HCSS, LLC is a holding
company created to build a small laboratory network for the 50 small commercial genetics laboratories in the United
States.  HCSS, LLC is owned 66.7% by Dr. Michael T. Dent, our Chairman.  Under the terms of the agreement, the
Company paid $22,500 over three months to customize this software and will pay an annual membership fee of $6,000
per year and monthly transaction fees of between $2.50 - $10.00 per completed test, depending on the volume of tests
performed.  The eTelenext system is an elaborate laboratory information system (LIS) that is in use at many larger
laboratories.  By assisting in the formation of the small laboratory network, the Company will be able to increase the
productivity of its technologists and have on-line links to other small laboratories in the network in order to better
manage its workflow.
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On June 7, 2007, we paid Aspen Capital Advisors, LLC (“ACA”), a company affiliated with one of our directors, a cash
fee of $52,375 and issued to ACA a five year warrant to purchase 250,000 shares of common stock in consideration for
ACA’s assistance with the June 2007 Private Placement described in Note I below.
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NOTE I – EQUITY FINANCING TRANSACTIONS

On June 6, 2005, we entered into a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement (the “S.E.D.A.”) with Yorkville Advisors,
LLC (“Yorkville” f/k/a Cornell Capital Partners, LP).  Pursuant to the S.E.D.A., the Company could, at its discretion,
periodically sell to Yorkville shares of common stock for a total purchase price of up to $5.0 million.  On June 6, 2006
as a result of not terminating our S.E.D.A. with Yorkville, a short-term note payable in the amount of $50,000 became
due to Yorkville and was subsequently paid in July 2006 from the proceeds of a $53,000 advance under the
S.E.D.A.  On August 1, 2007, the S.E.D.A expired and we decided not to renew it.

The following sales of common stock were made under our S.E.D.A. with Yorkville since it was first declared effective
on August 1, 2005 through its termination date of August 1, 2007.

Request Completion Shares of Gross Yorkville Escrow Net

Date Date
Common
Stock Proceeds Fee Fee Proceeds ASP(1)

8/29/2005 9/8/2005 63,776 $ 25,000 $ 1,250 $ 500 $ 23,250

12/10/2005 12/18/2005 241,779 50,000 2,500 500 47,000

    Subtotal – 2005 305,555 $ 75,000 $ 3,750 $ 1,000 $ 70,250 $ 0.25

7/19/2006 7/28/2006 83,491 53,000 2,500 500 50,000

8/8/2006 8/16/2006 279,486 250,000 12,500 500 237,000

10/18/2006 10/23/2006 167,842 200,000 10,000 500 189,500

    Subtotal – 2006 530,819 $ 503,000 $ 25,000 $ 1,500 $ 476,500 $ 0.95

12/29/2006 1/10/2007 98,522 150,000 7,500 500 142,000

1/16/2007 1/24/2007 100,053 150,000 7,500 500 142,000

2/1/2007 2/12/2007 65,902 100,000 5,000 500 94,500

2/19/2007 2/28/2007 166,611 250,000 12,500 500 237,000

2/28/2007 3/7/2007 180,963 250,000 12,500 500 237,000

4/5/2007 4/16/2007 164,777 250,000 12,500 500 237,000
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4/20/2007 4/30/2007 173,467 250,000 12,500 500 237,000

   Subtotal – 2007 950,295 $ 1,400,000 $ 70,000 $ 3,500 $ 1,326,500 $ 1.48

Total 1,786, 669 $ 1,978,000 $ 98,750 $ 6,000 $ 1,873,250 $ 1.19

(1)  Average Selling Price of shares issued
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS –

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2007 (Continued)

In March 2005 and January 2006, the Company entered into various agreements with Aspen Select Healthcare, LP, as
described in Note H.

During the period from January 18 - 21, 2006, the Company entered into agreements with four other shareholders who
are parties to that certain Shareholders’ Agreement, dated March 23, 2005, to exchange five year warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 150,000 shares of stock at an exercise price of $0.26/share for such shareholders’ waiver of their
pre-emptive rights under the Shareholders’ Agreement.

On January 21, 2006, the Company entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription”) with SKL Family Limited
Partnership, LP, a New Jersey limited partnership, whereby SKL purchased 2.0 million shares (the “Subscription Shares”)
of the Company’s common stock at a purchase price of $0.20/share for $400,000. Under the terms of the Subscription,
the Subscription Shares are restricted for a period of 24 months and then carry piggyback registration rights to the extent
that exemptions under Rule 144 are not available to SKL. In connection with the Subscription, the Company also issued
a five year warrant to purchase 900,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of
$0.26/share.  SKL has no previous affiliation with the Company.

During the period from May 31, 2007 through June 6, 2007, we sold 2,666,667 shares of our Common Stock to ten
unaffiliated accredited investors (the “Investors”) at a price of $1.50 per share in a Private Placement of our Common
Stock (the “Private Placement”).  The Private Placement generated gross proceeds to the Company of $4.0 million, and
after estimated transaction costs, the Company received net cash proceeds of approximately $3.8 million.  The Company
also issued warrants to purchase 98,417 shares of our Common Stock to Noble International Investments, Inc. (“Noble”),
in consideration for its services as a placement agent for the Private Placement and paid Noble a cash fee of
$147,625.  Additionally, the Company issued to Aspen Capital Advisors, LLC (“ACA”) warrants to purchase
250,000 shares at $1.50 per share and paid ACA a cash fee of $52,375 in consideration for ACA’s services to the
Company in connection with the Private Placement.   The Private Placement involved the issuance of the
aforementioned unregistered securities in transactions that we believed were exempt from registration under Rule 506
promulgated under the Securities Act.  All of the aforementioned stockholders received registration rights (“Registration
Rights”) for the Private Placement shares so purchased and we filed a registration statement on Form SB-2 on July 12,
2007 to register these shares (the “Registration Statement”).  Certain of the Investors also purchased 1,500,000 shares and
500,000 warrants from Aspen Select Healthcare, LP in a separate transaction that occurred simultaneously with the
Private Placement and the Company agreed to an assignment of Aspen’s registration rights for such shares and warrants,
and those shares and warrants were included in the Registration Statement.

The Registration Rights contained a provision that if the Registration Statement was not declared effective within 120
days of the Private Placement, we would be responsible for partial relief of the damages resulting from a holder’s
inability to sell the shares covered by the Registration Statement.  Beginning after 120 days from the date that the
Private Placement was consummated, the Company is obligated to pay as liquidated damages to each holder of shares
covered by the Registration Statement (“Registered Securities”) an amount equal to one half percent (0.5%) of the
purchase price of the Registered Securities for each thirty (30) day period that the Registration Statement is not effective
after the required effective date specified in the Registration Rights Agreement. Such liquidated damages may be paid,
at the holder’s option, either in cash or shares of our Common Stock, after demand therefore has been made.

In August, 2007, we received a comment letter from the Accounting Staff of the SEC regarding certain disclosure and
accounting questions with respect to our 2006 annual report filed on Form 10-KSB.  In September 2007, we responded
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to the SEC Staff and filed an amended Form 10-KSB/A that responded to the matters raised by the Staff.  In October
2007, we received a follow up comment letter from the Staff that continued to question the accounting we use in
connection with non-cash employee stock-based compensation and warrants issued under the newly adopted SFAS
123(R).   We responded to the Staff’s October 2007 letter in March 2008, and currently anticipate resolving all open
issues by the end of April 2008 and being able to proceed with registering the Private Placement shares in May 2008.
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NEOGENOMICS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS –

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2007 (Continued)

As a result of the aforementioned SEC correspondence, the Company was not able to register the securities issued in the
Private Placement within the allowed 120 period, and was thus responsible for damages.  Accordingly, as of December
31, 2007, in accordance with FASB Staff Position 00-19-2, “Accounting for Registration Payment Arrangements” we
have accrued approximately $282,000 in penalties as liquidated damages for the period from the end of the 120 day
period through May 2008 when we expect to be able to go effective on the Registration Statement for the Private
Placement shares.  Such penalties are included in Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities.

On June 6, 2007, the Company issued to Lewis Asset Management (“LAM”) 500,000 shares of Common Stock at a
purchase price of $0.26 per share and received gross proceeds of $130,000 upon the exercise by LAM of 500,000
warrants which were purchased by LAM from Aspen Select Healthcare, LP on that day.

On June 7, 2007, we used part of the net proceeds of the Private Placement to pay off the $1.7 million principal balance
of the Credit Facility with Aspen, as further discussed in Note H.

On August 15, 2007 our Board of Directors voted to issue warrants to purchase 533,334 shares of our Common Stock to
the investors who purchased shares in the Private Placement.  Such warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share
and are exercisable for a period of two years.  Such warrants also have a provision for piggyback registration rights in
the first year and demand registration rights in the second year.

NOTE J – POWER 3 MEDICAL PRODUCTS, INC.

On April 2, 2007, we entered into an agreement (the “Letter Agreement”) with Power3 Medical Products, Inc., a New
York Corporation (“Power3”) regarding the formation of a joint venture Contract Research Organization (“CRO”) and the
issuance of convertible debentures and related securities by Power3 to us. Power3 is an early stage company engaged in
the discovery, development, and commercialization of protein biomarkers. Under the terms of the agreement,
NeoGenomics and Power3 agreed to enter into a joint venture agreement pursuant to which the parties will jointly own a
CRO and begin commercializing Power3’s intellectual property portfolio of seventeen patents pending by developing
diagnostic tests and other services around one or more of the more than 500 differentially expressed protein biomarkers
that Power3 believes it has discovered to date. Power3 has agreed to license all of its intellectual property on a
non-exclusive basis to the CRO for selected commercial applications as well as provide certain management personnel.
We will provide access to cancer samples, management and sales & marketing personnel, laboratory facilities and
working capital. Subject to final negotiation, we will own a minimum of 60% and up to 80% of the new CRO venture
which is anticipated to be launched in 2008.

As part of the agreement, we provided $200,000 of working capital to Power3 by purchasing a convertible debenture on
April 17, 2007 pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) between us and Power3.  The
debenture has a term of two years and a 6% per annum interest rate which is payable quarterly on the last calendar day
of each quarter.  We were also granted two (2) options to increase our stake in Power3 to up to 60% of Power3’s fully
diluted shares.  The first option (the “First Option”) is a fixed option to purchase convertible preferred stock of Power3
that is convertible into such number of shares of Power3 Common Stock, in one or more transactions, up to 20% of
Power3’s voting Common Stock at a purchase price per share, which will also equal the initial conversion price per
share, equal to the lesser of (a) $0.20 per share, or (b) $20,000,000 divided by the fully-diluted shares outstanding on the
date of the exercise of the First Option. This First Option is exercisable for a period starting on the date of purchase of
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the convertible debenture by NeoGenomics and extending until the day which is the later of (y) November 16, 2007 or
(z) the date that certain milestones specified in the agreement have been achieved. As of March 31, 2008, the milestones
described in the letter agreement had not been met.  The First Option is exercisable in cash or NeoGenomics Common
Stock at our option, provided, however, that we must include at least $1.0 million of cash in the consideration if we elect
to exercise this First Option. In addition to purchasing convertible preferred stock as part of the First Option, we are also
entitled to receive such number of warrants to purchase Power3 Common Stock that will permit us to maintain our
ownership percentage in Power3 on a fully diluted basis.  Such warrants will have a purchase price equal to the initial
conversion price of the convertible preferred stock that was purchased pursuant to the First Option and will have a five
year term.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS –

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2007 (Continued)

The second option (the “Second Option”), which is only exercisable to the extent that we have exercised the First Option,
provides that we will have the option to increase our stake in Power3 to up to 60% of fully diluted shares of Power3
over the twelve month period beginning on the expiration date of the First Option in one or a series of transactions by
purchasing additional convertible preferred stock of Power3 that is convertible into voting Common Stock and the right
to receive additional warrants. The purchase price per share, and the initial conversion price of the Second Option
convertible preferred stock will, to the extent such Second Option is exercised within six months of exercise of the First
Option, be the lesser of (a) $0.40 per share or (b) $40,000,000 divided by the fully diluted shares outstanding on the date
of exercise of the Second Option. The purchase price per share, and the initial conversion price of the Second Option
convertible preferred stock will, to the extent such Second Option is exercised after six months, but within twelve
months of exercise of the First Option, be the lesser of (y) $0.50 per share or (z) an equity price per share equal to
$50,000,000 divided by the fully diluted shares outstanding on the date of any purchase. The exercise price of the
Second Option may be paid in cash or in any combination of cash and our Common Stock at our option. In addition to
purchasing convertible preferred stock as part of the Second Option, we are also entitled to receive such number of
warrants to purchase Power3 Common Stock that will permit us to maintain our ownership percentage in Power3 on a
fully diluted basis.  Such warrants will have an exercise price equal to the initial conversion price of the convertible
preferred stock being purchased on that date and will have a five year term.

The purchase agreement granted us (1) a right of first refusal with respect to future issuances of Power3 capital stock
and (2) the right to appoint a member of the Power3 board of directors so long as we own ten percent (10%) or more of
Power3’s outstanding voting securities.

As of March 31, 2008, the parties were engaged in good faith negotiations to clarify and amend certain terms of the
original Letter Agreement.  As these negotiations have not yet been concluded the parties have agreed to extend any
deadlines in the Original Agreement until such time as they reach an agreement on a more comprehensive amendment
to the original Letter Agreement or otherwise conclude that they are unable to do so.

The convertible debenture, since it is convertible into restricted shares of stock, is recorded under the fair value method
at its initial cost of $200,000 if the stock price of Power3 is less than $0.20 per share or at fair value if the stock price of
Power3 is greater than $0.20 per share. As of December 31, 2007, the stock price of Power3 was less than $0.20 per
share so the convertible debenture is reflected at cost.

NOTE K – RETIREMENT PLAN

We maintain a defined-contribution 401(k) retirement plan covering substantially all employees (as defined).  Our
employees may make voluntary contributions to the plan, subject to limitations based on IRS regulations and
compensation.  In addition, we match any employees’ contributions on a dollar to dollar basis up to 1% of the respective
employee’s salary.  We made matching contributions of approximately $23,000 and $16, 200 during the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 
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AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2007 (Continued)

NOTE L – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Revolving Credit and Security Agreement

On February 1, 2008, our operating subsidiary, NeoGenomics, Inc., a Florida Company (“Borrower”), entered into a
Revolving Credit and Security Agreement (the “Credit Facility” or “Credit Agreement”) with CapitalSource Finance LLC
(the “Lender”) pursuant to which the Lender shall make available to us a revolving credit facility in a maximum principal
amount at any time outstanding of up to Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) (the “Facility Cap”). Subject to the provisions
of the Credit Agreement, the Lender shall make advances to us from time to time during the three (3) year term
following the closing date and the revolving Credit Facility may be drawn, repaid and redrawn from time to time as
permitted under the Credit Agreement. Interest on outstanding advances under the revolving facility shall be payable
monthly in arrears on the first day of each calendar month at an annual rate of one-month LIBOR plus 3.25% in
accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement, subject to a LIBOR floor of 3.14%.  As of March 31, 2008, the
effective annual interest rate of the Agreement was 6.39%.  To secure the payment and performance in full of the
Obligations (as defined in the Credit Agreement), we granted to the Lender a continuing security interest in and lien
upon, all rights, title and interest in and to the Accounts (as such term is defined in the Agreement), which primarily
consist of accounts receivable.  Furthermore, pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Parent Company guaranteed the
punctual payment when due, whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, of all obligations of the Borrower.
The Parent Company’s guaranty is a continuing guarantee and shall remain in force and effect until the indefeasible cash
payment in full of the Guaranteed Obligations (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and all other amounts payable under
the Agreement.

US Labs Settlement

On March 18, 2008, we reached a preliminary agreement to settle US Labs’ claims against the Company and certain of
its officers and employees. Under the terms of the agreement, NeoGenomics, on behalf of all defendants, will make a
$250,000 payment to US Labs within thirty days and pay another $250,000 over the remaining nine months of this year.
It is expected that approximately 50% of these payments will be covered by our insurance policies. As a result, our
fourth quarter financials include an accrual of $375,000 for this loss contingency, of which $250,000 provides for the
Company’s expected share of this settlement and an additional $125,000 to provide for the Company’s share of the
estimated legal fees incurred in Q1 2008 up to the date of settlement.

Employment Contracts

On March 12, 2008, we entered into an employment agreement with Robert Gasparini, our President and Chief
Scientific Officer, to extend his employment with the Company for an additional four year term.  This employment
agreement was retroactive to January 1, 2008 and provides that it will automatically renew after the initial four year
term for one year increments unless either party provides written notice to the other party of their intention to terminate
the agreement 90 days before the end of the initial term.  The employment agreement specifies an initial base salary of
$225,000/year with specified salary increases tied to hitting revenue goals.  Mr. Gasparini is also entitled to receive cash
bonuses for any given fiscal year in an amount equal to 30% of his base salary if he meets certain targets established by
the Board of Directors. In addition, Mr. Gasparini was granted 784,000 stock options that have a seven year term so
long as Mr. Gasparini remains an employee of the Company.  These options are scheduled to vest according to the
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passage of time and the meeting of certain performance-based milestones.  Mr. Gasparini’s employment agreement also
specifies that he is entitled to four weeks of paid vacation per year and other insurance benefits. In the event that Mr.
Gasparini is terminated without cause by the Company, the Company has agreed to pay Mr. Gasparini’s base salary and
maintain his benefits for a period of twelve months.
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We have not authorized any dealer, salesperson or
other person to provide any information or make
any representations about NeoGenomics, Inc.
except  the information or  representat ions
contained in this prospectus. You should not rely
on any additional information or representations if
made.
This prospectus does not constitute an offer to
sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy any
securities:
·except the Common Stock offered by this
prospectus;
· in  any jur isdic t ion in  which the  offer  or
solicitation is not authorized;
· i n  any  j u r i sd i c t i on  whe re  t he  dea l e r  o r
other  salesperson is not qualified to make the
offer or solicitation;
·to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the
offer or solicitation; or
·to any person who is not a United States resident
or who is outside the jurisdiction of the United
States.
The  d e l i v e r y  o f  t h i s  p r o s p e c t u s  o r  a ny
accompanying sale does not imply that:
·there have been no changes in the affairs of
NeoGenomics ,  Inc .  a f te r  the  da te  of  th i s
prospectus; or
·the information contained in this prospectus is
correct after the date of this prospectus.
Until __________, 2008, all dealers effecting
transactions in the registered securities, whether
or not participating in this distribution, may be
required to deliver a prospectus. This is in
addition to the obligation of dealers to deliver a
prospectus when acting as underwriters.

PROSPECTUS

7,000,000 Shares of Common Stock

NEOGENOMICS, INC.

June ___, 2008
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

ITEM 13.  OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION

The following table sets forth estimated expenses expected to be incurred in connection with the issuance and
distribution of the securities being registered. The Company will pay all expenses in connection with this offering.

Securities and Exchange Commission Registration Fee $ 884
Printing and Engraving Expenses $ 2,500
Accounting Fees and Expenses $ 15,000
Legal Fees and Expenses $ 30,000
Miscellaneous 36,616
TOTAL $ 85,000

ITEM 14.  INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Our Articles of Incorporation eliminate liability of our Directors and officers for breaches of fiduciary duties as
Directors and officers, except to the extent otherwise required by the Nevada Revised Statutes and where the breach
involves intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of the law.

Nevada Revised Statutes 78.750, 78.751 and 78.752 have similar provisions that provide for discretionary and
mandatory indemnification of officers, Directors, employees, and agents of a corporation. Under these provisions, such
persons may be indemnified by a corporation against expenses, including attorney’s fees, judgment, fines and amounts
paid in settlement, actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with the action, suit or proceeding, if he acted
in good faith and in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in or opposed to the best interests of the corporation
and with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to any action, suit or proceeding, had no
reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful.

To the extent that a Director, officer, employee or agent has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any
action, suit or proceeding, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter, he must be indemnified by us against expenses,
including attorney’s fees, actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with the defense.

Any indemnification, unless ordered by a court or advanced by us, must be made only as authorized in the specific case
upon a determination that indemnification of the Director, officer, employee or agent is proper in the circumstances. The
determination must be made:

• By the stockholders;

•By our Board of Directors by majority vote of a quorum consisting of Directors who were not parties to that act, suit
or proceeding;

•
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If a majority vote of a quorum consisting of Directors who were not parties to the act, suit or proceeding cannot be
obtained, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion; or

•If a quorum consisting of Directors who were not parties to the act, suit or proceeding cannot be obtained, by
independent legal counsel in a written opinion;

•Expenses of officers and Directors incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding must be paid by
us as they are incurred and in advance of the final disposition of the action, suit or proceeding, upon receipt of an
undertaking by the Director or officer to repay the amount if it is ultimately determined by a court of competent
jurisdiction that he is not entitled to be indemnified by us.
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•To the extent that a Director, officer, employee or agent has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of
any action, suit or proceeding referred to in subsections 1 and 2, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, we
shall indemnify him against expenses, including attorneys’ fees, actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection
with the defense.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act, as amended, may be permitted to Directors,
officers, and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has
been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities
Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the
payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a Director, officer, or controlling person in the successful
defense of any action, suit, or proceeding) is asserted by such Director, officer, or controlling person connected with the
securities being registered, we will, unless in the opinion of our counsel the matter has been settled by controlling
precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public
policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

ITEM 15.  RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

Except as otherwise noted, all of the following shares were issued and options and warrants granted pursuant to the
exemption provided for under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act as a “transaction not involving a public offering”.  No
commissions were paid, and no underwriter participated, in connection with any of these transactions. Each such
issuance was made pursuant to individual contracts which are discrete from one another and are made only with persons
who were sophisticated in such transactions and who had knowledge of and access to sufficient information about the
Company to make an informed investment decision. Among this information was the fact that the securities were
restricted securities.

During 2004, we sold 3,040,000 shares of our Common Stock in a series of private placements at $0.25 per share to
unaffiliated third party investors. These transactions generated net proceeds to the Company of approximately $740,000
after deducting certain transaction expenses. These transactions involved the issuance of unregistered stock to accredited
investors in transactions that we believed were exempt from registration under Rule 506 promulgated under the
Securities Act. All of these shares were subsequently registered on a SB-2 Registration Statement, which was declared
effective by the SEC on August 1, 2005.

During the period from January 1, 2005 to May 31, 2005, we sold 450,953 shares of our Common Stock in a series of
private placements at $0.30 - $0.35/share to unaffiliated third party investors. These transactions generated net proceeds
to the Company of approximately $146,000. These transactions involved the issuance of unregistered stock to accredited
investors in transactions that we believed were exempt from registration under Rule 506 promulgated under the
Securities Act. All of these shares were subsequently registered in a registration statement on Form SB-2, which was
declared effective by the SEC on August 1, 2005.

On March 23, 2005, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with Aspen to provide up to $1.5 million of
indebtedness pursuant to a Credit Facility. As part of the Credit Facility transaction, the Company also issued to Aspen a
five (5) year Warrant to purchase up to 2,500,000 shares of our Common Stock at an original exercise price of $0.50 per
share. Steven C. Jones, our Acting Principal Financial Officer and a Director of the Company, is a general partner of
Aspen.

On June 6, 2005, we entered into a Standby Equity Distribution Agreement with Cornell Capital Partners pursuant to
which the Company may, at its discretion, periodically sell to Cornell Capital Partners shares of our Common Stock for
a total purchase price of up to $5.0 million.  Upon execution of the Standby Equity Distribution Agreement, Cornell

Edgar Filing: DYNACQ HEALTHCARE INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 179



received 381,888 shares of our Common Stock as a commitment fee under the Standby Equity Distribution Agreement.
The Company also issued 27,278 shares of our Common Stock to Spartan Securities under a placement agent agreement
relating to the Standby Equity Distribution Agreement.

On January 18, 2006, the Company entered into a binding letter agreement with Aspen which provided, among other
things, that:

(a)           Aspen waived certain pre-emptive rights in connection with the sale of $400,000 of our Common Stock at a
purchase price of $0.20 per share and the granting of 900,000 warrants with an exercise price of $0.26 per share to SKL
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Limited Partnership, LP (“SKL”) in exchange for five (5) year warrants to purchase 150,000 shares at an exercise price of
$0.26 per share (the “Waiver Warrants”), as is more fully described below;

(b)           Aspen had the right, up to April 30, 2006, to purchase up to $200,000 of restricted shares of our Common
Stock at a purchase price per share of $0.20 per share (1,000,000 shares) and receive a five (5) year warrant to purchase
450,000 shares of our Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.26 per share in connection with such purchase (the
“Equity Purchase Rights”).  On March 14, 2006, Aspen exercised its Equity Purchase Rights (as such term is defined in
the Aspen Agreement);

(c)           Aspen and the Company amended the Loan Agreement, dated March 23, 2005 (the “Loan Agreement”), by and
between the parties, to extend the maturity date until September 30, 2007 and to modify certain covenants (the Loan
Agreement as amended, is referred to herein as the “Credit Facility Amendment”);

(d)           Aspen had the right, through April 30, 2006, to provide up to $200,000 of additional secured indebtedness to
the Company under the Credit Facility Amendment and to receive a five (5) year warrant to purchase up to 450,000
shares of our Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.26 per share (the “New Debt Rights”).  On March 30, 2006,
Aspen exercised its New Debt Rights and entered into the definitive transaction documentation for the Credit Facility
Amendment and other such documents required under the Aspen Agreement;

(e)           The Company agreed to amend and restate the warrant agreement, dated March 23, 2005, to provide that all
2,500,000 warrant shares (the “Existing Warrants”) were vested and the exercise price per share was reset to $0.31 per
share; and

(f)           The Company agreed to amend the Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 23, 2005 (the “Registration
Rights Agreement”), by and between the parties, to incorporate the Existing Warrants, the Waiver Warrants and any new
shares or warrants issued to Aspen in connection with the Equity Purchase Rights or the New Debt Rights.

(g)           All Waiver Warrants, the Existing Warrants and all warrants issued to Aspen and SKL in connection with the
purchase of equity or debt securities are exercisable at the option of the holder and each such warrant contains
provisions that allow for a physical exercise, a net cash exercise or a net share settlement.  We used the Black-Scholes
pricing model to estimate the fair value of all such warrants as of the commitment date for each, using the following
approximate assumptions: dividend yield of 0 %, expected volatility of 14.6 – 19.3%, risk-free interest rate of 4.5%, and
a term of 3 - 5 years.

During the period from January 18 - 21, 2006, the Company entered into agreements with four (4) other stockholders
who are parties to a Shareholders’ Agreement, dated March 23, 2005, to exchange five (5) year warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 150,000 shares of stock at an exercise price of $0.26 per share for such stockholders’ waiver of their
pre-emptive rights under the Shareholders’ Agreement.

On January 21, 2006 the Company entered into a subscription agreement (the Subscription) with SKL whereby SKL
purchased 2.0 million shares (the Subscription Shares) of our Common Stock at a purchase price of $0.20 per share for
$400,000. Under the terms of the Subscription, the Subscription Shares are restricted for a period of twenty-four (24)
months and then carry piggyback registration rights to the extent that exemptions under Rule 144 are not available to
SKL. In connection with the Subscription, the Company also issued a five (5) year warrant to purchase 900,000 shares
of our Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.26 per share. SKL has no previous affiliation with the Company.

During the period from May 31, 2007 through June 6, 2007, we sold 2,666,667 shares of our Common Stock to
unaffiliated accredited investors (the “Investors”) under the Private Placement at $1.50 per share. The Private Placement
generated gross proceeds to the Company of $4 million, and after estimated transaction costs, the Company received net
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cash proceeds of $3.75 million.  The Company also issued warrants to purchase 98,417 shares of our Common Stock to
Noble in consideration for its services as exclusive placement agent under the Private Placement.  Additionally, the
Company issued to Aspen warrants to purchase 250,000 shares at $1.50 per share in consideration for Aspen’s services
in the fund raising process of the Private Placement.  The Private Placement involved the issuance of the
aforementioned unregistered securities in transactions that we believed were exempt from registration under Rule 506
promulgated under the Securities Act. All of the aforementioned stockholders received registration rights and therefore,
all of the aforementioned shares issued in connection with the Private Placement are being registered hereunder.

On June 6, 2007, the Company issued to LAM 500,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.26 per share
and received gross proceeds equal to $130,000 upon the exercise by LAM of warrants which had been previously
purchased from Aspen on June 6, 2007.
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Unless otherwise specified above, the Company believes that all of the above transactions were transactions not
involving any public offering within the meaning of Section 4(2) of the Securities Act, as amended, since (a) each of the
transactions involved the offering of such securities to a substantially limited number of persons; (b) each person took
the securities as an investment for his/her/its own account and not with a view to distribution; (c) each person had access
to information equivalent to that which would be included in a registration statement on the applicable form under the
Securities Act, as amended; (d) each person had knowledge and experience in business and financial matters to
understand the merits and risk of the investment; therefore no registration statement needed to be in effect prior to such
issuances.

ITEM 16.  EXHIBITS

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit Location

3.1 Articles of Incorporation, as amended Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form SB-2 as filed with
the SEC on February 10, 1999

3.2 Amendment to Articles of Incorporation
filed with the Nevada Secretary of State on
January 3, 2002

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on
May 20, 2003

3.3 Amendment to Articles of Incorporation
filed with the Nevada Secretary of State on
April 11, 2003

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on
May 20, 2003

3.4 Amended and Restated Bylaws, dated
October 14, 2003

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-QSB as filed with the SEC on
November 14, 2003

3.5 NeoGenomics, Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive
Plan

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-QSB as filed with the United
States SEC on November 14, 2003

3.6 Amended and Restated NeoGenomics
Equity Incentive Plan, dated October 31,
2006

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended
September 30, 2006, as filed with the SEC on
November 17, 2006

5.1 Opinion of Counsel Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Amendment No. 1 to Form SB-2 as files with the
SEC on July 28, 2007

10.1 Loan Agreement between NeoGenomics,
Inc. and Aspen Select Healthcare, L.P.
dated March 23, 2005

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on March
30, 2005

10.2 Amended and Restated Registration Rights
Agreement between NeoGenomics, Inc. and

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on March
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Aspen Select Healthcare, L.P. and
individuals dated March 23, 2005

30, 2005

10.3 Guaranty of NeoGenomics, Inc., dated
March 23, 2005

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on March
30, 2005

10.4 Stock Pledge Agreement between
NeoGenomics, Inc. and Aspen Select
Healthcare, L.P., dated March 23, 2005

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on March
30, 2005
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10.5 Warrants issued to Aspen Select Healthcare,
L.P., dated March 23, 2005

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on March
30, 2005

10.6 Security Agreement between NeoGenomics,
Inc. and Aspen Select Healthcare, L.P.,
dated March 23, 2005

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on March
30, 2005

10.7 Employment Agreement, dated
December 14, 2004, between Mr. Robert P.
Gasparini and the Company

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on
April 15, 2005

10.8 Standby Equity Distribution Agreement
with Cornell Capital Partners, L.P. dated
June 6, 2005

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on June 8,
2005

10.9 Registration Rights Agreement with Cornell
Capital Partners, L.P. related to the Standby
Equity Distribution dated June 6, 2005

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on June 8,
2005

10.10 Placement Agent Agreement with Spartan
Securities Group, Ltd., related to the
Standby Equity Distribution dated June 6,
2005

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on June 8,
2005

10.11 Amended and Restated Loan Agreement
between NeoGenomics, Inc. and Aspen
Select Healthcare, L.P., dated March 30,
2006

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on
April 1, 2006

10.12 Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement
between NeoGenomics, Inc. and Aspen
Select Healthcare, L.P., dated January 21,
2006

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on
April 1, 2006

10.13 Amended and Restated Security Agreement
between NeoGenomics, Inc. and Aspen
Select Healthcare, L.P., dated March 30,
2006

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on
April 1, 2006

10.14 Registration Rights Agreement between
NeoGenomics, Inc. and Aspen Select
Healthcare, L.P., dated March 30, 2006

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on
April 1, 2006

10.15 Warrant Agreement between NeoGenomics,
Inc. and SKL Family Limited Partnership,
L.P. issued January 23, 2006

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on
April 1, 2006
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10.16 Warrant Agreement between NeoGenomics,
Inc. and Aspen Select Healthcare, L.P.
issued March 14, 2006

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on
April 1, 2006

10.17 Warrant Agreement between NeoGenomics,
Inc. and Aspen Select Healthcare, L.P.
issued March 30, 2006

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on
April 1, 2006
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10.18 Agreement with Power3 Medical Products,
Inc. regarding the Formation of Joint
Venture & Issuance of Convertible
Debenture and Related Securities

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB, as filed with the SEC on
April 2, 2007

10.19 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated April
17, 2007, by and between NeoGenomics,
Inc. and Power3 Medical Products, Inc.

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-QSB, as filed with the SEC on
May 15, 2007

10.20 Convertible Debenture, dated April 17,
2007, issued by Power3 Medical Products,
Inc. to NeoGenomics, Inc. in the principal
amount of $200,000

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-QSB, as filed with the SEC on
May 15, 2007

10.21 Letter Agreement, by and between
NeoGenomics, Inc. and Noble International
Investments, Inc.

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form SB-2 as filed with
the SEC on July 6, 2007

10.22 Subscription Documents Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form SB-2 as filed with
the SEC on July 6, 2007

10.23 Investor Registration Right Agreement Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form SB-2 as filed with
the SEC on July 6, 2007

10.24 Credit Agreement, dated February 1, 2008,
by and between NeoGenomics, Inc., the
Nevada Corporation, NeoGenomics, Inc.,
the Florida Corporation, and CapitalSource
Finance LLC

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Report on
Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on February 7, 2008

10.25 Employment Agreement, dated March 12,
2008, between NeoGenomics, Inc. and Mr.
Robert P. Gasparini

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-KSB as filed with the SEC on
April 14, 2008

14.1 NeoGenomics, Inc. Code of Ethics for
Senior Financial Officers and the Principal
Executive Officer

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on
April 15, 2005

23.1 Consent of Kingery & Crouse, P.A. Provided herewith

ITEM 17.  UNDERTAKINGS

The undersigned of the Company hereby undertakes:
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(1)           To file, during any period in which it offers or sells securities, a post-effective amendment to this registration
statement to:

(i)           Include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;

(ii)           Reflect in the prospectus any facts or events which, individually or together, represent a fundamental change
in the information set forth in the registration statement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in
volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was
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registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the
form of prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price
represent no more than a twenty percent (20%) change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the
“Calculation of Registration Fee” table in the effective registration statement;

(iii)           Include any additional or changed information on the plan of distribution.

(2)           For determining liability under the Securities Act, the Company will treat each such post-effective amendment
as a new registration statement of the securities offered, and the offering of such securities at that time to be the initial
bona fide offering.

(3)           To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered
which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

(4)           For determining liability of the undersigned registrant under the Securities Act to any purchaser in the initial
distribution of the securities, the undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the
undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the
securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following
communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such
securities to such purchaser:

(i)           Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be
filed pursuant to Rule 424;

(ii)           Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or
used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;

(iii)           The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about
the undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and

(iv)           Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our Director, officer and
controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised
that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act, and is,
therefore, unenforceable.

In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses
incurred or paid by a Director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit
or proceeding) is asserted by such Director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being
registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent,
submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as
expressed in the Securities Act, and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with the requirements of the Securities Act, the registrant certifies that it has caused this registration
statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned on May 30, 2008.

Date:                      May 30,  2008 NEOGENOMICS, INC.

By:           /s/ Robert P. Gasparini
Name:                      Robert P. Gasparini
Title:           President and Principal Executive
Officer

By:           /s/ Steven C.
Jones                                                      
Name:                      Steven C. Jones
Title:           Acting Principal Financial Officer
and Director

By:           /s/ Jerome J. Dvonch
Name:                      Jerome J. Dvonch
Title:           Principal Accounting Officer

In accordance with the Securities Act, this registration statement has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatures Title(s) Date

/s/ Michael T. Dent Chairman of the Board May 30, 2008
Michael T. Dent, M.D.

/s/ Robert P. Gasparini President, Principal Executive Officer May 30, 2008
Robert P. Gasparini and Director

/s/ Steven C.
Jones                                           

Acting Principal Financial Officer and
Director

May 30, 2008

Steven C. Jones

/s/ George G. O’Leary Director May 30, 2008
George G. O’Leary

/s/ Peter M. Peterson Director May 30, 2008
Peter M. Peterson

/s/ William J. Robison Director May 30, 2008
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William J. Robison

/s/ Marvin E.
Jaffe                                           

Director May 30, 2008

Marvin E. Jaffe
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